# THE IMPACT OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION ON THE PERFORMANCE OF SMALL, MICRO AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISES IN THE BUFFALO CITY METROPOLITAN MUNICIPALITY

# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MASTERS PROGRAMME IN

## **BUSINESS MANAGEMENT**

ΒY

## CHIMUCHEKA TENDAI

## DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

## FACULTY OF MANAGEMENT AND COMMERCE

# UNIVERSITY OF FORT HARE

# SOUTH AFRICA

November 2012

SUPERVISOR: Dr G. SHAW

**CO-SUPERVISOR: Dr W. SMITH** 

## ABSTRACT

Small Micro and Medium Enterprises (SMMEs) play an important role in contributing to economic development of many countries around the world, including South Africa. Despite the importance of SMMEs an unacceptable and disappointingly high number of these ventures fail during the first few years of operation. It is in light of the importance and challenges faced by SMMEs that the performance of SMMEs is of interest to all countries. This study investigated the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. The objectives of the study were to investigate the role of entrepreneurship education in improving entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of owner/managers of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, to determine the role of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs and to identify strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs. Both primary and secondary data sources were used in this study. A quantitative research design was used in conducting this research. Simple random sampling, a probability sampling technique was used to select a sample of 201 from the sample frame of 420 registered SMMEs. The survey method, by way of a self-administered questionnaire was used to collect primary data. The statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) is the statistical software that was used to analyse data. The Chi-square test, the T-test, Pearson Product Moment Correlation and descriptive statistics were used to analyse data. Validity and reliability of the research instrument and the findings was assured. The results for this study are useful for the development of the SMME sector, which is very important to South Africa for they contribute to the solving of socio-economic challenges. The findings of this research showed that entrepreneurship education has a positive impact on the performance of SMMEs and it plays a critical role in improving entrepreneurial skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers. It was also found that entrepreneurial education is very important for the establishment and survival of SMMEs. Strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs in South Africa were suggested to the government, government agencies, educational institutions, other organisations, and SMME owners and managers.

# DECLARATION

I, the undersigned, **Tendai Chimucheka** student number **200705925**, hereby declare that this dissertation is my own original work and that it has not been submitted, and will not be presented at any other University for a similar or any other degree award.

.....

Signature

.....

Date

## PLAGIARISM DECLARATION

I, **Tendai Chimucheka** student number **200705925**, hereby declare that I am fully aware of the University of Fort Hare's policy on plagiarism and I have taken every precaution to comply with the regulations.

.....

Signature

#### ETHICAL CLEARANCE DECLARATION

I, **Tendai Chimucheka** student number **200705925** hereby declare that I am fully aware of the University of Fort Hare's policy on research ethics and I have taken every precaution to comply with the regulations.

.....

Signature

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My heartfelt gratitude goes to the Almighty God for His protection, guidance and continuous provision for all my needs. I am thankful to my supervisors, Dr G. Shaw and Dr W. Smith for motivation and support. Your leadership qualities are really exceptional. I also want to thank Nyasha Muriva, Tashlyn and Terina Chimucheka for allowing me to complete my studies despite the fact that they needed my support (financially). God remains our provider and He loves us.

I appreciate the efforts and love of the following people:

- Mr. Ben Jordaan for his motivation and support. God bless you!
- The late Rev Watyoka. You left a permanent (positive) mark in my life. I will always remember you.
- Mr. L.D and Mrs. C Watyoka, I cannot compare your love with anything. You are my parents. I am what I am today because of your love and efforts. God bless you.
- Rev A.D Makiwa, the Methodist Church In Zimbabwe, Taurai and Deon Watyoka, uncle C.J Munkaka, Kedius Mphiningo and Rev W. Chombo for all you have done in my life. God will surely bless you.
- My brothers and sisters. Your support is just excellent. Nelia, Dry, Tashlyn, Terina, Kedious and the rest of Chimucheka Mphiningo family. I love you
- Yvonne Chiwutsi for being more than just a friend. You had been a sister to me.
- President of the Republic of Zimbabwe, Comrade R.G Mugabe for funding my undergraduate studies under the prestigious Presidential Scholarship. This was a turning point, from the bush to the globe! God bless you.
- I also acknowledge the support of my Member of Parliament (Mugoni paMhondoro), Mr S.R Nguni.
- Members of Enactus (SIFE), NEH, BLW, FIF and the general Fort Hare Community. You are different and you helped me make a difference in the world. Thank you.
- Chimucheka, Mphiningo, Watyoka and Munkaka families. I love you and am proud to be part these families.
- Nyasha Muriva for her support, love and care. We are blessed!

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to:

- The God of heaven who makes the impossible possible. I managed to do it through Christ who gives me strength. I thank you Lord!
- My late parents, Mr. T. Chimucheka and Mrs. P. Chimucheka (Munkaka). You were the best! I will remember you always. You taught me life and I will live by your instructions.
- The late Rev Watyoka. You changed my life. Thank you.
- Chimucheka (Makombe / Mphiningo), Watyoka and Munkaka families.
- Nyasha Muriva. You were really patient. God has plans for us. I do love you. 29 December 2012 is surely our day!
- My young sisters, Tashy and Terina. You are the best!
- Tatenda, Takawananyasha (Munenyasha), Makatendeka and Mazviita Chimucheka. You are the best and you are very blessed. God's favour is upon you!

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Success factors of entrepreneurs and managers      53
Table 3.2: The functional roles of the entrepreneur
Table 3.3: Entrepreneurial functions
Table 4.1: Key support institutions for SMMEs
Table 5.1: Advantages and limitations of secondary data
Table 5.2:Reliability statistics 107
Table 5.3:Types of validity 116
Table 6.1: Response rate 120
Table 6.2a: Reliability test 122
Table 6.2b: Reliability test 122
Table 6.3: Age of respondents in years 125
Table 6.4: Industry or sector of the business
Table 6.5: Highest educational qualifications    128
Table 6.6: Institutions that offered entrepreneurship education
Table 6.7: Years SMMEs started receiving entrepreneurship education 130
Table 6.8: Impact of entrepreneurship education on performance indicators 132
Table 6.9: Entrepreneurship education improves performance of SMMEs 137
Table 6.10: The extent to which entrepreneurship education can improve the skills      entrepreneurship
Table 6.11: Entrepreneurship education necessary for the successful      establishment of SMMEs
Table 6.12: Should people who start businesses have entrepreneurshipknowledge and skills
Table 6.13: The extent to which entrepreneurship education can affect financialperformance of SMMEs145
Table 6.14: Entrepreneurship education can be a solution to socio economic      challenges      146
Table 6.15: Organisations helping to improve the performance of SMMEs 149

Table 6.16:	Entrepreneurship education and performance of SMMEs	153
Table 6.17:	Chi-square tests for Hypothesis 1	154
Table 6.18:	Strength and direction of entrepreneurship education (EE) and performance	154
Table 6.19:	Impact of entrepreneurship education on skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers	155
Table 6.20:	Chi-square tests for Hypothesis 2	156
Table 6.21:	The Pearson product moment correlation for Hypothesis 2	157
Table 6.22:	Impact of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs	158
Table 6.23:	Chi-square tests for Hypothesis 3	158
Table 6.24:	Correlation between entrepreneurship education and the improvement of entrepreneurship skills	ent 159
Table 6.25:	Chi-square tests for hypothesis 4	160
Table 6.26:	Summary of results	161

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Competitive Forces Model 28
Figure 2.2: Dynamics of growth
Figure 2.3: Glancey, Greig and Pettigrew model of business performance 40
Figure 2.4: Wickham's model of entrepreneurial performance
Figure 4.1: The relevance of Entrepreneurship education
Figure 4.2: Conceptual model of entrepreneurship education
Figure 6.1: Gender of respondents 123
Figure 6.2: Position of respondents in business 124
Figure 6.3:Years in business 126
Figure 6.4: Number of employees 126
Figure 6.5: Received entrepreneurship education 129
Figure 6.6: Lack of entrepreneurship education is mentioned as the prime cause of SMME failure

# LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: QUESTIONNAIRE	195
APPENDIX B: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND HYPOTHESIS	
TESTING	199

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS	Page
ABSTRACT	i
DECLARATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF APPENDICES	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii

## CHAPTER ONE

INTRODU	CTION AND BACKGROUND	1
1.1 INTF	RODUCTION AND BACKGROUND OF THE RESEARCH	2
1.2 ST	TATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	3
1.3 OBJ	ECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH	4
1.3.1	Primary objective	4
1.3.2	Secondary objectives	4
1.4 H`	YPOTHESES	5
1.4.1	Primary Hypothesis	5
1.4.2	Secondary Hypotheses	5
1.5 SI	GNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	6
1.6 LI	TERATURE REVIEW	6
1.6.1	Entrepreneurship Defined	6
1.6.2	Theories of Entrepreneurship	7
1.6.3	Entrepreneurship Education	7
1.6.4	Relationship between variables	8

1.6	6.5	Measures of Performance	)
1.7 F	RESE	ARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	)
1.7	7.1	Research Design and Plan 10	)
1.7	7.2	Population11	I
1.7	7.3 Sa	ampling11	I
1.7	7.4	Data Collection Instrument, Sources and Procedures	3
1.7	7.5	Data Analysis Procedure 14	1
1.8	ETI	HICAL CONSIDERATIONS14	1
1.9	LIN	15 IITATIONS OF THE STUDY	5
1.10	OUT	LINE OF PROPOSED RESEARCH REPORT	3
1.1	10.1 (	Chapter one: Introduction and background to the study	3
1.1	10.2 (	Chapter two: Overview and performance of SMMEs	3
1.1	10.3 ( e	Chapter three: Entrepreneurship, economic growth and entrepreneurship theories	3
1.1	10.4 (	Chapter four: Entrepreneurship education16	3
1.1	10.5 (	Chapter five: Research methodology17	7
1.1	10.6 (	Chapter six: Data analysis and presentation of results	7
1.1	10.7 (	Chapter seven: Conclusions and recommendations	7
1.11	СНА	PTER SUMMARY	7

## **CHAPTER TWO**

OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF SMMES	18
2.1 INTRODUCTION	19
2.2 OVERVIEW OF SMMEs IN SOUTH AFRICA	19
2.3 CONTRIBUTION AND IMPORTANCE OF SMMEs	22
2.3.1 Contribution of SMMEs to sustainable development	24
2.3.2 Contribution of SMMEs to economic growth	24

	2.3.3 Contribution of SMMEs to employment	. 24
	2.3.4 Other contributions of SMMEs	. 25
2	.4 CHALLENGES FACED BY SMMEs IN SOUTH AFRICA	. 26
	2.4.1 Lack of training and education	. 26
	2.4.2 Limited access to financial resources	. 26
	2.4.3 Inaccessibility of markets	. 27
	2.4.4 Lack of support structures	. 30
	2.4.5 Inaccessibility of appropriate technology	. 30
	2.4.6 Lack of access to other resources such as human resources	. 30
2	.5 PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs	. 31
	2.5.1 Growth	. 32
	2.5.2 SMME growth as a defining feature	. 33
	2.5.3 Characteristics of growing firms	. 34
	2.5.4 Success factors of growth	. 35
	2.5.5 Financial measures of performance	. 35
2	.6 GROWTH AS AN OBJECTIVE OF SMMEs	. 36
	2.6.1 The process of growth	. 37
2	.7 MODELS OF ENTREPRENEURIAL PERFORMANCE	. 40
	2.7.1 The Glancey, Greig and Pettigrew model	. 40
	2.6.2 Van Vuuren and Nieman model of Entrepreneurial Performance	. 41
	2.7.3 Wickham's model of entrepreneurial performance	. 42
	2.7.4 Ucbasaran, Westhead and Wright model	. 43
	2.7.5 Darroch and Clover Model	. 44
	2.7.6 Perks and Stuwig Model	. 44
	2.7.7 Summary of models	. 44

2.8 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS OF SMMEs	. 45
2.8.1 Human resources	. 45
2.8.2 Financial resources	. 46
2.8.3 Physical resources	. 46
2.8.4 Information resources	. 46
2.9 CHAPTER SUMMARY	. 47

## CHAPTER THREE

ENTREPRENEURSHIP, ECONOMIC GROWTH AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP	40
HEORIES	48
3.1 INTRODUCTION	49
3.2 ENTREPRENEURSHIP	49
3.2.1 Entrepreneurship defined	50
3.2.2 Entrepreneurs versus small business owners	51
3.2.3 Entrepreneurship and management	52
3.2.4 The role of entrepreneurs	54
3.3 ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND ECONOMIC GROWTH	56
3.4 TURNING SKILLS INTO OPPORTUNITIES	57
3.5 THEORIES OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP	58
3.5.1 Leibenstein's X-efficiency (1978)	58
3.5.2 Hayek and Kirzner on the market process (1948)	59
3.5.3 Knight on the role of uncertainty (1921)	60
3.5.4 Schumpeter on innovation (1934)	61
3.5.5 Shackle's theory	62
3.5.6 Casson's Theory	63
3.6 CHAPTER SUMMARY	64

## CHAPTER FOUR

ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 65
4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.2 ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 67
4.2.1 Entrepreneurship education in South Africa
4.2.2 Entrepreneurship Education defined72
4.2.3 Objectives of Entrepreneurship Education
4.2.4 Target audience of entrepreneurship education
4.3 BENEFITS OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION
4.4 CHALLENGES CONFRONTING ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 79
4.5 ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND THE PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs
4.6 THE ASSESSMENT OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 82
4.7 GOVERNMENT SUPPORT TO ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 83
4.8 INSTITUTIONS THAT SUPPORT ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION 83
4.8.1 Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA) 84
4.8.2 Khula Enterprise Finance85
4.8.3 Commercial banks 86
4.8.4 Universities
4.8.5 Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC)
4.9 THE RELEVANCE OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION
4.9.1 Conceptual model of entrepreneurship education
4.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY

## CHAPTER FIVE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	92
5.1 INTRODUCTION	93

5	5.2 FOCUS OF THE RESEARCH	. 93
	5.2.1 Scope of the research	. 93
5	5.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	. 94
	5.3.1 Research design	. 94
	5.3.2 Selecting a probability sampling technique	. 97
	5.3.3 Determining the sample size	. 98
5	5.4 DATA COLLECTION METHOD	. 99
	5.4.1 Secondary data collection	. 99
	5.4.2 Primary data collection	101
5	5.5 RESEARCH INSTRUMENT	101
5	5.5.1 Questionnaire design	103
	5.5.1.3 Questionnaire: Section B	105
	5.5.1.4 Questionnaire: Section C	105
	5.5.2 Questionnaire distribution	106
5	5.6 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY	106
	5.6.1 Errors	107
	5.6.2 Pilot Test (Pre-test)	108
5	5.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	109
5	5.9 DATA PREPARATION	109
	5.9.1 Data validation	110
	5.9.2 Data editing	110
	5.9.3 Data coding	110
	5.9.4 Data entry	111
	5.9.5 Data cleaning	111
5	5.10 DATA ANALYSIS	112
	5.10.1 The Chi-square test	112
	5.10.2 The T-test	113

	5.10.3 Descriptive statistics	114
	5.10.6 Cross tabulation	115
	5.10.7 Measuring reliability of the findings	115
	5.10.8 Validity of the findings	115
5	5.11 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	116
5	5.12 CHAPTER SUMMARY	117

## **CHAPTER SIX**

RESEARCH RESULTS 118
6.1 INTRODUCTION 119
6.1.1 Research objectives 119
6.1.2 Scope of the study 119
6.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS 119
6.2.1 Preliminary Analysis 120
6.2.2 Statistical Procedures 121
6.3 SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION 122
6.3.1. Gender of respondents 123
6.3.2 Position in business 124
6.3.3 Age of respondents 124
6.3.4 Years in Business 125
6.3.5 Number of employees 126
6.3.6 Industry or sector of the business 127
6.3.7 Highest educational qualification 128
6.3.8 Received entrepreneurship education 128
6.3.9 Institution that offered entrepreneurship education 129
6.3.10 The period in which entrepreneurship education was received 130

6.4 SEC	TION B: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND PERFORMANC OF SMMEs	E 131
6.4.1 lr	mpact of entrepreneurship education on sales growth of SMMEs <sup>2</sup>	132
6.4.2 lr	mpact of entrepreneurship education on gaining market share	133
6.4.3 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on employment growth of SMMEs	133
6.4.4 Ir	mpact of entrepreneurship education on competitiveness of SMMEs	134
6.4.5 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on stock management of SMMEs	134
6.4.6 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on debtors' management of SMMEs	135
6.4.7 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on cash management of SMMEs	135
6.4.8 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on creditors' management of SMMEs	136
6.4.9 lr S	mpact of entrepreneurship education on the survival and success of SMMEs	136
6.4.10	Impact of entrepreneurship education on the size of SMMEs	137
6.4.11	Impact of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs ?	137
6.5 SEC <sup>-</sup>	TION C: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION IMPROVING ENTREPRENEURSHIP SKILLS	138
6.5.1 N	Aarket awareness	139
6.5.2 C	Creativity and innovation	139
6.5.3 F	flexibility	139
6.5.4 R	Risk-taking	140
6.5.5 G	Sathering of resources	140
6.5.6 P	Problem solving	141
6.5.7 T	echnical skills	141
6.5.8 P	Personal skills	141
6.5.9 B	Business skills	142

6.5.10 The need for entrepreneurship education for the successful establishment of SMMEs
6.5.11 The need for entrepreneurship skills and knowledge
6.5.12 Lack of entrepreneurship education is the prime cause of failure of SMMEs
6.6 SECTION D: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND PROFITABILITY OF SMMEs
6.7 SECTION E: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AS A SOLUTION 146
6.7.1 Entrepreneurship education and the failure of SMMEs 147
6.7.2 Entrepreneurship education and unemployment in South Africa 147
6.7.3 Entrepreneurship education and poverty in South Africa 148
6.7.4 Entrepreneurship education and economic growth in South Africa 148
6.8 ORGANISATIONS THAT HELP TO IMPROVE THE PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs IN THE BUFFALO CITY MUNICIPALITY
6.8.1 The extent to which SEDA is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.8.2 The extent to which the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC) is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.8.3 The extent to which Khula is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.8.4 The extent to which the government is assisting to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.8.5 The extent to which universities are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.8.6 The extent to which private companies are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs
6.9 TESTING HYPOTHESIS 152
6.9.1 Summary of hypotheses testing 161
6.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY 162

## **CHAPTER SEVEN**

C	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	163
	7.1 INTRODUCTION	164
	7.2 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE STUDY	164
	7.3 ACHIEVEMENT OF OBJECTIVES	167
	7.4 OTHER FINDINGS OF THIS STUDY	168
	7.5 THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS	169
	7.6 RECOMMENDATIONS	170
	7.6.1 Government agencies	170
	7.6.2 Government	170
	7.6.2 SMME owners and managers	171
	7.6.3 Institutions of higher learning	171
	7.6.4 Banks	172
	7.6.5 Other private companies	172
	7.7 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	172
	7.8 CONCUSION	173
	7.9 AREAS OF FURTHER RESEARCH	174
	7.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY	174

BIBLIOGRAPHY1	75
---------------	----

# CHAPTER ONE

# INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

#### **1.1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND OF THE RESEARCH**

"Although entrepreneurship education ranks high on policy agendas of several countries, little research is available to assess its impact" (Von Graevenitz, Harhoff & Weber, 2010:90).

According to Herrington, Kew and Kew (2009:13), Small, Micro and Medium Enterprises (SMMEs) and entrepreneurship have in recent years become a key focus of research. The SMME sector is globally regarded as the driving force in economic growth and job creation. These businesses play a major role in creating employment opportunities and wealth in economies. Central to the growth of an economy is the development of a lively SMME sector which is the solution to many societal challenges, including unemployment (Entrepreneur SA, 2005:3).

SMMEs form the backbone of South Africa's economy, not just in terms of their contribution to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) estimated at 39% in 2009, but also in terms of employment creation. Statistics of the year 2009 show that 74% of economically active South Africans are employed by SMMEs.

As a result of the above implications, the government of South Africa realises the importance of developing entrepreneurship and consequently, SMMEs (O'Neill & Viljoen, 2001:38). The argument of the South African government is that SMMEs offer an important vehicle to address the challenges of job creation, economic growth and equitable distribution of wealth. Unfortunately, the official estimated rate of unemployment in South Africa is 25.2% (Statistics South Africa, 2010). Fin mark Trust (2006) purports that one of the best ways to address unemployment is to improve the employment creation potential of small businesses and to promote the development of the SMME sector.

Von Broembsen, Wood and Herrington (2005:20) point out that despite the importance of SMMEs, 75% of SMMEs in South Africa fail within the first two years of operation. Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731) mention lack of education and training as one of the main reasons for the lack of entrepreneurial creation and the high failure rate of new ventures. Herrington and Wood (2003:1) maintain that it is the lack of education and training that has reduced management capacity in new firms in South Africa. Lack of financial support is the second most reported contributor to

low new firm creation and failure, after lack of education and training (Fatoki & Garwe, 2010:731).

EntreNews (2004:1) confirms that the main challenge facing different countries including South Africa, is how to motivate individuals to become entrepreneurs and how to equip them with the right skills to turn opportunities into successful ventures. Governments have introduced a range of policies to encourage educational institutions and private sector training providers to develop entrepreneurial education and training programmes. Such programmes do not only aim to develop entrepreneurial behaviours but also attempt to raise awareness of enterprise and entrepreneurship as a potential way of life and a future career (EntreNews, 2004:1).

The existing literature on entrepreneurship education reveals (among other research directions) the determinants of entrepreneurship, in order to focus entrepreneurship education and training programmes on what really matters (Dodescu and Badulescu, 2010:471). To the knowledge of the researcher, no South African study has investigated the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. It is thus imperative that this aspect implies relevant research, especially into the problems presented by this issue.

#### 1.2 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

In South Africa an unacceptable and disappointingly high number of SMMEs fail during the first few years of operation (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:35), especially due to challenges faced by SMMEs. According to Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731), lack of education is one of the primary reasons for the low level of entrepreneurial activities and the high failure rate of SMMEs.

Considering the importance of SMMEs to the national economy and the high failure rate of SMMEs, it is critical to look at how challenges facing entrepreneurs and SMMEs in order to overcome mentioned challenges. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:35) state that the largest percentage of SMMEs fails during the first two years of their existence due to cash flow problems that arise and as a result they do not manage to grow or expand.

Unemployment and poverty are economic challenges that occur in the Eastern Cape Province and South Africa at large and SMMEs could play a major role in curbing these problems. In order to achieve such goals, SMMEs need to be supported and they also should be able to access the resources necessary for survival and growth. Owners and managers of SMMEs also need to be equipped with the right skills and knowledge to be able to start businesses that survive. When above information is taken into consideration, the research at hand seeks to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

Von Graevenitz, *et al.*, (2010:90) note that entrepreneurship education is ranked high on policy agendas of several countries, but little research is available to assess its impact. While entrepreneurship education has been introduced and promoted in several countries and at many institutions of tertiary education, at this stage little is known about the impact of this entrepreneurship education (Von Graevenitz *et al.*, 2010:103). Von Graevenitz *et al.*, (2010:91), reiterate on the fact that the impact emanating from entrepreneurship education is still poorly understood. Von Graevenitz *et al.*, (2010:92) further state that while some literature has generated interesting insights, the research on entrepreneurship education still has huge gaps. This study intends to assist in closing part of this gap.

#### **1.3 OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH**

The objectives of the study are divided into primary and secondary objectives.

#### 1.3.1 Primary objective

• To investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

#### 1.3.2 Secondary objectives

 Investigate the role of entrepreneurship education in improving entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of owner/managers of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

- Determine the role of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs.
- Identify strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs.

#### 1.4 HYPOTHESES

Hypotheses of the study are divided into primary and secondary hypotheses in the sections that follow.

#### 1.4.1 Primary Hypothesis

H<sub>0</sub>: Entrepreneurship education has no impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

H<sub>1</sub>: Entrepreneurship education has an impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

#### 1.4.2 Secondary Hypotheses

H<sub>0</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not improve entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers.

H<sub>2</sub>: Entrepreneurship education improves entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers.

H<sub>0</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not play any role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

H<sub>3</sub>: Entrepreneurship education plays a role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

H<sub>0</sub>: There is no relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

 $H_4$ : There is a relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

#### 1.5 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY

Isaacs, Visser, Friedrich and Brijal, (2007:613) are of the opinion that better entrepreneurship education can contribute significantly to job creation and eventually to poverty alleviation. This research intends to help in solving socioeconomic challenges like unemployment and poverty that South Africans face.

Morh, Fourie and Associates, (2009:25) report that a lively debate has taken place on the question of whether entrepreneurial talent comes naturally or whether it can be obtained through education. The findings of this study should contribute to the literature on this debate.

This research is thus important for the development of the SMME sector in South Africa, particularly in the Eastern Cape Province. The findings can be used by the government, policy makers and government agencies to identify priority areas and to improve current entrepreneurship education programmes. Research results will also be useful to educational and training institutions. Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education is also important to SMME owners and managers.

#### 1.6 LITERATURE REVIEW

This section focuses on literature on issues concerning entrepreneurship, entrepreneurship education and relationships between variables.

#### 1.6.1 Entrepreneurship Defined

Entrepreneurship is the process of initiating, creating and expanding the enterprise, also of building an entrepreneurial team, which involves gathering other resources to exploit an opportunity in the market place profitably (Van Aardt, Van Aardt, Bezuidenhout & Mumba, 2008:5). It is entrepreneurship that can bring other production factors into motion. Entrepreneurship has long been considered a significant factor for socio-economic growth and development because it creates job opportunities, offers customer goods and services, and generally increases national prosperity and competitiveness (Karimi, Chizari, Biemans & Mulder, 2010:35).

#### 1.6.2 Theories of Entrepreneurship

There are different views on entrepreneurship and on what an entrepreneur is. Economists are of the view that entrepreneurs combine different resources in specific combinations to produce commodities at a profit (Du Toit, Erasmus & Strydom, 2009:41). The focus of economists is on what entrepreneurs do, and have reached a conclusion that entrepreneurs are motivated primarily by the profit motive. Behaviourists describe entrepreneurs according to their characteristics, for example their desire to achieve, their inclination towards risk taking as well as their creativity. Marxists view entrepreneurs as exploiters. Du Toit, Erasmus and Strydom (2009:41) mention that corporate managers perceive entrepreneurs as small operators who lack the potential to manage large ventures. Proponents of a market economy see entrepreneurs as the economic force responsible for economic growth (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:41).

To explain the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth (see section 3.5), the researcher used economic theories of entrepreneurship that were mentioned by Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:5-8) and explained by Casson (1982:364-380). The theories include Leibenstein's X-efficiency theory, Hayek and Kirzner theory on the market process, the role of uncertainty by Knight and Schumpeter's theory on innovation.

Entrepreneurs and other SMME operators need to be equipped with entrepreneurship knowledge and skills. This can be done through entrepreneurship education.

#### 1.6.3 Entrepreneurship Education

The objective of Entrepreneurship education as presented by the European Union (2002) include raising peoples' awareness of self employment as a career opportunity, promoting the development of personal qualities that are relevant to entrepreneurship such as creativity, risk taking, and responsibility, and providing the technical and business skills that are needed in order to start a venture (Isaacs *et al.*, 2007:616).

According to Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:614), entrepreneurship education is defined as the purposeful intervention by an instructor in the life of a learner, to impart entrepreneurial qualities and skills to enable the learner to survive in the business world. Alberti, Sciascia and Poli (2004:5) define entrepreneurship education as the structured and formal transmission of entrepreneurial competencies, which in other words, refers to the skills, concepts and mental awareness used by individuals during the process of starting and developing their growth oriented ventures. Alberti *et al.*, (2004:16) suggest that some output measures for entrepreneurship education that can be examined, include changes in entrepreneurial values, changes in people's orientation towards entrepreneurial careers as well as changes in personal assessment of entrepreneurial knowledge and skills.

Isaacs et al., (2007:614) admit that a general agreement exists among researchers in the field of entrepreneurship that more emphasis should be placed on entrepreneurship education as opposed to business education. Business education has a more limited coverage than entrepreneurship education, which includes other topics like innovation and risk taking (Isaacs et al., 2007:614). The Consortium of Entrepreneurship Education (2004:6) point out that entrepreneurship education is a lifelong learning process and consists of different stages. The stages include basics, competency awareness, creative applications, start up and growth. The following section discusses the relationship between variables.

#### 1.6.4 Relationship between variables

Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:12) argue that successful entrepreneurship is linked to education. Tertiary education provides valuable additional entrepreneurial capacity, especially for successful entrepreneurs (Driver, Wood, Segal & Herrington, 2001:57). Higher levels of education are significantly associated with higher levels of entrepreneurial activity (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:31).

Charney and Libecup (2000) put forward that a there is a positive association between education and the performance of SMMEs can be found. Timmons and Spinelli (2007) are of the view that entrepreneurship can be learnt. Graevenitz *et* 

*al.*, (2010:91) mentions Peterman and Kennedy (2003) and Fayolle, Gailly and lassas-Clerc (2006) as some of the researchers who have found a positive impact of entrepreneurship education programmes on the start up as well as the performance of SMMEs.

Fatoki and Odeyemi (2010:2768) suggest that for SMMEs to get the required funding from trade creditors, they must ensure that they have the highest education possible as well as related experience which can improve their managerial competency.

Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:613) suggest that better entrepreneurship education could make a significant contribution to job creation and ultimately poverty alleviation. They also purport that a shortage of entrepreneurs can be a major factor limiting economic development in South Africa. The key to success of establishing a culture of entrepreneurship in any nation is education, which depends on all the stakeholders, including the government, educators and learners themselves (Isaacs *et al.*, 2007:614). Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:617) points out that it is commonly believed that entrepreneurship education is an absolute imperative that would make a positive contribution to improving the entrepreneurial orientation of people.

Nieman (2001:2) states that entrepreneurship education should be directed to prepare individuals who can be change agents in the next decade. Segal, Borgia, and Schoenfeld, (2005) shows that the promotion of entrepreneurship in higher education institutions is more likely to increase entrepreneurial self-efficacy and self- employment. It is important to discuss how firm performance can be measured. Measures of performance are discussed below.

#### 1.6.5 Measures of Performance

Wiklund (1999) in Barreira (2004:26) argues that there is no consensus on appropriate measures of SMMEs performance, and prior research focused on variables for which information was easy to gather. Barreira, (2004:26) accepts that it is possible to regard growth and financial performance as different measures of performance, each revealing unique and important information. Financial performance and growth together provide a richer description of the

actual performance of an enterprise than each does individually (Barreira, 2004:27).

The issues discussed above imply that a certain methodology should be followed in order to look into the problems stated.

#### **1.7 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY**

The research design and methodology is discussed below.

#### 1.7.1 Research Design and Plan

Research design is a preliminary plan for conducting research (Cant, Gerber-Nel, Nel & Kotze, 2005:46). According to Cooper and Schindler (2006:192), research design is the plan and structure of investigation so that can be followed to obtain answers to research questions. Cooper and Schindler (2006:71) point out that a research design provides the 'glue' that holds a research project together. It includes an outline of what the investigator will do from writing hypotheses and their operational implications to the final analysis of data. It is research design that aids the researcher in the allocation of resources by posing crucial choices in methodology.

There are three basic types of research designs that are used in conducting primary research namely; qualitative, quantitative and a combination of the two which is referred to as triangulation. This study makes use of the quantitative method due to the reasons stated in the next section.

#### • Quantitative research

This study used quantitative research design only. Quantitative research design was described by Ghauri and Gronhaug (2005:120) as studies whose findings are mainly the product of statistical summary and analysis.

According to Cooper and Schindler (2006:198), quantitative research involves the systematic and scientific collection of primary data to investigate quantitative properties and phenomena and their relationship with the intention of projecting the results to a wider population. The objective of such research is to generalise

about a specific population based on the results of a representative sample of that population. Quantitative research places a heavy emphasis on the use of structured questionnaires (Hair, Wolfinbarger, Ortinau & Bush, 2008:78). Quantitative research methods deal with problems that are specific and well defined. This therefore means the researcher needs to have precise information needs such as testing the relationships of variables. In this study, the researcher tested the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the performance of SMMEs.

#### 1.7.2 Population

Proctor (2000:88) defined population as the total group of people or elements about which information is needed. SMMEs in King Williams Town and East London were the target population of this research. The database (with 420 SMMEs) was available at Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC) which made it easy for the researcher to conduct the study in this area. The population is composed of SMMEs in the trading, construction, manufacturing and service industries. It is also because the research is conducted on a limited budget that the researcher did not focus on all SMMEs in the Eastern Cape Province. The researcher chose to focus on SMMEs in East London and King Williams Town because of their close proximity to the University of Fort Hare.

#### 1.7.3 Sampling

A sample is a representation of the elements of the target population (Zikmund & Babin, 2010:695). Cooper and Schindler (2003:52) mention that the basic idea of sampling, is that by selecting the elements in a population, conclusions can be drawn about the entire population. Bryman and Bell (2003:199) report that there are two major types of sampling design. These are probability and non-probability sampling. This study used the probability sampling method, which is discussed below.

#### 1.7.3.1 Probability sampling method

Probability sampling is a controlled procedure that assures that each population element is given a known non-zero chance of selection (Bryman & Bell, 2003:199).

According to Proctor (2000:91), probability sampling means that the elements being included in the research have a known chance of being selected. A probability sample allows a sampling error to be estimated (Proctor, 2000:91). A sampling error can be defined as the difference between the sample value and the true value of the population being surveyed. Probability samples are the only kind of samples from which the researcher can statistically estimate the likely amount of sampling error (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:111).

The probability sampling method allows the researcher to make inferences from information about a random sample to the population from which it is selected (Bryman & Bell, 2003:199) and this imply that the findings can be generalised to the whole population. With a probability sampling method, there is confidence that the sample is representative of the whole population. This is not the same in cases where the non-probability sampling method is used. If non-probability sampling method is used, there is a possibility of bias in selection of population elements due to human judgement. This kind of bias was eliminated through the use of probability sampling.

There are four basic types of probability sampling techniques. These are systematic sampling, stratified sampling, cluster sampling and simple random sampling (Cooper & Schindler, 2003:52). This study made use of the simple random sampling technique which is given attention to below.

#### 1.7.3.2 Simple random sampling

The researcher used the simple random sampling technique which is a probability sampling technique in which each element has a known and equal chance of selection. Under the simple random sampling method, the probability of selection will be equal to the sample size divided by the population size (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:414). According to Cooper and Schindler (2006:414), simple random sampling is the purest form of probability sampling. Simple random sampling is simple to apply, in that a random sample is chosen from a population without any order. Furthermore, data analysis is reasonably easy and has a sound mathematical basis. Since this is a quantitative study, simple random sampling was most appropriate.

#### 1.7.3.3 Sample size

To determine the sample size the researcher used the Raosoft sample size calculator. The Raosoft sample size calculator is statistical software that enables researchers to determine the sample size given the margin of error, confidence level, response distribution and population size. In calculating the researcher used 95% confidence level, a response distribution of 50% and a margin of error of 5%. The population size as obtained from ECDC is 420 SMMEs. The Raosoft sample size calculator gave a recommended sample size of 201 respondents.

#### 1.7.4 Data Collection Instrument, Sources and Procedures

Both primary data and secondary data were used in conducting this research. Secondary data is information gathered for purposes other than the completion of a particular research project. Textbooks, organisational websites and peer reviewed journal articles are secondary sources of data that were mostly be used to gather information. On the other hand, primary research involves collecting data for a specific problem at hand (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:34). Primary data is data collected for the very first time while secondary data is that which already exists. Gerber-Nel, Nel and Kotze (2005:101) identified three primary data collection methods namely observation, experiment and survey. Although the survey is not the only methodology of quantitative research, Cooper and Schindler (2006:198) mention that it is the one that dominates. This study used the survey method to collect primary data from respondents.

#### 1.7.4.1 Survey method

Cant, Gerber-Nel, Nel and Kotze (2005:89) reveal that surveys are used to collect primary data from respondents *via* mail, telephone or in person. Survey research allowed the researcher to interact with respondents to obtain facts, opinions and even their attitudes.

The researcher used the survey method by way of a self-administered questionnaire. These are research questionnaires personally delivered to the respondent but are completed by the respondent with no interviewer involvement (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:717). The researcher chose to use self-administered

questionnaires because they ensure anonymity and privacy of respondents thereby encouraging honest responses. They also proved to have a higher response rate than other data gathering techniques like mail surveys, and they are less expensive than other methods where the researcher must be with respondents at all times like personal interviews (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:256). Both open-ended and closed-ended questions were used in this research. Dichotomous questions, multiple choice and scaled questions were used to make it easy for respondents to complete the questionnaires. For purposes of validity and reliability, the questionnaire was pre-tested before it was used for the actual research.

#### 1.7.5 Data Analysis Procedure

Data was validated, edited, coded, entered and cleaned before analysis was done. According to Cant *et al.*, (2005:150), the above mentioned steps are very crucial before data is analysed. This study used Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) as the statistical software for data analysis. SPSS is software for performing statistical procedures in the social sciences field. (Coakes, 2005:65).

Data analysis was done using chi-square, Pearson product moment correlation, non-parametric chi-squared one-variable test and descriptive statistics. The Chisquare test for independence was used to test for association while cross tabulation was used to determine the distribution of respondents. Further data analysis for this study included descriptive statistics which makes use of tables, graphs and percentages.

#### 1.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethics can be defined as the body of moral principles or values governing or distinctive of a particular organisation (Cant, 2008:11). The morals and principles state rules, norms, and acceptable and unacceptable behaviour governing individuals in a particular society. Ethics deal with the development of moral standards that can be applied to situations in which there can be actual or potential harm to an individual or a group. They are of particular concern to research practitioners because their profession is based on consumer or public cooperation (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:19).

Researchers have some general obligations to people who provide data in research studies. The parties involved in the research have obligations to maintain professionalism and to pertain to commonly accepted standards of right and wrong behaviour. Ignorance of ethical considerations and professionalism normally reduces the level of cooperation of respondents therefore affecting the quality of the research.

According to Tustin, Ligthelm, Martins and Van Wyk (2005:46), their obligations include the obligation not to harm, force or deceive participants. Participants should be willing and need to be informed. The data that respondents provide must be held in utmost confidentiality.

Ethics were crucial for the successful accomplishment of this research work. The researcher performed his duties observing his obligations as a researcher. Cant *et al.*, (2005: 11) stated the general ethical obligations which the researcher abide to. This include not deceiving participants, avoiding misidentification of the researcher, communicating the purpose of the research to the respondents and seeking consent of the respondents.

This helped to reduce research errors that could have risen because other people who were supposed to be part of the research would have refused to participate. Offending questions were not asked in the questionnaire.

#### 1.9 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

This study was limited to SMMEs registered in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Only SMMEs registered with ECDC participated in this research. There was also a literacy problem because some SMME owners and managers were not able to read and write. Some (5.47%) respondents did not complete and return the questionnaires while others (6.47%) did not complete questionnaires but they returned them. These questionnaires are included in the total for sample loss shown in table 6.1. Since this study was limited to one municipality, it is difficult to generalise the findings to the whole of South Africa.

#### **1.10 OUTLINE OF PROPOSED RESEARCH REPORT**

The report for this study is outlined in the following chapters:

#### 1.10.1 Chapter one: Introduction and background to the study

Chapter one is based on the background to the problem as well as the objectives, hypothesis and the significance of the study. It provides an introductory perspective of the study.

#### 1.10.2 Chapter two: Overview and performance of SMMEs

This chapter focuses on the overview of SMMEs. SMMEs are analysed in terms of their challenges as well as contribution and their importance to the economy of South Africa. The focus is on the literature surrounding performance of SMMEs and how SMME performance can be measured. Different models of entrepreneurial performance are also discussed.

# 1.10.3 Chapter three: Entrepreneurship, economic growth and entrepreneurship theories

This chapter examines the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth. Economic theories of entrepreneurship are discussed. Different perspectives to entrepreneurship are also given attention to.

#### 1.10.4 Chapter four: Entrepreneurship education

This chapter consists of entrepreneurship education. The benefits, objectives, measures and the challenges to entrepreneurship education are discussed. Different target audiences of entrepreneurship education and the relevance of entrepreneurship education is also covered in this chapter. Institutions that support SMMEs and entrepreneurship education in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa are discussed. The impact of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs and the role of government in improving SMME performance are also discussed.

#### 1.10.5 Chapter five: Research methodology

This chapter concentrates on the methodology used in conducting the empirical research. It examines the research design, the type of research used, the population, the sample design as well as the data collection and analysis methods.

#### 1.10.6 Chapter six: Data analysis and presentation of results

This chapter deals with the analysis and interpretation of the results. The chapter tabulates the results from the analysis and exploration of data.

#### 1.10.7 Chapter seven: Conclusions and recommendations

This chapter revisits the research problem, the objectives and the hypotheses of the research. The chapter also discusses the conclusions and recommendations of the study. In addition, the limitations of the research are highlighted and areas for further research are suggested.

#### **1.11 CHAPTER SUMMARY**

This chapter gave an insight on the importance of the SMME sector to economic growth, employment creation and social stability of South Africa. The chapter also highlighted the role that entrepreneurship education can play to curb some of the socio-economic challenges faced by South Africans today. The objectives, problem statement, ethical considerations and outline of the research report are some of the key elements covered in this introductory chapter. The chapter that follows (Chapter 2) covers the overview and performance of SMMEs.

**CHAPTER TWO** 

# **OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF SMMES IN**

# SOUTH AFRICA
## 2.1 INTRODUCTION

SMMEs in South Africa continue to contribute positively to the economy of the nation. According to South Africa Info (2005), SMMEs in South Africa have come to play an increasingly important role in the South African economy and development, especially now that large enterprises have restructured and downsized. The government has therefore targeted the SMME sector as an economic empowerment vehicle for previously disadvantaged people.

This chapter gives an overview of SMMEs in South Africa, together with their contribution and importance. SMMEs are defined in the South African context and their performance is also looked at. The challenges faced by SMMEs and resource needs of SMMEs are also discussed.

## 2.2 OVERVIEW OF SMMEs IN SOUTH AFRICA

Post apartheid South Africa faces socio-economic problems that need urgent attention, similar to those in other developing countries. The challenges include a very high unemployment rate, skills shortages, high illiteracy rate, an ever escalating crime rate and rural poverty. Chalera (2007:9) observes that these challenges are more prevalent in rural communities. SMMEs should be empowered to be able to help solve some of these challenges in South Africa.

South African SMMEs are diversified and operate in different industries, including retailing, wholesaling, tourism, mining, farming, manufacturing, construction and service. Similar to SMMEs in other developing countries, SMMEs in South Africa also face challenges that affect their growth and survival.

When the substantial contribution of SMMEs is considered in South Africa, it is imperative that they should receive much attention. The South African government however does acknowledge the importance of a strong and vibrant SMME sector. This is demonstrated in its commitment to the promotion and the support for SMMEs that aim at increasing the number of new enterprises and creating an enabling environment to ensure their survival and growth. The government hopes to achieve such goals through the National Small Business Act of 1996.

The National Small Business Act 102 of 1996 provides the regulatory and support framework for SMMEs. This defines an SMME as a separate and distinct business entity, including cooperative enterprises and non-governmental organisations, managed by one owner or more, which includes its branches or subsidiaries, if any, and is predominantly carried out in any sector or subsector of the economy.

The guidelines appearing in the National Small Business Act 102 of 1996 ascertain that SMMEs can be defined in both qualitative and quantitative terms. Nieman and Pretorius (2004:3) mention the qualitative criteria, which also relate to the ownership structure that can be used to define SMMEs. The mentioned qualitative criteria stipulate that SMMEs should be separate and distinct business entities, cannot be part of a group of companies, must include subsidiaries and branches when determining its size, should be managed by its owners, and can be a natural person in the form of a sole trader or partnership. It can also be a legal person such as a close corporation or a company.

The Act also classifies business ventures into very small, micro, medium and small sizes using quantitative criteria (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:4). Total full-time paid employees, total annual turnover and the gross asset value are the quantitative criteria that are set in terms of the standard classification by industry in the Act.

Cronje *et al.*, (2001:492) identified the characteristics observable among SMMEs. The characteristics are that:

- SMMEs are generally more labour intensive than larger businesses;
- on average, SMMEs generate more job opportunities per unit of invested capital;
- they are an instrument for utilising the talents, energy and entrepreneurship of individuals who cannot reach their full potential in larger organisations;
- SMMEs often flourish by rendering services to a small or restricted market which larger businesses do not find attractive;
- they are also breeding grounds for entrepreneurial talent and the testing ground for new industries;
- SMMEs contribute to the competitiveness of the economy; and

 SMMEs create social stability, cause less damage to the physical environment than large factories, stimulate personal savings, increase prosperity in rural areas and enhance the population's general level of economic participation.

SMMEs are also characterised by their small size. In pricing, they are usually followers, whilst ingenuity, creativity and devotion are typical characteristics of SMMEs (Cronje *et al.*, 2001:492). Because of their size, SMMEs are most suited for rural communities where the markets are too small to justify the existence of large businesses (Dzansi, 2004: 33).

Agupusi (2007:1) reports that since 1994, South Africa has been promoting small business as an engine for economic growth and socio-economic integration. More recently, due to the growth of unemployment, there has been a renewed focus on the promotion of SMMEs. This is from both the government and the private sector. They are not simply focusing on SMMEs as an engine for growth, but more importantly as the key to job creation and poverty reduction, especially among historically disadvantaged groups.

Chalera (2007:1) states that the South African government established institutions and programmes designed to improve the access of the SMME sector to critical resources. The major resources include finance, infrastructure, training and counselling, information, markets and technology.

A call for efforts to strengthen the SMMEs' associations and chambers as well as efforts to improve the legislative and regulatory environment for the small, medium and micro business sector is being heard.

SMMEs are expected to function as a driving force, both in South Africa's social and economic transition. This will however be possible if they are supported by the supply side measures, targeting enterprise's constraints.

Kesper (2000) suggests that only the few, more dynamic SMMEs in South Africa show a potential to contribute to rapid employment creation, while survivalist activities constitute the vast majority of the South African SMME economy. He also argued that South African SMMEs grow in numbers, not in size.

## 2.3 CONTRIBUTION AND IMPORTANCE OF SMMEs

It can be argued that most entrepreneurial activity takes place in SMMEs. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:3), confirm that SMMEs form 97% of all businesses in South Africa, generating 35% of the Gross Domestic Product.

Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:276) are of the view that SMME development was identified by the new South African government as a priority in creating jobs to solve the high unemployment rate in the country. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:276) makes it clear that the promotion of entrepreneurship and small business development was seen by the new South African government in 1994 as a way of addressing the following generic developmental goals in the country, which are:

## • Job or employment creation

With the formal sector to absorb the high and growing number of job seekers in the country, there has been an increased attention paid to entrepreneurship, mainly because of the potential that it possesses in contributing to significant economic growth and employment creation.

## • Poverty alleviation

Poverty occurs throughout the whole world. It is only the level of poverty that varies. Research indicates that poverty is significantly higher in developing countries than in developed countries. The government of South Africa HAS identified SMMEs as a key to poverty alleviation. SMMEs combine the resources of societies efficiently to produce goods and services for the society in which they operate (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:49).

## • Equity and participation

The South African government's strategy has been focusing primarily on the development of SMMEs in previously disadvantaged communities. Previously disadvantaged communities have been described as those sections of the

population that had been disadvantaged by apartheid and segregationist development policies before 1994. It is SMMEs that commonly provide economic and employment opportunities to the general members of the community. Income inequality between population groups in South Africa is still believed to be high and SMMEs are expected to help reduce this problem.

## • Social stability

The government recognises the importance of developing a strong SMME sector. It is internationally accepted and acknowledged that the SMME sector is an essential factor in promoting and achieving economic growth and development, as well as in the widespread creation of wealth and employment (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:276).

## • Economic growth and development

SMMEs are often the vehicle by which the people who earn the lowest income in the South African society gain access to economic opportunities. Central to the growth of the economy, is the development of a vibrant SMME sector, which development experts agree, is the key to resolving many societal challenges, including job creation (Entrepreneur SA, 2005:3).

Estimates in the year 2009 show that SMMEs contribute more than 35% of South Africa's Gross Domestic Product and employ close to three quarters of the nation's employed population. Comparative studies of large and small businesses carried out in other countries, confirm that SMMEs generally employ more labour per unit of capital, and require less capital per unit of output, than large businesses (Luiz, 2002:16).

Antonites (2003:9) points out that the SMME sector provides employment, pays taxes and can be included in the government statistics and in labour market information analyses. SMMEs also act as training grounds by offering apprenticeships for the youth.

SMMEs can also contribute largely to the sustainable development of South Africa in areas of economic growth, employment generation, poverty alleviation and

community development. They also enable people to meet their basic needs and thus survive. Through job creation, SMMEs are able to help raise the standard of living for South African citizens.

## 2.3.1 Contribution of SMMEs to sustainable development

The World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2004) advises that improving the performance of SMMEs is one of the key drivers of sustainable development through contribution to economic growth, poverty alleviation, employment generation, crime reduction and community development.

## 2.3.2 Contribution of SMMEs to economic growth

The World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2004) points out that the key to poverty alleviation is economic growth that is inclusive and reaches the majority of the people. Wealth creation, one of the core competencies of the private sector, plays a vital role in the poverty alleviation process. Thus, it should be attempted to improve the performance and sustainability of local entrepreneurs and SMMEs because they play a major role in helping to achieve sustainable growth. According to the National Small Business Act (2003), SMMEs are expected to be an important vehicle to address the challenges of job creation, sustainable economic growth, equitable distribution of income and the overall stimulation of economic development. Small firms are also a crucial source of innovation in the development of new products, services and technologies. The Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative South Africa (ASGISA) indicates that a growth rate of 5% on the average between 2004 and 2014 is needed to achieve the social objective of the government and it is expected that SMMEs could contribute significantly to the expected growth rate.

## 2.3.3 Contribution of SMMEs to employment

Du Toit *et al.*, (2009:50) noted that SMMEs are able to provide jobs needed by the growing population. They argued that SMMEs create jobs whereas large corporations are shedding off or retrenching.

Kesper, (2001:172) agrees that SMMEs are seen as a vehicle to address the problem of high unemployment levels in South Africa, since they have a high

labour absorptive capacity. It is known that SMMEs employ a significant number of South Africans and that they contribute 43% of the total value of salaries and wages paid in South Africa (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:3). According to Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:3), SMMEs employ 55% of all formal private sector employees in South Africa. Year 2009 estimates show that a staggering 74% of South Africans active in the economy are employed in SMMEs (The Business Place, 2009:1). This shows that SMMEs play a major role in reducing the problem of high unemployment rates that is faced in many of the African countries.

## 2.3.4 Other contributions of SMMEs

Besides the already mentioned issues of job creation, economic growth and development, and an increase in GDP, other potential benefits directly accruing to local governments because of the activities of the SMME sector, include the empowerment of local citizens, competition among the developing businesses in tandem with the positive benefits of quality by the suppliers as well as a broader base and choice for the consumer. It also includes a reduction in crime rates, since instead of being idle, citizens are productively engaged (Yanta, 2001:44).

## • Competition

SMMEs compete against large producers and improve the nature of the competitive environment leading to quality products and services in the economy (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:50). They also compete against one another which is of benefit to customers in terms of quality and price.

## • Aiding big firms

Some functions can be performed more efficiently and effectively by SMMEs than larger firms. This therefore means that SMMEs can contribute to the success of large firms. It is thus possible that SMMEs can perform the distribution and supply function for large firms (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:50). SMMEs, such as wholesale and retail outlets, perform a valuable service for big firms by distributing its products to customers. They can also function as suppliers to, and sub-contractors for large firms. Where large firms agree to a long term relationship with SMMEs, the latter

can supply a specified level of quality goods, offer lower prices, thereby generating cost-saving ideas.

## 2.4 CHALLENGES FACED BY SMMEs IN SOUTH AFRICA

Although the SMME sector in South Africa has received much attention from the government, they still face challenges. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:35) identified some challenges that are faced by SMMEs in South Africa. The challenges include lack of training and education, limited access to financial resources, inaccessibility to markets, lack of support structures, inaccessibility to appropriate technology and lack of access to other resources like human resources. The challenges are discussed in the sections that follow.

## 2.4.1 Lack of training and education

In South Africa, lack of education is seen as one of the most significant barriers to entrepreneurial activity (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:31). They also noted that education is positively related to entrepreneurial activity.

Lack of management skills by SMME owners and managers can be attributed to lack of education and training. Education and training help develop management competencies which are necessary for the success of the enterprise. Hellriegel, Jackson, Slocum, Staude, Amos, Klopper, Louw and Oosthuizen (2008:98), defines managerial competencies as sets of knowledge, skills, behaviours and attitudes that can contribute to personal effectiveness. Management competencies are very crucial for the survival and also for the growth of a business venture. Herrington and Wood (2003) point out that in South Africa, it is lack of education and training that has reduced management capacity in SMMEs. Lack of education and training is one of the reasons why there is a very high failure rate of SMMEs (especially the newly established) and low level of entrepreneurial creation.

## 2.4.2 Limited access to financial resources

All businesses require finances to start trading and also to fund growth. Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731) provide evidence that lack of financial resources is the second most reported contributor to failure of SMMEs, after education and training in South Africa. Foxcroft, Wood, Kew, Herrington and Segal, (2002), shows that 75%

of applications for bank loans by SMMEs are often rejected in South Africa. FinMark (2006) found that only 2% of new SMMEs in South Africa are able to access finances. SMMEs often find it difficult to access bank finances, mainly because they lack collateral security, the required bank deposit or a credit record. Poor presentation of business plans is also another reason for failure to access bank finances by SMMEs in South Africa.

#### 2.4.3 Inaccessibility of markets

In order to survive and to achieve success, SMME owners and managers need to understand the dynamics of competition in their industry and develop skills and also competencies that will give them a competitive advantage. To understand the market dynamics, operators of SMMEs need to scan and interpret environmental changes, mainly the extent of current and future competition. This will help them to maintain their firm's viability, as well as performance.

The extent of competition and potential competition affects the market potential and growth opportunities of SMMEs. Although the intensity of competition among firms varies widely across industries (David, 2007:86). Failure of some SMMEs to access markets, can be attributed to industry competition, which is determined by what was explained by Michael Porter as the five competitive forces (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:101).

According to Porter, the nature of competitiveness in a given industry can be viewed as a composite of the five forces (David, 2007:87). Firms or organisations in any industry are directly affected by at least five competitive forces (Hellrigiel, 2008:98). These five competitive forces are rivalry among competitors, threats of new entrants, threats of substitute commodities, customers and suppliers bargaining power. These are also known as the Porter's five forces.

The Porter's five forces model illustrate the competitive forces, thus the sources of competition in any industry. Porter's five forces model is illustrated in figure 2.1 on the next page.

Figure 2.1: Competitive Forces Model



Source: Adapted from Hellrigiel et al., (2008:98)

The sources of competition appearing in figure 2.1 are discussed in the sections that follow.

## Rivalry among competitors

Figure 2.1 illustrates that rivals or competitors are a force faced by almost every business today. Rivalry among competing firms is usually the most powerful of the five mentioned forces (David, 2007:88). David (2007:88) noted that the intensity of rivalry among competing firms tends to increase as the number of competitors increases, as competitors become more equal, as the demand of industry's commodities declines and as price cutting becomes common. Rivalry among competitors can also increase when customers can easily switch brands, when exit barriers are high and when the fixed costs are high.

Competitors are arguably the most important element of the micro-environment when it is contemplated on from a strategic viewpoint. Rivalry among competitors produces strategies like price cutting, advertising promotions, enhanced customer services and improvements in service or product quality (Hellrigiel *et al.*, 2008:98). Competitors often use these strategies to improve their relative industry or market positions or to respond to others' actions. As rivalry intensifies, industry profits decline and the industry becomes unattractive (David, 2007:88). SMMEs usually find it difficult to fight competition with well established larger businesses. Larger businesses cut prices as a calculated strategy to remove other businesses from the industry.

## • Threats of new entrants

The threat of increased competition in an industry depends on how easy new firms can compete with already existing ones (McGee, Thomas & Wilson, 2005:150). In industries where there are no barriers to entry, competition will usually be severe. David (2007:88) mentioned that despite the barriers to entry, new firms can enter industries with high quality products, lower prices and market resources. Large and existing firms usually take advantage of barriers to entry in the industry and block new SMMEs from competing. It is important to note that whenever a new firm enters a particular market or industry, the intensity of competition will increase (David, 2007:88).

## Threats of substitute commodities

All competitors produce substitute commodities (Hellrigiel *et al.*, 2008:99). The introduction of substitute products in the market by another firm can affect the demand of already existing commodities that serve the same purpose. With the extent of competition today, new products are always introduced into the market.

## Customers' bargaining power

Customers always try to force prices down, obtain more and higher quality products, and increase competition among sellers (McGee *et al.*, 2005:151). Customers' bargaining power is usually higher when there are many suppliers and fewer buyers.

## Suppliers' bargaining power

The bargaining power of suppliers control the extent to which they can raise prices above their costs (make profits), or at least reduce the quality of commodities they provide before losing customers (Hellrigiel *et al.*, 2008:99; McGee *et al.*, 2005:151)

The combined force of all these five forces can affect the long term profitability of the business and calls for the owners and management to carefully monitor and diagnose each one of them, as well as their combined effect before making decisions. Van Aardt *et al.*, (2008:55) explain that a mistake that an entrepreneur should never make, is to assume that there is no competitor for a product or service that he or she offers. It is argued that the analysis and understanding of competitors is essential for the development of strategies to fight competition.

#### 2.4.4 Lack of support structures

Most SMME owners and managers believe that they do not get enough support from the government. This may be as a result of lack of information on the available organisations that are established and available to assist them. Most SMMEs in South Africa are not aware of government efforts that are in place to assist them (Maas & Herrington, 2006).

## 2.4.5 Inaccessibility of appropriate technology

Investment in technology and keeping up with information technology is becoming increasingly important to everyone and to all businesses today. Technology plays a very crucial role in the development of businesses. It helps a business to maximise business opportunities and is perceived to be important if a business is to improve on its sales.

It is very important to note that the use of technology involves costs, because of the fact that computer hardware needs to be bought and software will need to be installed. It is beyond doubt that SMMEs without access to finance will find it difficult to access modern technology.

#### 2.4.6 Lack of access to other resources such as human resources

For SMMEs to perform well and to sustain growth, they need to access a pool of qualified, skilled and motivated employees. Considering the difficulties in accessing finance faced by SMMEs, it is difficult and expensive for them to hire skilled labour. Fatoki and Garwe (2010:732) highlight that labour can only be hired at a cost and within the confines of labour regulations, such as the Employment and Minimum Wage Regulations. The quality of infrastructure can also affect the

growth prospects of SMMEs. This is a challenge in most developing countries, and South Africa is no exception. It is shown that many developing countries still suffer from deplorable state of infrastructure such as telecommunication, electricity and transportation.

It is thus shown that challenges faced by SMMEs, can have a negative effect on their performance. Performance of SMMEs is discussed in the following section.

## 2.5 PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs

The performance of SMMEs is of interest to all countries (Olutunla & Obamuyi, 2008:195). This is mainly because of the critical role played by these businesses in the economic development of any country. The performance of an organisation or business enterprise relates to the efficiency and effectiveness with which it carries out the tasks in the process of providing products and services (Naude, 2007:3).

Barreira (2004:26) admits that there is no consensus on appropriate measures of SMME performance, and prior research had focused on variables for which information was easy to gather. It has also been argued that growth is a more accurate and easily accessible performance indicator than any other accounting measures and hence superior to indicators of financial performance (Barreira, 2004: 26).

SMME performance is indicated by changes in profits, growth in sales and also employment (Olutunla & Obamuyi, 2008:198). Olutunla and Obamuyi (2008:198) are of the view that improved SMME performance ensures higher profits, higher growth in sales and employment and wealth maximisation of the owners.

Barreira (2004:26) points out that performance is multidimensional in nature and that it is advantageous to integrate different dimensions of performance in empirical studies. In Barreira's view (2004:26), it is possible to regard financial performance and growth as different aspects of performance, each revealing important and unique information. Taken as a unit of meaning, growth and financial performance give a richer description of the actual performance of the

firm than each does separately (Barreira, 2004:27), but each receives attention as a separate unit in the sections that follow.

## 2.5.1 Growth

In the culture of a business, growth is 'written' as the main characteristic of success (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:275). It is growth that brings the promise of expansion, greater profitability, new enterprises, increase in personnel and the power to attract more highly developed people or create general increase in resources. There are different definitions of business growth and also various ways of measuring it (Fatoki & Garwe, 2010:731). Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731) highlighted that business growth is typically measured and defined using relative or absolute changes in assets, productivity, profits, profit margins, employment and sales.

Barreira (2004:27) points out that it is accepted that four indicators of growth can be utilised to measure SMME performance. These indicators are sales growth, employment growth, sales growth compared to competitors and market value growth compared to competitors, which receive attention below.

• Sales growth

The growth process can be driven by increased demand for SMMEs' commodities. It may also be very difficult for growth in other dimensions to occur without increasing sales. According to Barreira (2004:29), it is arguable that SMMEs can increase their sales without employing more staff or acquiring more resources and outsourcing can increase sales without increasing the employment level or the amount of resources.

Sales growth reflects both short-term and long-term changes in the business enterprise. It is also easy to obtain sales figures and changes in sales volumes. Sales growth is considered the most common performance measure by most entrepreneurs (Barreira, 2004:29). According to Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731), sales data is usually readily available and SMME operators attach high value to sales as one of the indicators of SMME performance.

## • Employment growth

There has been significant interest in the creation of new employment opportunities in South Africa through the development of the SMME sector and also entrepreneurship. Barreira (2004:27) is of the opinion that in the process of rationalisation, it may be possible to replace employees with capital investments because SMMEs are expected to grow and in the process, employ more people. Employee satisfaction and owner satisfaction are also indicators of success (Van Scheers, 2011:5050).

#### • Comparison of firms

When assessing performance of SMMEs, comparisons of firms in the same industry and market can help reveal important additional information. Such measures or comparisons can give information on whether SMMEs simply conform to contemporary market trends or whether they show growth patterns that deviate substantially from their industry in general (Barreira, 2004:28).

#### • Market value growth compared to competitors

A growing customer base is a sure sign that an SMME is effectively reaching target markets (Van Scheers, 2011:5050). Barreira (2004:29) argues that the market value captures the real value of the firm better than other measures (accounting measures) like net worth and assets. To calculate market value, one needs to divide gross profits by current year sales (to get the gross profit margin). This is a better performance measure, mainly because it does not consider the size of an enterprise.

## 2.5.2 SMME growth as a defining feature

Growth is a defining feature of an entrepreneurial business. It refers to an increase in a specific parameter during a specific term or time period (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:278). Growth must be an objective and a strategy for the venture, and it needs to be managed. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:278) support the view that growth and performance are generally seen as substitutes for each other. It is a growing firm that is usually considered to be successful and performing well.

## 2.5.3 Characteristics of growing firms

Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:278) identified market domination, differentiation, product leadership, flexibility, innovation, orientation towards the future, export activity and related growth as characteristics of growing SMMEs, which are:

- Market domination occurs in niche markets and is measured in terms of their relative market share in the niche market. The ability to dominate markets is one of the main factors that can separate firms that are performing well from those that are not. Successful firms appear to have clearly demarcated market segments that they dominate.
- Differentiation makes firms different and unique from their competitors. This
  can be in the form of products, distribution or even geography. Ventures that
  are performing well will always want to be different (or they want their
  products to be different from those of competitors) in the market so that they
  can easily be recognised by customers.
- According to Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:279), successful firms and most growing firms are product oriented. They emphasise on quality, as well as branding and value for customers. Growing and successful firms are also characterised by superior performance and a competitive edge that is gained through the introduction of new products and customer service (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:279). This can be described as product leadership.
- Flexibility refers to the speed and ability to change direction to gain advantage from new opportunities and also to counter threats. Growing firms should be able to change their position in the market and/or their competitive strategy so as to meet the demands of their customers.
- Innovation can be described as doing things differently and better. This is common in growing firms as they continue to seek new and cost effective ways of doing work. Growing firms are also inclined to invest in their future. Investing in the future can include spending resources on marketing, research and development and also capacity building. Growing firms engage in export

activities. They do this in order to increase their market size, to increase sales and also to compete globally. Nieman and Pretorius (2004:6) noted that growing firms thrive on innovation. Innovation can be in the form of technology, a new product or a new way of production.

## 2.5.4 Success factors of growth

The critical success factors for growth as identified by Vinturella (1999:248) include market intelligence, strategic leadership, clarity of purpose, internal infrastructure and strategic planning. The success factors highlighted are briefly discussed in the next sections.

- Market intelligence refers to the ability of SMMEs to perceive and adapt to changes in the marketplace.
- Strategic leadership is the ability to provide clear direction, to delegate, to make decisions and to make long-term plans.
- Clarity of purpose and direction refers to a detailed vision of the business in the future.
- Internal infrastructure includes the ability to support the business's strategies through its internal operations and firm's structures.
- Strategic planning are specific action steps to achieve the firm's long-term goals.

Now that measures or indicators of growth have been discussed, it is also important to outline and discuss measures of financial performance. These are discussed in the following section.

## 2.5.5 Financial measures of performance

Brewer (2010:18) illustrates that financial performance measurement is about measuring what is happening inside a business by making use of financial information. Financial information used for financial performance measurement can be sourced by means of financial statements and various ratio analyses (Brewer, 2010:18).

According to Olutunla and Obamuyi (2008:198), the use of profitability to measure performance is in line with the assumptions of profit maximisation and utility maximisation. These assumptions are the cornerstones of many economic theories. Van Scheers (2011:5050) admits that profitability is the first aspect taken into consideration when measuring the success of SMMEs.

Olutunla and Obamuyi (2008:198) argue that for profit maximising firms, a strategy to maintain a high level of profitability requires that the firms must produce quality products that can easily be sold to achieve more revenue, especially through effective and efficient marketing strategies.

To achieve the full potential of sales, the product life cycle needs to be considered and the entrepreneurs must maximise the profitability during the growth stage (Olutunla and Obamuyi, 2008:199)

Brewer (2010:61) highlighted financial measures that can be used to measure SMME business activities. The activities are measured by means of accounting include profitability, creditors, stock control, business goals achieved and business sustainability.

It is also important to look critically at the growth of SMMEs. Entrepreneurial ventures set growth as an objective. The following section discusses growth as an objective of SMMEs.

## 2.6 GROWTH AS AN OBJECTIVE OF SMMEs

Growth is a function of the vision and foresight of entrepreneurs and is also a defining feature of entrepreneurship (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:436). It is the potential for growth that distinguishes and entrepreneurial venture from an ordinary small business (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:31; Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:277). The lack of an entrepreneurial mindset, which constantly seeks growth and innovation, might subconsciously be the major barrier to growth experienced by many SMMEs (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:276). The need to grow a business can be attributed to the entrepreneurs' need for achievement, power or/ and personal wealth (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:276). Nieman and Pretorius

(2004:31) highlight that it is important to consider resources and risk when planning to grow a business.

According to Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:277) and Nieman and Pretorius (2004:31), it is important that SMMEs develop a strategy (long term plan) and objectives for achieving growth. Strategies can be focusing on external growth, internal growth or a combination of the two. When setting growth targets, one needs to confirm that the expansion strategy is in line with the capabilities of the firm. This means that growth targets need to take into account the resources that the SMME is able to attract (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:277; Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:31).

Growth can be defined in terms of increased sales, increased income or any other quantifiable goal (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:31). Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:277) advise that each action plan must clearly stipulate the resources that will be required to achieve certain goals. The resources include assets, people and capital. Capital may be the main source of growth but is not useful in itself. It must be converted into productive assets (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:31). Growth requires proper planning, organisation, direction and control activities. It needs to be managed carefully.

#### 2.6.1 The process of growth

Rwigema and Venter (2004:437) describe growth as a dynamic process with an impact on every function of the business. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:280) and Wickham (in Rwigema and Venter, 2004:437) identified four growth perspectives or types namely, financial, strategic, structural and organisational growth. These types of growth are dependent on each other, hence an entrepreneur cannot view growth from one dimensional perspective. An entrepreneur has to consider these perspectives when planning for growth (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:280; Rwigema & Venter, 2004:437). Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:280) advise that failure to attend to one, while favouring another, could result in failure or a managerial crisis. Figure 2.2 on the next page shows the dynamics of growth, as well as how the types of growth relate to each other.

Figure 2.2: Dynamics of growth



## Key:

1: Resources performance; 2: Asset accumulation; 3: Use of assets;

4: Executes; 5: Supports.

Source: Adapted from Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:280

Figure 2.2 illustrates the different perspectives of growth. These perspectives are briefly discussed below.

## • Financial growth

This relates to the development of the venture as a commercial entity. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:280) agree that quantitative measures are generally used as norms to determine growth. Financial growth measures the additional value that will have been created by the business venture. Financial growth is considered as a very important measurement of performance or success of a business. It is financial measurements that stakeholders of a business use to assess the performance of a business.

Rwigema and Venter (2004:438) mentioned that all businesses must grow in terms of assets, level of investment, turnover, necessary cost and also profitability.

Ways in which financial growth can be expressed, include an increase in turnover or sales, increases in profits, increase in total sales, increase in return on investment and an increase in any other performance measure. It is financial growth that ultimately affect (give rise to) the economic value of the business (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:438).

## • Strategic growth

This refers to changes in which a business interacts with its environment (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:437). It is concerned with the way in which the enterprise develops capabilities to exploit opportunities in the marketplace. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:281) stress the need for firms to adapt and change their strategies as they develop and grow. Strategic growth can take the form of a firm entering new markets, wielding more influence, and facing new different constraints (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:437).

#### • Structural growth

Structural growth relates to the changes in the way the venture organises its internal systems, managerial roles and reporting procedures, communication ways and also their resource control systems.

Rwigema and Venter (2004:438) are of the view that growth can be represented by enhanced systems' capacity and there is a need for the entrepreneur to continuously revise the systems of the business, including the organisational hierarchy.

## Organisational growth

Organisational growth relates to the changes that take place in the organisation's processes, culture and attitudes as it grows and develops. This includes changes in the entrepreneur's role and leadership style as the business grows. Rwigema and Venter (2004:438) reveal that organisational growth refers to the improvement in processes, learning, knowledge and beliefs in the organisation.

Growth gives rise to firm performance which can be explained using models of entrepreneurial performance. The models of performance are discussed in the sections that follow.

## 2.7 MODELS OF ENTREPRENEURIAL PERFORMANCE

In entrepreneurship and small business research, a firm's performance is considered to be the ultimate criterion of success or failure (Man, Lau & Chan, 2002:125). Kunene (2008:57) states that both empirical studies and theoretical models use performance to determine success or failure of SMMEs. Performance models of different authors are discussed below. Due to the fact that the theoretical framework which includes models of entrepreneurial performance were formulated in periods of time in the past, this study also made use of references older than 10 years. Groundbreaking research, especially theories that were developed more than 10 years ago were cited in this study.

## 2.7.1 The Glancey, Greig and Pettigrew model

Glancey, Greig and Pettigrew, (1998:255) outlined a model for SMMEs performance. In this model, personal characteristics of the entrepreneur determine the motivations and objectives that direct the firm's performance. Glancey *et al.,* (1998:255) argue that performance is mediated through the markets in which the entrepreneur operates and the managerial practices which he/ she employs. The model is illustrated in figure 2.3 below.





The model of Glancey *et al.*, (1998) in figure 2.3 on the previous page, can also be represented in a mathematical form, where an increase in performance is indicated as a mathematical formula, which is:

## Increase in performance = G (Traits, Motivation, Management) \* h (Market).

Another model of entrepreneurial performance was developed by Van Vuuren and Nieman. The model is discussed below.

## 2.6.2 Van Vuuren and Nieman model of Entrepreneurial Performance

Van Vuuren and Nieman (1999:1) developed what is referred to as a three dimensional model. In this model, entrepreneurial performance is a multiplicative function of motivation and entrepreneurial skills and business skills. The model is shown as a mathematical formula below.

## EP = aM \* b E/S \* c B/S.

Each aspect of the Van Vuuren and Nieman model is explained separately below.

## • EP = Entrepreneurial Performance.

This is based on the starting up of a business, utilising the opportunity in the market and growth of the business idea.

## • M = Motivation

Motivation is seen as the entrepreneur's need for achievement. In the opinion of Kunene (2008:58), motivation would include inner control, leadership, persistence, decisiveness, sheer guts, determination, achievement imagery, ability to inspire, ability to get help, ability to overcome obstacles and also the reactions to failure or success.

## • E/S = Entrepreneurial skills

Entrepreneurial skills include the ability to turn business ideas into feasible opportunities, to start and to grow an enterprise. Entrepreneurial skills include risk taking, creativity, innovation and the ability to interpret successful entrepreneurial role models and identification of market opportunities.

## • B/S = Business Skills

Business skills include the ability to formulate business plans and marketing, human resources, financial, communication, legal, operational and operational plans. Business skills also mean the ability to carry out managerial functions effectively. The management functions include planning, organising, directing, supervising, Evaluating and/or controlling.

#### • a, b and c = constant coefficients

These are non-zero coefficients that depict the already existing levels of the skills that entrepreneurs have.

Since the mathematical equation in this model (Van Vuuren and Nieman) has multiplicative constructs, the absence of any of the elements (for example motivation, entrepreneurial skills or business skills) will not lead to any increase in entrepreneurial performance. This also means that any increase in the capacity of any of these skills can as well lead to an increase in the performance of an entrepreneur.

From the Van Vuuren and Nieman model, one can note that entrepreneurship education is very important in developing and improving entrepreneurship skills, business skills and also to motivate individuals to become entrepreneurs.

Another model of entrepreneurial performance was developed by Wickham in 2001. The Wickham model is discussed below.

## 2.7.3 Wickham's model of entrepreneurial performance

According to Wickham (2001:55), entrepreneurial performance result from a combination of industry knowledge, general management skills, people skills and personal motivation. Wickham's model can also be presented in a mathematical form as:

## Performance = W (Industry, Management, Interpersonal, Motivation)

The model is also illustrated in figure 2.4 on the next page.

Figure 2.4: Wickham's model of entrepreneurial performance



## Source: Wickham (2001:55)

From the model in figure 2.4, it can be learnt that lack of each element can affect entrepreneurial performance. Management knowledge, interpersonal skills, motivation and knowledge of the industry are crucial for the success of the firm.

Ucbasaran, Westhead and Wright (2004), again, emphasised the need for skills for the success of an entrepreneurial venture. Their model is discussed below.

## 2.7.4 Ucbasaran, Westhead and Wright model

Ucbasaran, Westhead and Wright (2004:440) identified three distinct capabilities that are necessary for an entrepreneur to be successful. These include:

- the entrepreneurial role which assists with business development;
- the managerial role which assists with functional needs, including human resources management, finance, marketing and planning; and
- the technical role which is needed for functioning and producing the products.

Thus, the model of Ucbasaran, Westhead and Wright can be presented in a mathematical form as:

## Success = U (Entrepreneurship skills, Business skills, Technical skills)

Ucbasaran *et al.*, (2004:440) illustrate that entrepreneurial skills, business skills and technical skills are important for the success of an enterprise. Owners/managers need to seek education and training to develop these skills.

#### 2.7.5 Darroch and Clover Model

Darroch and Clover (2005:325) described SMME performance as a function of preference for self employment, motivation, entrepreneurship skills and business skills. These factors need to be moderated by background and external firm level factors. The model can also be presented in a mathematical form as:

## Success = D (Motivation, Entrepreneurship skills, Business skills)

This shows how entrepreneurship and business skills are important for the success of any business. Below is another model, the Perks and Stuwig model which shows how important management, personal, technical and business skills are for the success of a business.

#### 2.7.6 Perks and Stuwig Model

Perks and Stuwig (2005:173) identified four categories of skills that are needed to ensure entrepreneurial success. The categories of skills are technical, personal, business operations and management skills. Their model can be presented in a mathematical form as:

## Success = P (Management, Personal, Technical, Business Skills)

Concluding the discussion of above six models of entrepreneurial performance, it is essential to review the main points involved in these models.

#### 2.7.7 Summary of models

According to Kunene (2008:61), the Van Vuuren and Nieman (1999) model identified most of the skills categories that are included by the other authors.

Entrepreneurship skills are crucial for the success of SMMEs as shown by most of these models of entrepreneurial performance. Also important are business skills, management skills, technical skills, interpersonal skills and motivation. Industry knowledge also plays a role in improving entrepreneurial performance as shown by the Wickham's model.

Having discussed the factors that affect the performance of firms, it is also crucial that the resources that are needed for businesses also receives attention.

#### 2.8 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS OF SMMEs

Mutezo (2005:6) noted that SMMEs require support if they are to grow and survive. Resources include anything that a business owner or operator need and use to pursue a business opportunity. They can be defined as inputs that the business combines to create the outputs that it delivers to customers (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:53). Resources can be money that is invested in the business, the people who contribute their efforts, knowledge and skills and also the physical assets. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:126); Rwigema and Venter (2004:185), Co, Groenewald, Van Zyl, Visser, Train and Emanuel (2006:157), Du Toit *et al.*, (2009:53) and Van Aardt *et al.*, (2008:56) identified resources that are needed in a business. These resources can be classified in four broad categories, namely human resources, information resources, physical resources and financial resources and are discussed below.

#### 2.8.1 Human resources

These include all people and their efforts, skills, knowledge and insights that they contribute to the overall performance of the business venture. Human resources include all the personnel who are indirectly and directly involved in the manufacturing, rendering a service or selling commodities (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:56).

To improve their human resource efforts, entrepreneurs also need to provide training and education to staff. There is also a need to motivate employees so as to encourage high performance. This is supported by Rwigema and Venter (2004:56) who noted that human capital grows out of education and training, innovation, emotional intelligence, wisdom and other skills.

#### 2.8.2 Financial resources

Any resource that take the form of, or that can easily be converted into cash can be termed a financial resource (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:56). Financial resources are very important in any business and to any business owner or operator. It is financial resources that are used to acquire other resources in a business (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:185; Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:56).

Entrepreneurs need to determine the nature of financial resource needs and investigate proper means to obtain the necessary financial resources. Different sources of financial resources exist, but they can simply be classified into two broad categories, which are debt and equity. These two broad categories have their own advantages and disadvantages that the entrepreneurs need to be aware of in order to deal with these issues.

These financial resources can be in the form of start-up capital, long-term or shortterm loans, trade credit, start-up grants and investments by owners or shareholders (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:7). Financial resources need to be carefully managed, because poorly managed cash flow has been identified as one of the main causes of SMME failure.

## 2.8.3 Physical resources

Van Aardt *et al.*, (2008:56) refer to physical resources as operating resources. They include physical assets such as buildings and equipment. Physical resources also include raw materials that could be used to create the products and services of a business. General supplies used in the operation of the business can also be considered as physical resources. In short, physical resources refer to the facilities which allow people to do their jobs (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:56).

## 2.8.4 Information resources

Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:128) are of the view that without information, entrepreneurs will not be able to make appropriate decisions. Information sources

can be internal (within the business) or external (outside the business). Both internal and external sources are very important to entrepreneurs for they will allow them to develop well informed strategies to fight competition as well as to improve performance of their ventures.

Information resources also include computer technology, the Internet and e-mail as well as patents (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:56). These can be a source of competitive advantage for they are unique to the organisation (Rwigema & Venter, 2004:186).

## 2.9 CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter focused on the overview and performance of SMMEs. Attention was also given to growth and financial measures of performance. Resource requirements, challenges faced by SMMEs and their contribution were discussed. Models of entrepreneurial performance were also discussed in this chapter. In the next chapter, entrepreneurship, economic growth and theories of economic growth are discussed.

## **CHAPTER THREE**

# ENTREPRENEURSHIP, ECONOMIC GROWTH AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP THEORIES

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

"The process of creative destruction, in which entrepreneurs create new ideas and new businesses that make existing ones absolute, is a sign of a vibrant economy" (Zimmerer & Scarborough, 2008:5).

This chapter originates from the literature on the overview and performance of SMMEs. In this chapter, the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth receives attention. Theories of entrepreneurship are used to link entrepreneurship to economic growth. Entrepreneurial ventures are also differentiated from ordinary small businesses, and entrepreneurship as a discipline is explained in a way that shows how it differs from management in general.

#### **3.2 ENTREPRENEURSHIP**

Richard Cantillon developed one of the early theories of entrepreneurship in 1725 focused on the individual involved in an enterprise. He defined the entrepreneur as an individual who assumes risk, by buying at a certain price and selling at an uncertain price. At the time of the industrial revolution (1830), Jean Baptiste Say expanded the definition of an entrepreneur to include the possession of managerial skills. Say believed that an entrepreneur was able to coordinate and combine the factors of production. Later on, Joseph Schumpeter (1883-1950) also made a contribution to the discussion on entrepreneurship. Schumpeter introduced the concepts of new combinations which involve a change in product or process that existed for as long as the introduction of new combination of inputs was under way. Resultantly, Schumpeter described an entrepreneur as an innovator.

In modern times, an entrepreneur can be defined as a person who sees an opportunity in the market, gathers resources, establishes and grows a business towards the satisfaction of the needs of the market (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:4). According to Nieman (2001:58), an entrepreneur usually endures the risks of the venture, and reaps his/her reward which is profit attained if the business succeeds.

An entrepreneur is also regarded as an economic agent who is able to perceive market opportunities and assembles the needed factors of production in order to exploit specific opportunities (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:4). Such entrepreneurs are people who are considered to be heroes of free enterprise for they grow businesses through innovation and creativity (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:5). It is a verity that all entrepreneurs want their businesses to grow (Nieman and Pretorius, 2004:4).

According to Zimmerer and Scaborough (2008:5), "an entrepreneur is a person who creates a new business in the face of risk and uncertainty for the purpose of achieving growth and profit by identifying significant opportunities and assembling the necessary resources to capitalise on them". It can thus be accepted that entrepreneurs do not only come up with ideas, they act on them.

Entrepreneurs also possess particular characteristics that set them apart from ordinary people (Nieuwenhuizen, 2004:40) This however does not mean that they have the same characteristics. Van Aardt *et al.*, (2008:9) and Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:32); identified that such individuals have a desire to achieve, they are hard workers who nurture quality, are excellence oriented, money oriented, accepting responsibility, reward oriented, optimistic, good organisers and are passionate about business. Other characteristics include locus of control, creativity and innovation, determination and persistence, need for independence, need for achievement and risk taking.

Longenecker, Moore, Petty and Palich (2006:16) also identified commitment and determination, leadership, opportunity obsession, tolerance of risk, creativity, self reliance and adaptability, and motivation to excel as other characteristics of entrepreneurs. It is thus obvious that these characteristics can be developed and improved through entrepreneurship education (Botha, Nieman & Van Vuuren, 2006:2).

#### 3.2.1 Entrepreneurship defined

Van Aardt *et al.*, (2008) define entrepreneurship as the act of initiating, creating, building and expanding an enterprise or organisation, as well as building an entrepreneurial team and gathering other resources to exploit an opportunity in the marketplace for long term growth. Timmons and Spinelli (2007) suggest that entrepreneurship is a way of thinking, reasoning and acting which is opportunity

obsessed, holistic in approach, and leadership balanced. Rwigema and Venter (2004:6) propose entrepreneurship to be the process of conceptualising, organising, launching and through innovation, nurturing a business opportunity into a potentially high growth venture in a complex and unstable environment.

Burger *et al.*, (2005:80), and Zimmerer and Scarborough, (2008:5) mention that entrepreneurship can be defined as the creation of new businesses in conditions of risk and uncertainty in order to make a profit. Entrepreneurship can be described as the result of a systematic and disciplined process of applying innovation and creativity to opportunities and needs in the market (Zimmerer and Scarborough, 2008:44). According to above authors, it involves the application of focused strategies to new ideas and new insights to create a product or a service that can either satisfy people's needs or solve their problems.

It also comes to light that growth of businesses is a defining feature of entrepreneurial ventures (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:4; Rwigema & Venter, 2004:5). Also important as defining features of entrepreneurship are risk taking and innovation. It is evident from the multitude of definitions, that entrepreneurship involves people who engage in some type of behaviour.

#### 3.2.2 Entrepreneurs versus small business owners

It is very important to distinguish between entrepreneurial ventures and ordinary small businesses. According to Nieman and Pretorius (2004:4), ordinary small businesses are not dominant in their fields and they rarely engage in any innovative or new practices. On the other hand, entrepreneurial ventures can be described as those businesses that have profitability and growth set as principal objectives.

Key distinguishing characteristics between entrepreneurial ventures and small businesses include innovation, potential for growth, and strategic objectives, which are discussed on the next page.

#### Innovation

Zimmerer and Scarborough (2008:43) define innovation as the ability to apply creative solutions to problems and opportunities to enhance the lives of people. In this case, creativity is described as the ability to develop new ideas and to discover new ways of looking at opportunities and problems. Entrepreneurial ventures thrive on innovation, meaning that this concept can refer to technological innovation, a new product or a new way of producing it, of offering a service, of marketing, distributing or structuring and managing the organisation (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:6). In contrast, many small businesses are usually involved only in delivering an established product or service.

## • Potential for growth

Due to their innovative approach, an entrepreneurial business has more potential for growth than a small business. Entrepreneurial ventures are not limited to existing markets; they can create their own markets (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:6). The small business on the other hand, operates in an established industry and is unique only in terms of its locality, only operating within a specific market.

## • Strategic objectives

Nieman and Pretorius (2004:6) state that entrepreneurial ventures usually set strategic objectives in relation to growth targets, market segmentation, market share and market position. Small businesses do not really care about the stated objectives. The objectives of a small business rarely go beyond survival, profit and sales targets (Nieman & Pretorius, 2004:6), which can be seen as a management aspect.

## 3.2.3 Entrepreneurship and management

Although not all entrepreneurs are good managers or leaders, management and leadership skills are important success factors for entrepreneurs. The same can be said also to managers that they are not necessarily entrepreneurs, or even entrepreneurially oriented (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:13).

There are differences between entrepreneurial and managerial functions, as well as the expertise and competence required by each individual (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:13). Entrepreneurial functions include the following among others:

- innovative thinking and the identification of opportunities;
- planning and establishment and /or growth of the business; and
- application of resources.

The management functions on the other hand include planning, organising, leading and controlling.

The entrepreneur also has to manage the various business functions such as finance, marketing, production, purchasing, administration, human resources and public relations. Entrepreneurs often have the ability to identify opportunities and establish the business. They also need some education or training to be able to manage their businesses successfully.

It is important to note that to be effective, entrepreneurs need to possess the skills of both the entrepreneur and of the professional manager (Van Aardt *et al.*, 2008:8). The table below shows the important success factors as identified by Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009) for both entrepreneurs and managers.

Success factors of entrepreneurs	Managerial success factors
<ul> <li>creativity and innovation;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>planning;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>risk orientation;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>knowledge of competitors;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>leadership;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>mainly market oriented;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>good human relations;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>client service;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>positive attitude</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>high quality work enjoys priority;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>perseverance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>financial insight and management;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>commitment</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>knowledge and skills with regards</li> </ul>
	to the business; and
	<ul> <li>the use of experts</li> </ul>

Source: Adapted from Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:14-19)

The difference of these success factors entails that entrepreneurs do it themselves and they work to achieve their goals, whereas managers work to achieve the objectives of others (such as shareholders) and they need expertise to do so.

## 3.2.4 The role of entrepreneurs

It can be said that entrepreneurship is the spark that brings other factors of production into motion (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:43). It is very important to note that entrepreneurship is mobilised by confidence, skills, creativity and expectations of individuals. According to Du Toit *et al.*, (2009:43), it is people with entrepreneurial skills and talents and knowledge that are able to achieve more than others, especially when it comes to mobilising productive resources and starting enterprises that have the potential to grow. These people with entrepreneurial skills and knowledge are rare and valuable to the society.

Jennings (1994:37) mentioned six functional roles of the entrepreneur in economic thought. He identified the functional roles of the entrepreneur and the contributing theorist. The table below shows the functional roles of the entrepreneurs as described by Jennings.

Functional role	Theorist
Speculator	Richard Cantillon
Coordinator	Jean-Baptiste Say
Product owner	Frederick Hawler
Innovator	Joseph Schumpeter
Decision maker	Frank Knight
Arbitrator	Israel Kirzner

Source: Barreira et al., 2008:66
From table 3.2 on the previous page, it can be noted that the roles of entrepreneurs as speculators, coordinators of resources, product owners, arbitrators, innovators as well as decision makers. These roles can be seen as complementing one another and individuals need to be equipped with the necessary skills in order to be able to carry out these roles effectively.

Besides stipulating the functional roles of entrepreneurs, Jennings (1994:63) also described entrepreneurial functions as described by early economists. Table 3.3 shows the summary of entrepreneurial functions.

Economist	Concept of entrepreneurial function
Francis	Being a coordinator and middleman who never disappears, even in
Edgeworth	general equilibrium.
Alfred Marshall	Being a business leader and head of the firm-innovating, coordinating, responding to profit signals, and bearing risk.
Frederick Hawley	Being an owner or enterpriser who makes decisions regarding what product or service is to be produced and is also the bearer of
	uncertainty.
John Bates	Not being an uncertainty bearer but an arbitrageur who shifts
Clark	resources toward their most profitable uses
Irving Fisher	Being a bearer of uncertainty who reduces the randomness of
	subjective speculation. His role as a profit receiver makes him an important and distinct economic agent.
Frank Knight	Being a decision maker in an uncertain environment. In that role he
	determines consumer's wants and secures various services and materials to produce the product or service. Profits received are not
	for dealing with uncertainty-based differences between the anticipated value of resource services and their actual value.
Joseph	Being an innovator who carries out new combinations of economic
Schumpeter	development, which are new goods, a new method of production, new markets, new sources of raw materials, or a new organisational form.

 Table 3.3: Entrepreneurial functions

The description in table 3.3, details the functions of the entrepreneur in an uncertain environment. According to Barreira *et al.*, (2008:68), the entrepreneur develops from a bearer of uncertainty, to an arbitrageur who was described by Investopedia (2011) as a type of an investor who attempts to profit from price inefficiencies in the market by making simultaneous trades that offset each other and capturing risk-free profits. An entrepreneur further develops to be a speculator, and finally an innovator as described in Schumpeter's theory which is explained in section 3.5.

In South Africa, entrepreneurs play a critical role in creating employment, providing goods and services and also aiding large firms. They also contribute to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of South Africa. Most entrepreneurs operate SMMEs in South Africa. SMMEs form 97,5% of all businesses in South Africa, employ around 55% of all formal private sector employees, and generate 35% of the GDP (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:43).

According to Ekpe (2011:287) entrepreneurs play certain roles so as to complement the government's efforts in the development of the SMME sector. The roles of entrepreneurs identified by Ekpe (2011:287) include making good business decisions, having the right motive, making an effort to acquire appropriate education, training, business experience, skills, innovation, market information and also social networks. Fulfilling the above mentioned roles adequately, it should surely contribute towards the success of such entrepreneurial ventures and ultimately contribute towards economic growth.

#### 3.3 ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND ECONOMIC GROWTH

It is voiced that entrepreneurship plays an important role in economic processes, but its study has been marginalised through the dominance of neo-classical economics, which has all but assumed the entrepreneur out of existence (Barreira, Dhliwayo, Luiz, Naude & Urban, 2008:63).

It is accepted everywhere in the world that entrepreneurship is one of the most important solutions, not only to low economic growth, but also to unemployment and poverty (Botha, Nieman & Van Vuuren, 2006:2; Ekpe, 2011:287). According to Nieman and Pretorius (2004:4), entrepreneurial ventures create employment and

economic growth for any nation. The creation of new ventures and the growth of existing businesses are vital contributing factors to any economy (Botha, Nieman & Van Vuuren, 2006:2).

Entrepreneurial firms also create important spill-overs that affect regional employment rates in the long term, there is diverse empirical evidence showing the impact of entrepreneurship on economic growth (Barreira, 2008:63-71).

Subsequently, entrepreneurship education is one way of enhancing entrepreneurial activity (Botha, Nieman & Van Vuuren, 2006:2).

#### **3.4 TURNING SKILLS INTO OPPORTUNITIES**

Entrepreneurial attributes such as the motive for venturing into business, obtaining business and innovative skills, having educational and networking ability, are also vital elements to consider in entrepreneurial success that can contribute to economic growth (Ekpe, 2011:288), which means that these entrepreneurial skills need to be developed if the entrepreneurs are to be successful. It is important to note that entrepreneurial skills are not inherited and unchangeable as traditional thought may lead us to believe. Research has proved that people can still change certain characteristics of entrepreneurs which were previously regarded as genetic (Nieuwenhuizen, 2004:48).

When assessing themselves, entrepreneurs need to do a self-introspection and self-evaluation to be able to establish their personal strengths and weaknesses. Individual strengths can then be positively applied towards the success of the business, while the weaknesses could be addressed through entrepreneurship education.

Although it has been noted that skills differ, an entrepreneur must be committed to developing both entrepreneurship and management skills (Nieuwenhuizen, 2004:38). This is mainly because both entrepreneurial and managerial skills are crucial for SMME success. It can thus be taken that entrepreneurial skills are related to the personal and interpersonal competencies of people and are generally expressed in their behaviour. Management skills on the other hand are

an indication of how well an entrepreneur can perform important tasks and activities related to the functions of a business.

According to Nieuwenhuizen (2004:49), it is important to take note that developing entrepreneurial skills alone while neglecting business skills, will not ensure optimal results. It is a combination of both entrepreneurial skills and business training in entrepreneurship education that will be most effective in developing and preparing successful entrepreneurs.

#### 3.5 THEORIES OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP

Different views exist on what exactly entrepreneurship or an entrepreneur is. Economists subscribe to the view that entrepreneurs combine different resources in specific combinations to generate products and services at a profit (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:41). Their focus is on what entrepreneurs do, and to them, are people who are driven primarily by the profit motive. Behaviourists describe entrepreneurs according to their characteristics, for example their achievement orientation, their propensity towards creativity and risk taking. Marxists regard entrepreneurs as exploiters. According to Du Toit *et al.*, (2009), corporate managers see entrepreneurs as small operators who lack the potential to manage a large enterprise. Proponents of a market economy see entrepreneurs as the economic force responsible for the prosperity of a country (Du Toit *et al.*, 2009:41).

There are different schools of thought to entrepreneurship theories. However, to explain the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth, the researcher uses economic theories of entrepreneurship. The theories to be used include Leibenstein's X-efficiency theory, the Hayek and Kirzner theory on the market process, the Knight on the role of uncertainty and Schumpeter's theory on innovation.

## 3.5.1 Leibenstein's X-efficiency (1978)

Leibenstein's theory describes essential characteristics of the environment in which the entrepreneur operates (Casson, 1982:364). According to Leibenstein, in the world of the entrepreneur, it is inefficiency which is the normal state of affairs.

X-efficiency is defined as the degree of efficiency maintained by individuals and firms under conditions of imperfect completion (Investopedia, 2011) X-efficiency arises either because the firm's resources are used in a wrong way or because they are wasted. Leibenstein regarded entrepreneurship as a creative response to X-efficiency. He also believed that individuals have different attitudes and hence different behaviours.

Investopedia (2011) mentions that in neo-classical economics, under perfect competition, individuals and firms should maximise efficiency in order to succeed and make profits. Firms that will not maximise efficiency will fail or can be forced to exit the market.

The X-efficiency theory asserts that under conditions of less-than-perfect competition, inefficiency may persist (Investopedia, 2011). This theory is controversial for the fact that it conflicts with the assumption of utility-maximising behaviour which is an axiom well accepted in the economic theory. According to Investopedia (2011) some economists argue that the concept of x-efficiency is merely the observance of workers' utility-maximising trade-off between effort and leisure.

Harvey Leibenstein's (in Binks & Vale, 1990) observations in 1968 suggest that a successful entrepreneur needs to synchronise inputs from several different markets which imply that two types of entrepreneurs can be identified. The first type refers to Schumpeter's entrepreneur, who arranges new combinations, while the second type refers to an entrepreneur who performs managerial functions by establishing or organising traditional combinations.

## 3.5.2 Hayek and Kirzner on the market process (1948)

Hayek visualises a world in which there is a continuous process of discovery; mainly minor discoveries about individual wants at particular times and places. According to Hayek, these discoveries are localised, so that different people have access to different information.

For Kirzner, the adjustment of price is the main role of the entrepreneur. According to Kirzner, alertness to disequilibrium is the distinguishing characteristic of the

entrepreneur. He defined the entrepreneur as anyone who is alert to profitable opportunities for exchange (Deakins & Freel, 2009:4).

The Kirznerian entrepreneurs are alert to opportunities for trade and they play an intermediary role and make profit. These possibilities of making profits exist because of imperfect knowledge. According to Kirzner, entrepreneurs have some additional knowledge which is not generally possessed by others, and this allows them to take advantage of profitable opportunities as they arise (Deakins & Freel, 2009:4).

Information in the market place is crucial for the Kirznerian entrepreneur (Deakins & Freel, 2009:4). It is the possession of additional knowledge that provides opportunities for creative discoveries. This is in contrast to the Schumpeterian view where anyone could potentially possess the additional knowledge and be alert to the business opportunities.

#### 3.5.3 Knight on the role of uncertainty (1921)

Knight identifies the entrepreneur as the recipient of profit. He identified profit as the reward to the entrepreneur for bearing costs for uncertainty. He emphasised the speculative nature of entrepreneurship.

Knight's view of an entrepreneur is close to the commonly held view of the entrepreneur as a calculated risk taker (Deakins & Freel, 2009:6). For Knight an entrepreneur is an individual who is prepared to undertake risk and reap the reward. According to Deakins and Freel (2009:4), the reward for bearing uninsurable risk and uncertainty is the profit that will be earned by the entrepreneur.

The opportunity for profit arises out of uncertainty surrounding change. If change is perfectly predictable, then no opportunity for profit would exist (Deakins & Freel, 2009:6). The entrepreneur is an individual who is prepared to undertake risk in an uncertain world.

According to Deakins and Freel (2009:6), Knight distinguished between risk and uncertainty. Risk happens when one have certain predictable outcomes. The

outcomes should be predicted with a certain degree of profitability. On the other hand, uncertainty arises when the probability of outcomes cannot be calculated.

Knight acknowledged the importance of management skills to entrepreneurs. According to Deakins and Freel (2009:6), one of the characteristics of entrepreneurs (following Knight) could be of taking the responsibility for one's own actions.

We can safely say that the Knightian entrepreneur is anyone who is prepared to undertake the risk of setting up their own business. The problem with this theory is that any risk taker can be termed an entrepreneur (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7). Subsequently, the entrepreneur is anyone who has the confidence and venturesome enough to make judgements about the uncertain future and reward for this is profits that will be earned.

#### 3.5.4 Schumpeter on innovation (1934)

Schumpeter offers a much more far-reaching view of entrepreneurship than any other theories do. According to Schumpeter, the entrepreneur is the prime mover in economic development, and his/her function is to innovate or carry out new innovations. He identified the entrepreneur as a force to economic change who brings creative destruction to the economy by revolutionising the production processes with newer and more efficient ones. Unlike Kirzner's entrepreneur, Schumpeter's entrepreneur is a special person for he/she is an innovator and one who brings about change through the introduction of new technological processes or products (Deakins & Freel, 2009:4).

For Kirzner, anyone has the potential to be an entrepreneur and he / she operates within set production constraints. This is not the same for Schumpeter. Schumpeter believed that only certain extra ordinary people have the ability to be entrepreneurs and they bring about extra ordinary events (Deakins & Freel, 2009:4). According to Schumpeter, an entrepreneur changes technological possibilities, alters convention through innovative activity and hence, moves production constraints. A Schumpeterian entrepreneur develops new technology, whereas the Kirznerian entrepreneur operates on opportunities that arise out of new technology.

In the Schumpeterian view, it is an entrepreneur who is the catalyst for economic change, which is voiced by the caption below.

"The process of creative destruction, in which entrepreneurs create new ideas and new businesses that make existing ones absolute, is a sign of a vibrant economy (Zimmerer & Scarborough, 2008:5).

Joseph Schumpeter, a prominent Australian economist, challenged various assumptions underlying neoclassical economics. Schumpeter saw the entrepreneur as the source of new demand through the process of innovation (Barreira *et al.*, 2008:68).

It is entrepreneurs who play an important role by challenging the *status quo*, and enter the market using innovations (Barreira *et al.*, 2008:68).

Ahwireng-Obeng (2006:190) and Barreira *et al.*, (2008:68) are of the view that in Schumpeter's analysis, entrepreneurs innovate by carrying out one or more of the following activities:

- introducing new goods or a new quality of goods;
- introduction of new methods of production;
- opening up new markets;
- discovering new sources of supply of raw materials or semi-processed goods; and
- reorganising the structure of an industry, for example creating a monopoly or even breaking up an existing one.

## 3.5.5 Shackle's theory

According to Deakins and Freel (2009:7), Shackle's entrepreneur is one who is creative and imaginative. Unlike Kirzner's entrepreneur who perceives, Shackle's entrepreneur imagines opportunities, and everyone potentially has this creative ability that is excised in making choices. The role of uncertainty and imperfect information remains important for the view of the role of the entrepreneur by

Shackle (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7). It is uncertainty that gives rise to opportunities for certain individuals to imagine opportunities for profit.

Shackle's entrepreneur is creative and original (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7). The act of imagination is important for identifying the potential of opportunities. This potential is compared to resources available, which can lead to the decision to produce, hence the act of entrepreneurship.

Shackle indicates that creativity is an important element in the entrepreneurial process, but how this creative process occurs, and the factors which may influence it, remain areas that are just beginning to be explored (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7). Entrepreneurship education, among other factors may influence an individual's ability to be creative. Other factors include personal background, experiences and attitudes (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7).

#### 3.5.6 Casson's Theory

Casson attempts to synthesise some of these entrepreneurial attributes and concepts that were discussed by other major writers. Casson recognises that the entrepreneur will have different skills (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7). It is skills and knowledge that enables the entrepreneur to make judgements, to coordinate scarce resources.

According to Casson, the entrepreneur makes judgemental decisions that involve the reallocation of resources. Casson emphasised that lack of capital may be a barrier for successful entrepreneurship. This is because entrepreneurs require command over resources if they are to back their judgements and decisions.

Casson's view is closer to that of Knight than for other writers (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7) in that he also believes that an entrepreneur operates within a set of technological conditions, by making difficult judgemental decisions they are able to enjoy the reward of bearing risk. The desire for profit and the ability to judge enables the entrepreneur to coordinate demand and supply under uncertainty (Deakins & Freel, 2009:7).

According to Deakins and Freel (2009:7), Casson's insight is to view change as an accompaniment to entrepreneurship and it is the pace of change that provides opportunities.

#### **3.6 CHAPTER SUMMARY**

This chapter covered entrepreneurship, economic growth and the theories of entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship was defined and discussed, it was also differentiated from management. Entrepreneurs are differentiated from ordinary small business owners. This chapter also explained why entrepreneurs are important to any country. The role of entrepreneurs in economic growth was also given attention to. Economic theories of entrepreneurship were used to explain the role of entrepreneurs, the importance of entrepreneurship and why it is important to develop entrepreneurial skills in South Africans. The next chapter (Chapter 4) focuses mainly on entrepreneurship education.

# CHAPTER FOUR

# **ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION**

#### **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

The key to success in establishing a culture of entrepreneurship in South Africa is education" (Gouws, 2002:41)

South Africa has a very high unemployment rate, low economic growth and a dismal Total Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) (Swanepoel, Strydom & Nieuwenhuizen, 2010:58; Von Broembsen, Wood & Herrington, 2005:36). These are real challenges and threats to the national economy; hence both the government and private businesses are attempting to address these challenges.

Some researchers in the economic spectrum agree that the development of the abilities and skills of SMME owners and managers is key to increased competitiveness and also sustainable growth of SMMEs as well as the growth of the national economy (Lange, Ottens & Taylor, 2000:5; Rogerson, 2001:117; Tustin, 2003:43; Volkman, 2004:1; Lowe & Mariot, 2006:105). This therefore means developing the SMME sector through empowering owners and managers with appropriate skills which then should be able to improve the TEA of South Africa.

The difference between SMMEs that grow and those that find it difficult to grow is the ability of SMME operators to learn and acquire skills (Robertson, 2003:461; Henry, Hill & Leitch, 2005:100). This issue shows that improving entrepreneurship education may be able to improve the economy of the nation and ultimately help solve its socio-economic challenges, especially unemployment and low economic growth.

Karimi, Chizari, Biemans and Mulder (2010:35) are of the view that it is because entrepreneurship has long been considered as a significant factor in socioeconomic growth and development, and thus has caused a tremendous increase in entrepreneurship education at various colleges and universities around the globe, and South Africa is no exception. It is clear that entrepreneurship education is assuming an extraordinary relevance within academic programmes all over the world, but there is very little known about it from a research prospective (Alberti, Sciascia & Poli, 2004:1). Although entrepreneurship education ranks high on policy agendas in many countries, little research is available to assess its impact (Von Gravenitz *et al*, 2010:90). The effects emanating from entrepreneurship education are also still poorly understood, despite the wide promotion of entrepreneurship education (Von Gravenitz *et al*, 2010:91). There are still doubts about whether entrepreneurship education actually affect SMME performance or contribute significantly to SMME success (Devins, Johnson & Sutherland, 2004:449).

Other researchers argue that there is a limit to what can be taught and learnt (Kunene, 2008:119) while some are of the view that personal experience may be the best teacher of entrepreneurship (Freeman, 2000:372; Massey, 2004:458). All this highlights the debate about the usefulness of the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the world.

Entrepreneurship education has been rapidly promoted in educational institutions (Gurol & Astan, 2006:27) and this came as a response to the plea for the advancement of entrepreneurship education in the formal school curriculum that came from various sources, including the formal education sector, the private sector and Non Governmental Organisations (North, 2002:24). Entrepreneurship education is said to be very important in the nurturing of the entrepreneur (Hisrich, Peters & Dean, 2008:58).

#### 4.2 ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

Alberti *et al.*, (2004:5) stated that entrepreneurship education was pioneered by Shigeru Fijii, who started teaching in this field in 1938 at Kobe University in Japan. In 1947, Myles Mace had introduced the first course in entrepreneurship in the United States of America at the Harvard Business School (Katz, 2003). Resultantly, in less than half a century, entrepreneurship education had already gained a more universal recognition (Alberti *et al*, 2004:5).

Despite the fact that entrepreneurship education is not a totally new discipline, there is still considerable uncertainty and debate as to whether entrepreneurs are born or made (Henry *et al.*, 2005:98; Botha, 2006:48; Morh *et al.*, 2009). Most of the empirical studies conducted, indicate that entrepreneurship can be taught and education can actually beneficially foster entrepreneurship (Kunene, 2008:118).

Other researchers uphold the notion that entrepreneurship can be cultivated in individuals (Rwegima, 2004:48; Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, 2004:190) and that entrepreneurs can be created and enhanced by acquiring and developing certain behaviours (Klofstein & Spaeth, 2004:5). Rae (2000:145) asks how people learn to work in entrepreneurial ways. Stokes, Wilson and Mador (2010:30) argue that human beings have entrepreneurial behaviours, attributes and skills that can be developed through learning, and in this instance, is entrepreneurship education.

Among other authors, the trainability of entrepreneurs is also accepted and supported by McClelland, (1961:1); Hisrich and Peters, (2002:19) and; Pretorius and Van Vuuren, (2003:515). Some writers in the field of entrepreneurship have been successful to prove that entrepreneurship can actually be learnt, just like any discipline. In 1985, Peter Drucker, who is recognised as one of the leading management thinkers, stated that entrepreneurship is not magic, it is not mysterious and it has nothing to do with one's genes. According to Drucker (1985), Freeman (2000:372), Massey, (2004:458) and Timmons and Spenelli, (2007), entrepreneurship can actually be taught and learnt. This justifies the need for entrepreneurship education as a solution to the low total entrepreneurial activity, unemployment and low economic growth in South Africa.

According to Rwegima and Venter, (2004:66) and Wickham, (1998:15) mentioned that entrepreneurship education can affect an entrepreneurs' development. Wickham, (1998:15) argued that genes alone do not determine who becomes a successful entrepreneur. He argued that learning to be entrepreneurial is like learning to do anything else. It is just a form of behaviour, and behaviour is learnt (Wickham, 1998:xi).

The Consortium of Entrepreneurship Education, (2004:1) mentioned that it is through effective entrepreneurship education that people can access the skills and knowledge needed to start and grow an entrepreneurial venture. Stokes *et al.*, (2010:164) state that entrepreneurship education encompasses a wide range of and many different styles of learning.

Entrepreneurship education seeks to prepare people to be responsible, enterprising individuals who are able to take risks, manage results and learn from outcomes (Bbenkele & Ndedi, 2010:5). It also helps SMME owners and managers to learn how to prevent and solve business problems (Robertson *et al.*, 2003:314; Ladzani & Van Vuuren, 2002:156; Hisrich *et al.*, 2008:58). Entrepreneurship education can also help enhance leadership and boost the need for achievement, enhance self confidence and influence growth-related entrepreneurial and managerial attitudes and perceptions as well as alleviate the fear of failure in business (Ibrahim, Soufani, Poutziouris & Lam, 2004:478).

Since this study seeks to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Municipality in South Africa, it is important to assess the state of entrepreneurship education in South Africa.

#### 4.2.1 Entrepreneurship education in South Africa

The current state of the South African economy is a cause of concern for citizens who are confronted with real challenges like crime, mismanagement, corruption and unemployment (North, 2002:24). Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005:36) clearly shows that there is a low total entrepreneurial activity among South African citizens as compared to other countries. Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005:36) reports that most South African youths do not believe that they have the skills to start a business and this may be attributed to the low proportion of South Africans that have completed secondary education. In 2001 and 2002 the education and training system was regarded as the number one limiting factor for entrepreneurship in South Africa (Herrington & Wood, 2003:1). Fatoki and Garwe, 2010:731 also confirm that entrepreneurship education is still one of the prime factors limiting the growth of the economy of South Africa. This therefore means that an improvement in entrepreneurship education may improve the low rate of entrepreneurial activity of SMMEs in South Africa, which is regarded as the economic engine of the African continent.

Davies (2001:31) noted that South Africa's capacity to absorb a new labour force into the formal sector has fallen from about 62% to less than 4% in the past four decades. Co and Mitchell (2006:348) are of the view that active intervention in the

form of entrepreneurship education is necessary if people, especially the youth are to escape the challenges that will come with unemployment.

Co and Mitchell (2006:348) stated that it is widely accepted and it is no longer surprising that the only way South Africa can address unemployment and revitalise the economy is through the rediscovery of the entrepreneur who is able to take calculated risks, one who breaks new ground and also is innovative. The South African economy needs entrepreneurs to address the problem of unemployment (Co & Mitchell, 2005:2). This therefore means that people need to be educated and trained so as to be equipped with entrepreneurial skills and values. Educating people in the field of entrepreneurship will encourage them to create jobs rather than just becoming job seekers.

Considering the challenges faced by the nation today, it is very unfortunate that the existing entrepreneurial base in South Africa is neither solid nor strong (Davies, 2001:32). This is mainly because the majority of South Africans have grown up with little or without home experience of entrepreneurship and they do not view themselves as potential entrepreneurs. According to Herrington and Wood (2003:2), there is a need to raise entrepreneurial awareness and create a good grounding in entrepreneurial skills including basic business, administration and financial skills in South Africa. Herrington and Wood (2003:10) stressed the importance of developing an entrepreneurial mindset which includes the perception by individuals that they have the ability to succeed as entrepreneurs and that entrepreneurship can be a desirable career path.

Lack of entrepreneurship education has been identified by South African experts as one of the prime factors in South Africa (Herrington and Wood, 2003:11; Fatoki and Garwe, 2010:731). Umsobomvu (2002:2) recommended that entrepreneurship education be integrated into the school curriculum at all levels so as to build a strong entrepreneurial culture.

It has to be noted that entrepreneurship is still a young developing field (Alberti *et al.*, 2004:4) with growing importance in the global business environment and it is for this reason that there has been an increased demand for entrepreneurship education. Entrepreneurship education is still at its early developmental stages

(Mitchell, 2006:349) even though some institutions of higher learning in South Africa have been involved since the early 1990s (Co & Mitchell, 2006:357).

North (2002:24) notes that there is an urgent need for young people to be educated and trained in the field of entrepreneurship. This shows the importance of entrepreneurship education. He argued that entrepreneurship education can contribute to the ideal of empowering as many people as possible so as to unleash the previously stifled human potential of South Africans. Entrepreneurship education is an important factor that can contribute to the development of an entrepreneurial culture in developing countries (Burger *et al.*, 2005:90).

Programmes which aim to develop entrepreneurship are numerous in South Africa but tangible results are difficult to see. This may be because of insufficient growth within existing firms to reduce unemployment (Bbenkele & Ndedi, 2010:1) thus also motivating the need for this study.

Due to the history of discouragement of entrepreneurship and the culture of working for others, there is still an absence of entrepreneurial education for young people in a way that could encourage them to enter business and acquire a culture of entrepreneurship (Agupusi, 2007:15). Bbenkele and Ndedi (2010:5) noted that entrepreneurship education is a common course of study in higher education settings. They also mentioned that to successfully address the challenge of youth unemployment, certain things need to be developed regarding the training of potential entrepreneurs through tertiary institutions. Karimi *et al.*, (2010:37) agree that entrepreneurship education can play a crucial and significant role in changing views of South Africans towards self-employment and gaining necessary skills to manage a business. In Ndedi and Bbenkele's (2010:5) view, it is the behaviour to engage in the start-up process that really matters and that is what is lacking in most entrepreneurship programmes in South Africa.

South Africa's future entrepreneurial capacity depends on how well the nation is equipping individual citizens to start their own businesses and to individuals to be able to provide employment, not only for themselves, but also for others (GEM, 2005:36). It is beyond reasonable doubt that education is key and

entrepreneurship education may play a critical role in developing the culture of entrepreneurship in South Africa and the rest of the continent.

To realise the ideal of a better life for all South Africans, the entrepreneurial energies and capabilities of all citizens should be harnessed and improved to ensure that the country's full potential for economic growth is unleashed (North, 2002:24). Improving and promoting entrepreneurship education in South Africa at all levels of education and to all people will help the nation realise the goal of economic growth, employment creation and also improve its Total Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA).

## 4.2.2 Entrepreneurship Education defined

Education is defined as the theory and practice of teaching or information about training in a particular subject (Oxford Dictionary, 2005). Foxcroft *et al.*, (2002:18), defined entrepreneurship education as the extent to which the education system is effective in providing instruction and experience in the creation and management of SMMEs.

Entrepreneurship education can also be defined as a life-long learning process which proceeds through at least five distinct stages of development (Consortium for Entrepreneurship Education, 2004:6). The stages include the basics, competence awareness, creative applications, start up and finally, growth.

Jones and English (2004) in Mauchi, Karambakuwa, Gopo, Kosmas, Mangwende and Gombarume (2011:1307) define entrepreneurship education as the process of providing individuals with the ability to recognise commercial opportunities and the knowledge, attitudes and skills to act on them. Entrepreneurship education can be defined as the transfer and facilitation of knowledge about how, by whom, and with what effects opportunities to create future commodities are discovered, evaluated and finally exploited.

Ladzani and Van Vuuren (2002:155) defined entrepreneurship education as a three-legged pot of motivational, entrepreneurial and business skills training. Stokes *et al.*, (2010:1) stated that human beings have behaviours, attributes and skills which can be developed through learning, which is also the case with

entrepreneurship education. The definition of entrepreneurship education adapted at European level stresses that this concept is much wider than just 'training on how to start a business' (Raposo & Do Paco, 2010:1).

According to Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:614), entrepreneurship education is defined as the purposeful intervention by an instructor in the life of the learner to impart entrepreneurial qualities and skills to enable the learner to survive in the business world. Alberti, Sciascia and Poli (2004:5) defined entrepreneurship education as the structured and formal transmission of entrepreneurial competencies, which in other words, refers to the skills, concepts and mental awareness used by individuals during the process of starting and developing their growth oriented ventures.

Although the definitions seem different, they all include the development and improvement of entrepreneurial awareness, knowledge, skills and concepts in the field of entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship education is developing and improving the competencies that are needed to successfully establish and run an entrepreneurial venture.

#### 4.2.3 Objectives of Entrepreneurship Education

Karimi *et al.*, (2010:37) are of the view that entrepreneurship education tries to prepare people to be responsible, to take risks, to manage the business and to learn from the outcomes by immersing themselves in real life learning experiences. The main objective of entrepreneurship education is to foster the creation of new entrepreneurs who could start new ventures (Tobias & Ingrams, 2010:2).

Entrepreneurship education seeks to prepare people to be responsible, enterprising individuals, who become entrepreneurial thinkers and contribute to sustainable economic development (The Consortium for Entrepreneurship Education: 2004:3). It is also the objective of entrepreneurship education to encourage creative thinking and to promote a strong sense of self-worth and accountability. Entrepreneurship knowledge and skills are essential resources for the success of the SMMEs and ultimately for economic development (Stokes, Wilson & Mador, 2010:77). Entrepreneurship education has been driven especially by academics, business leaders, entrepreneurs as well as government officials seeking an advantage in a globalised world (Frederick, 2007:2).

Alberti et al., (2004:5) outlined three main sources that demand entrepreneurship education. The sources are the government, students and the business world. Burger et al., (2005:90) highlighted the expectations of entrepreneurship education. They agree with Jack and Anderson (1999:115) who pointed out that the government expect entrepreneurship education to contribute to job creation, economic growth, skills enhancement and the development of entrepreneurial culture which will ultimately eradicate poverty. Businesses on the other hand, expect entrepreneurship education to develop a general understanding of basic business issues, creative work attitudes and an entrepreneurial approach among learners (Jack & Anderson, 1999:112). Learners are said to expect entrepreneurship education to assist them in their quest to start new ventures and to develop skills that will allow them to be employable in bigger firms also (Jack & Anderson, 1999:116). Practicing entrepreneurs expect entrepreneurship education to help them solve the unique problems in their businesses (Young, 1997:218; Burger et al., 2005:90). Practicing entrepreneurs seek to grow their businesses, maximise their profitability and also to dominate the market.

Solomon (2007:171) identified focus areas that should be covered in entrepreneurship education. He states that entrepreneurship education needs to include skill building in negotiation, leadership, new product development, exposure to technological innovation and creative thinking. Other areas that can be identified as crucial for entrepreneurship education include awareness of entrepreneurial career options, sources of capital, characteristics that define entrepreneurial personality, idea protection and challenges that can be faced at each stage of business development (Kabongo & Okpara, 2010:297).

Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen (2009:14) are of the opinion that the core objective of entrepreneurship education is to generate a greater variety of ideas, to show how

to exploit a business opportunity and to cover the existence sequence of actions for entering a business or creating a new venture.

Individuals and organisations seek entrepreneurship education for varying reasons. Alberti *et al.,* (2005:8-9) state that the following are the most cited objectives of entrepreneurship education, which are to:

- acquire knowledge relevant to entrepreneurship;
- acquire skills in the use of techniques, in the analysis of business situations and in the synthesis of action plans. This objective aims at the promotion of skills of analysis and synthesis in the use of knowledge about accounting, marketing, finance and general management in a holistic way;
- identify and stimulate entrepreneurial drive, talent and skill;
- develop empathy and support for the unique aspect of entrepreneurship;
- undo the risk adverse bias many analytical techniques and to revise attitudes towards change; and
- encourage new start-ups and other entrepreneurial ventures and to stimulate the 'effective socialisation element' in oneself.

Alberti *et al.*, (2004:9) stress that entrepreneurship education aims at building the so- called entrepreneurial competencies, which are considered as combinations of different entrepreneurial skills, knowledge and attitudes.

Arogundade (2011:27) reported that entrepreneurship education is structured to achieve the following, which is to:

- enable individuals to be self-employed and self-reliant;
- enable people to be creative and innovative in identifying business opportunities;
- serve as a catalyst for development and economic growth;
- reduce the level of poverty;

- create employment opportunities;
- reduce rural-urban migration;
- empower tertiary institution graduates with adequate training in risk management; and
- inculcate the spirit of persistence in people which will enable them to persist in any business venture.

It is the understanding of the objectives of entrepreneurship education programmes that introduces a deeper understanding of different audiences for entrepreneurship education.

## 4.2.4 Target audience of entrepreneurship education

Traditionally, entrepreneurship education was addressed to small business owners and managers, and those who wanted to start their businesses, but nowadays it is taught to a very diverse audience, varying from those with little formal education to those who hold PhDs and also to people in different countries in the world (Brockhaus, 2001; Alberti *et al.*, 2004:10).

Block and Stumpf (1992:19) suggest that if the definition of entrepreneurship used, is the pursuit of opportunities without regard to the currently available resources, the audience of entrepreneurship education will as well broaden considerably beyond potential new business starters. This will allow many categories of people to be included as potential audiences of entrepreneurship education. The audience of entrepreneurship education can include the self employed, small business starters, managers of organisations, scholars, SMME advisors and consultants.

Segmenting the audience of entrepreneurship education is important for different categories of people who usually have different learning needs (Ghosh & Bloch, 1994). Referring to the audiences identified by Block and Stumpf (1992:19), entrepreneurs, managers, people with entrepreneurial spirit and scholars will be considered as possible categories of entrepreneurship education, which are:

- Entrepreneurs Active entrepreneurs who perceive a need for entrepreneurial and management training is generally the most common target for entrepreneurship education.
- Managers Both line and senior managers may want to foster an entrepreneurial spirit, focused on identification and exploitation of opportunities in the people that they manage. This may be the need for entrepreneurship education to managers.
- People with entrepreneurial spirit People who want to kindle the entrepreneurial spirit within themselves need and may seek entrepreneurship education. Individuals with an entrepreneurial spirit show an attitude towards experiencing new situations, enhancing change and being open and flexible about new views and ideas. Learning objectives and needs of these people may include the development of empathy and support for entrepreneurship, and also identification and stimulation of entrepreneurial talent and skills.
- Scholars Scholars are individuals who wish to explore entrepreneurship at an intellectual level. Their purpose is not really to become entrepreneurs, but to acquire knowledge about the peculiarities of entrepreneurship, without having a mind to direct application to their career. Scholars also include students and academics interested in entrepreneurship education as a discipline.

## 4.3 BENEFITS OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

It has been argued that acquiring and developing entrepreneurial competencies is more important than the direct provision of financial resources and consulting support that may be needed by entrepreneurs (Pretorious, 2001:223; Ladzani & van Vuuren, 2002:158; Nasser, Du Preez & Herrmann, 2003:399). Rae (2000:145); Dana (2001:405); Toye (2002:26); Nieman, Hough, & Nieuwenhuizen, (2003:12); Robertson (2003:470) suggest that entrepreneurial and management skills which are central for the running of successful SMMEs, can be developed through entrepreneurship education.

Considering the fact that there are different audiences that intend to benefit from entrepreneurship education, the benefits of entrepreneurship education will definitely be different to different individuals or organisations. Herrington and Wood (2003:10), Botha (2006:47) and Henry *et al.*, (2005:102) highlighted the following as the benefits and advantages of entrepreneurship education which are that it;

- plays a critical role in raising awareness of the nature and importance of entrepreneurship to economic growth of a nation;
- contributed to the development and building of an entrepreneurship culture in any country;
- can help aspiring entrepreneurs by equipping them with practical skills and knowledge that is required in SMME start-up and management towards growth of their ventures;
- can also develop attitudes, perceptions and mindsets that are not averse to risk taking, failure and competition;
- can increase the intrinsic motivation and self confidence of both emerging and existing entrepreneurs;
- makes people realise that entrepreneurs can be made and not necessarily born; and
- Starting a business is risky as it is, but the possibility of success can be enhanced if the problems anticipated are understood and solutions investigated prior to the business start-up through entrepreneurship education.

According to the Consortium for Entrepreneurship Education (2004:3) entrepreneurship education empowers individuals with knowledge and skills. The knowledge and skills that can be gained from entrepreneurship education include the ability to recognise opportunities, the ability to pursue opportunities by coming up with new ideas and marshalling the needed resources, the ability to create and manage a new venture and the ability to think in a creative and critical manner.

Charney, Libecap and Center (2000:1) are of the opinion that entrepreneurship education has become popular in many countries for the following reasons which are that it:

- allows people to integrate finance, accounting, marketing economics, and other business disciplines. This is an enriching and integrative educational experience on the part of learners;
- can promote the formation of new businesses and enhance their employment prospects, and their success in the job market; and
- may also promote technology transfer from the learning institutions to the market. Entrepreneurship education creates links between the business and academic communities.

On the other hand, Driver *et al.*, (2001:29) mention that there are arguments that the education field does not lead itself to possibility of start-up because the education system in South Africa does little to nature entrepreneurial activities). In South Africa this can be said to be as a result of challenges in entrepreneurship education.

## 4.4 CHALLENGES CONFRONTING ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

Although entrepreneurship education has been promoted in the world and in South Africa as a way of improving entrepreneurial activity and ultimately eradicate poverty, there are still barriers to effective entrepreneurship education in South Africa.

The challenges that confront South Africa as far as entrepreneurship education is concerned include:

- overall lack of entrepreneurial elements in the education system (Foxcroft *et al.*, 2002:15);
- inappropriate learning methodologies (Botha, 2006:5);
- most education programmes are not being outcome or skill development based (Ladzani & Van Vuuren, 2002:155); and

 entrepreneurship is not being promoted as a career option since the education system promotes a large firm culture whereby the majority of students plan to work for someone else after graduation (Antonites, 2003:31).

## 4.5 ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND THE PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs

Kangasharju (2000:30) states that in order to prevent business failures and promote SMME growth, the lack of appropriate skills must be addressed. This indicates that if certain skills lack, SMMEs will continue to fail and they will not grow. This calls for the promotion of entrepreneurship education to improve the skills of entrepreneurs. It is because of this expectation that more and better entrepreneurship education would result in more and better entrepreneurs that drives the proliferation of entrepreneurship education (Kabongo & Okpara, 2010:296).

Entrepreneurship education is said to be a key element in the successful venture creation (GEM, 2005:5). Relevant research suggests important links between education, venture creation and entrepreneurial performance (Raposo & Do Paco, 2010:1). Most of these researches show a positive relationship between education and performance of SMMEs. This is also supported by Maas and Herrington (2006:12) who stated that entrepreneurial performance is highly dependent on effective entrepreneurship education. It can no longer be rejected that education has a strong impact on entrepreneurship (Driver *et al.*, 2001:16).

Driver *et al.*, (2001:4) stated that lack of entrepreneurship education limit the performance of SMMEs in South Africa. According to Timmons and Spinelli (2007:64), successful entrepreneurs possess not only creative and innovative flair, but also strong general management skills, business know-how and sufficient contacts. Lack of these skills and knowledge in owners and managers of SMMEs will generally limit the performance and competitiveness of these ventures. Aderemi, Ilori, Siyanbola, Adegbite, Abereijo (2008:173) also found that SMME performance was related to business skills and motivation of the owner or manager.

Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005) pointed out that individuals who believe that they have the skills to start a business are far more likely to start a business and succeed, than people who do not believe they have the skills. The same report (Von Broembsen, *et al.*, 2005:36) shows that most South Africans do not believe they have entrepreneurial skills, hence the low new firm creation and the high failure rate. Entrepreneurship education helps to improve confidence in SMME operators.

Other studies have shown evidence that entrepreneurship education can lead to a positive effect on success and growth of the majority of SMMEs (Simpson *et al.*, 2004:481; Keough, 2003:17; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2004:478; Mueller & Thomas, 2001:68). It has also been found that lack of entrepreneurship education leads to skills shortages and hinders entrepreneurship (Pretorius & Shaw, 2004:222; Ligthelm & Cant, 2002:6; Ladzani & Van Vuuren, 2002:156; Tustin, 2003:38)

Antonites (2003:31) mentions that many studies have proved that entrepreneurs can be taught to stimulate entrepreneurial activity and performance. This creation of entrepreneurs is partially dependent on the creation and advancement of efficient entrepreneurship education programmes (Pretorius *et al.*, 2005:100; Gurol & Atsan, 2006:26).

The study by Mutezo (2005:89) showed that entrepreneurs require business skills training and also entrepreneurial skills training. The performance of an entrepreneurial venture is critically influenced by the knowledge, skills and experience of the entrepreneur. Possession of adequate skills for entrepreneurial success is very crucial and some level of education is another success indicator for entrepreneurship (Ekpe, 2011:288). According to Kunene (2008:122), entrepreneurship education improves skills that enhance SMME development and entrepreneurial performance in terms of productivity, competitiveness, profitability and, increase in sales, assets and employees (Clover & Darroch, 2005:257; Henry, Hill & Leitch, 2005:102).

Successful entrepreneurs have particular skills, expertise and aptitudes that can be applied profitably in any enterprise. It is best to start and run an enterprise in something that one is more comfortable with or know of or at least in which one is skilled (Nieuwenhuizen, 2000:41). Entrepreneurship education is relevant and can determine whether a venture will succeed or fail.

It will be difficult to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education without looking at the indicators or measures of entrepreneurship education. It is important to discuss how entrepreneurship education is assessed or measured. The following section discusses how entrepreneurship education can be assessed or measured.

#### 4.6 THE ASSESSMENT OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

It is very important to measure or assess the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in South Africa, for this will show whether the objectives of entrepreneurship education are being achieved. In the past, little attention has been dedicated to how to measure the overall effectiveness of entrepreneurship education towards both individuals and the society (McMullan & Gillin, 2001).

According to Alberti *et al.*, (2004:16) the main challenges related to the assessment of entrepreneurship education lie in measuring output from the entrepreneurial education process. The methods for assessing the results of entrepreneurship education are still not well defined and there is no one standardised and generally accepted way of measuring the results (Alberti *et al.*, 2004:16)

Although it may seem difficult to determine the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the performance of SMMEs, some output measures of entrepreneurship education can be used to determine this relationship. Changes in entrepreneurial skills, changes in orientation towards entrepreneurial careers, changes in personal assessment of entrepreneurial skills and knowledge are some of the output measures for entrepreneurship education (Wickham, 1989; Alberti *et al.*, 2004:16).

The lack of generally accepted measures of entrepreneurship education may be as a result of a number of factors that characterise entrepreneurship education. Factors characterising entrepreneurship education include the different target groups, different objectives and also different levels of analysis (Alberti *et al.*, 2004:16).

#### 4.7 GOVERNMENT SUPPORT TO ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

In 1994, the new South African government's Reconstruction and Development Programme (RDP) placed a major emphasis on entrepreneurial awareness, education and training (Klofsten & Spaeth, 2004:8). The government and other Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) support SMMEs through entrepreneurship education and business advice (Clover & Darroch, 2005:257)

Ensuring access in entrepreneurship education programmes that upgrade the capacity of SMMEs, is cited as the main way in which the government can promote the establishment and growth of SMMEs and also reduce the high failure rate (Luiz, 2002:68). It is thus realised that the key to success in establishing a culture of entrepreneurship in South Africa is education (Gouws, 2002:41; Herrington & Wood, 2003:11).

Entrepreneurship education is considered important for economic prosperity (Sullivan, 2000:162; Kunene, 2008:119) hence the need for governments to focus on developing and improving access and the quality of entrepreneurship education. Many African governments' efforts to reduce unemployment have resulted in policy initiatives that are aimed at raising skills levels through entrepreneurship education (Massey, 2004:458; Sutherland, 2004:449). Subsequently, it is entrepreneurship education that is said to facilitate higher levels of performance in entrepreneurship (Foxcroft *et al.*, 2002:29).

#### 4.8 INSTITUTIONS THAT SUPPORT ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

Ladzani and Van Vuuren (2002:156) mention that organisations wishing to develop entrepreneurship education are of the view that the main reason for venture failure is lack of entrepreneurship education. In the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa, there are various institutions that support SMMEs. The institutions include, but are not limited to, the Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA), commercial banks, Khula Enterprise Finance and the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC).

#### 4.8.1 Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA)

According to the South Africa Yearbook 2006/2007, the National Small Business Act of 1996 was amended in 2004 to provide for the merging of Ntsika Enterprise Development Agency and the National Manufacturing Advisory Centre to form the integrated Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA) on 13 December 2004.

According to SEDA (2010), SEDA is an agency of the South African Department of Trade and Industry (DTI). It is mandated to implement the government's small business strategy; design and implement a standard and common national delivery network for small enterprise development; and integrate governmentfunded small enterprise support agencies across all tiers of government.

SEDAs mission is to develop, support and promote small enterprises throughout the country, ensuring their growth and sustainability in co-ordination and partnership with various role players, including global partners, who make international beneficial practices available to local entrepreneurs. This is critical in alleviating poverty in South Africa, as the small enterprise sector has a significant and valuable contribution to make in sustainable and equitable social and economic development, as well as employment and wealth creation.

SEDA is committed to building the sector through the development of SMMEs, so that this incredible potential may be realised. To this end, it offers SMMEs advice, counselling, mentorship, guidance and access to vital contacts through its nationwide network of 9 provincial offices, 40 district branches, 4 mobile units, 46 Enterprise Information Centres and 29 Technology Incubators across the country.

Products and services to which entrepreneurs have access, include, among others, information and advice, training and mentoring, business planning and registration, incubation and technology transfer as well as sector specific training and development programmes.

According to Nieman and Neuwenhuizen (2009), SEDA provides non-financial support to SMMEs and is the most extensive business network in South Africa. It does not give out loans or grants.

According to the Department of Trade and Industry (2007), SEDA provides the following key products and services, which are:

- business support information and company registrations;
- business analysis and advisory service;
- exporter development programme;
- mentorship;
- supplier development; and
- skills development.

Another organisation that supports SMMEs is Khula Enterprise Finance which is discussed in section 4.8.2.

## 4.8.2 Khula Enterprise Finance

Khula Enterprise Finance Limited was established in 1996 in terms of a Department of Trade and Industry initiative and operated as an independent, limited liability company (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:202).

According to Khula Enterprise Finance (2010), the company is a wholesale finance institution which operates across the public and private sectors, through a network of channels to supply much-needed funding to small businesses. Khula's channels include South Africa's leading commercial banks, retail financial institutions, specialist funds and joint ventures. Its primary aim is to bridge the "funding gap" in the SMME market not addressed by commercial financial institutions.

Its financial products include loans, a national credit indemnity guarantee scheme, grants, institutional capacity building, equity funds and mentorship schemes (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:202).

According to Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009), the roles of Khula are categorised into:

- providing support to financial intermediaries as retail distribution networks by offering them in a sustainable manner loans, guarantees and seed funds; and
- direct services to SMMEs by offering a range of financial resources and information to the public.

Commercial banks also play a role in developing the SMMEs sector in the Eastern Cape Province. Commercial banks are discussed briefly in section 4.8.3 that follows.

## 4.8.3 Commercial banks

Commercial banks in South Africa include the First National Bank, the Standard Bank, Nedbank and ABSA. These banks provide different services to SMMEs including providing finance in the form of bank loans. According to Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009), there has been criticism that banks do not help new businesses with finance, but that they are business ventures that have to minimise and manage their own risk.

#### 4.8.4 Universities

Universities in the Eastern Cape province of South Africa work with and assist SMMEs in the province through their community engagement initiatives. These universities include the University of Fort Hare, Walter Sisulu University, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University and the Rhodes University.

## 4.8.5 Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC)

According to the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (2011) the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC) is a dynamic economic development agency in the Eastern Cape province of South Africa. The ECDC is the official economic development agency for the Eastern Cape Province and it is wholly owned by the Eastern Cape Provincial government. This agency works with both the provincial and national ministries. ECDC works with the municipalities, businesses, communities and other development agencies to implement economic development policies, including empowering SMME operators in the province.

ECDC was formed in 1996 by an Act of the Eastern Cape legislature to plan, finance, market, coordinate and implement the development of the province in the fields of industry, commerce, agriculture, transport and also finance. The ECDC has the following as its strategic intentions, which are to:

- attract new investors and to position the province as the investment target of choice;
- stimulate reports and to facilitate economic development; and
- facilitate start-up businesses and to build the already existing ones.

The work of the ECDC is aligned with the strategic intent of the Provincial Growth and Development Plan (PGDP), the Eastern Cape's official roadmap to a prosperous future for all its people, as well as broader local and national policy interventions that are designed to deliver economic growth, employment and reduce or eradicate poverty in the whole of South Africa, which appears in table 4.1 on the next page, showing key support institutions for SMMEs in South Africa.

Table 4.1: Key support	t institutions	for	SMMEs
------------------------	----------------	-----	-------

INSTITUTION	ROLE OF SUPPORT INSTITUTION
Department of Trade and Industry	<ul> <li>Dedicated government policy and national strategy development department;</li> <li>Research agenda for the SMME sector and annual performance reviews.</li> </ul>
Small Enterprise Development Agency	<ul> <li>Dedicated national non-financial services agency targeting SMMEs through business support network, incubation and technology transfer network.</li> </ul>
Khula Enterprise Finance Ltd	• Dedicated national SMME finance agency targeting a loan size of R10 000 to R3 000 000 using retail financial institutions and commercial banks as a springboard.
The Enterprise Organisation	<ul> <li>Dedicated to business development incentives administration</li> </ul>

Source: Adapted from Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009)

From table 4.1 it shows the institutions, as well as their roles in supporting the South African business sector, the relevance of entrepreneurship education appears in the next section.

## 4.9 THE RELEVANCE OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION

Entrepreneurship education fosters entrepreneurship which in turn results in positive outcomes in individuals, firms and the society (Alberti *et al*, 2004:3). Figure 4.1 below summarises the relevance of entrepreneurship education.

## Figure 4.1: The relevance of Entrepreneurship education



Source: Researcher's owner's compilation

Figure 4.1 illustrates that the acquisition of entrepreneurship skills, concepts and knowledge will encourage more to engage in entrepreneurial activities. This will

help individuals earn income and make some profits. Innovation and creativity gained through entrepreneurship education improves competitiveness and also success chances of already established firms. Entrepreneurship education also benefits the society at large through employment creation, provision of the much needed goods and services and economic growth.

It is also important to look critically at the importance and impact of entrepreneurship education as discussed in section 4.9.1, starting with the conceptual model of entrepreneurship education and is illustrated in figure 4.2 on the next page.

#### 4.9.1 Conceptual model of entrepreneurship education

It is now clear that SMMEs play a critical role in the nation especially in helping achieving socio-economic goals of employment creation, economic growth and equitable distribution of wealth. SMMEs also play a role in reducing poverty in the nation through the provision of goods and services. However, it will not be easily possible to achieve these generic goals and solve the challenges faced by South Africa today considering the challenges that are faced by this important sector (SMME sector).

SMMEs in South Africa are confronted by various challenges, including high failure rate, low employment capacity, lack of growth in SMMEs and lack of educated entrepreneurs. These challenges are said to be the reason of lack of entrepreneurship knowledge and skills and also inaccessibility of finance.

It is possible that entrepreneurship education can help improve SMME performance. This will mean improved rate of establishment of new ventures, increased profitability, growth and also survival of SMMEs. By providing and improving entrepreneurship education, the performance of business ventures should be able to improve and ultimately eradicate poverty and reduce unemployment in the nation. The conceptual model of entrepreneurship education is shown in figure 4.2 on the next page.





Source: Researcher's own compilation

Figure 4.2 serves to show that acquiring entrepreneurial skills, qualities, concepts and awareness should increase chances of success in most SMMEs in the nation.

## 4.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter discussed entrepreneurship education in general. Different definitions of entrepreneurship education were also highlighted. More attention was given to the state and role of entrepreneurship education in South Africa. Objectives and
benefits of entrepreneurship education were also critically looked at and discussed. It was also found that there are various audiences for entrepreneurship education. These were discussed, focusing more on their different expectations. Challenges encountered in entrepreneurship education, the impact of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs and how the impact of entrepreneurship education can be assessed, formed part of this chapter. The relevance of entrepreneurship education and also the institutions that can support entrepreneurship education in South Africa, were discussed. The next chapter will discuss how this study was conducted. Chapter 5 discusses the research methodology.

# **CHAPTER FIVE**

# **RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

# **5.1 INTRODUCTION**

The previous chapter (Chapter 4) discussed entrepreneurship education. The aim of this chapter is to explain the research methodology followed in the empirical part of the study. According to Cooper and Schindler (2003:38), research methodology refers to the way in which data is gathered for a research project. It is the "blueprint" of the collection, measurement, and analysis of data in order to achieve the objectives of the research project.

This chapter discusses the research design, population and sample of the study at hand. The chapter further discusses methods and techniques by which data was collected. The instrument used to collect data is also discussed, together with the data analysis methods applied.

# 5.2 FOCUS OF THE RESEARCH

The study investigates the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in the Eastern Cape province of South Africa.

#### 5.2.1 Scope of the research

This study was delimited in scope to effectively meet the research objectives and to address the research problem.

#### 5.2.1.1 Study area

This study was conducted by making use of SMMEs specifically in East London and King Williams Town, in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. This area is within a two hundred (200) kilometre radius from the University of Fort Hare main campus.

This area forms the backbone of the economy of the Eastern Cape with its manufacturing sector contributing to 30% of the province's manufacturing output, and its services contributing to 39% of the province's community services output. This area is the second largest contributor to the economy of the Eastern Cape

Province; it contributes about 40% of the provincial Gross Domestic Product (Eastern Cape Socio-Economic Consultative Council, 2005:22).

#### 5.2.1.2 Survey population

Population refers to the total group of people or all elements about which information is needed (Proctor, 2000:88; Cant, *et al.*, 2005:162). The study focused on SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, in line with the definition of small businesses provided by the South African National Small Business Act 102 of 1996. The study only covered SMMEs in the retail, construction, manufacturing, wholesale and service sector that are part of the sample frame obtained from the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC). A sample frame can be described as a list of members of the population of interest that is eligible for inclusion in a sample (Proctor, 2000:455). The population for this study was 420 SMMEs.

When sampling, it is very important that researchers select respondents who are representative of all the elements (the total group of people) from whom the information is needed (Cant *et al.*, 2005:164). Proctor (2000:88) emphasise that it is crucial to define the population properly and precisely because failure to do so can lead to failure in solving the actual research problem. According to Proctor (2000:88), population needs to be defined in terms of the elements, units and time.

#### 5.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This study consists of two basic components as part of the research methodology. It consists of a literature review and an empirical study. The research design, and methods used to conduct this study are discussed below.

#### 5.3.1 Research design

A research design is a preliminary plan for conducting research (Cant *et al.*, 2005:46). It is a detailed plan that is used to thoroughly guide a research study towards achieving research objectives (Aaker, Kumar & Day, 2008:71). Cant *et al.*, 2005:46) emphasise that the correct research design saves time and money, resulting in valid and reliable results.

There are generally three basic types of research designs that are used in conducting primary research. These are qualitative research design, quantitative research design and triangulation, which is a combination of the two. Aaker *et al.*, (2008:71), and Zikmund and Babin (2010:132) note that the choice of a research design depends on the nature, the setting and the possible limitations of the research that the researcher wishes to conduct.

This study used a quantitative research design and is discussed below.

5.3.1.1 Quantitative research design

This study used the quantitative research design which was described by Ghauri and Gronhaug (2005:120) as studies whose findings are mainly the product of statistical summary or/and analysis.

Quantitative research involves the systematic and scientific collection of primary data to investigate the quantitative properties and phenomena and their relationship with the intention of projecting the results to a wider population (Cooper & Schindler, 2003:45). The aim of quantitative research is to generalise about a specific population, based on the results of a representative sample of that particular population. According to Cooper and Schindler (2003:45), quantitative research employs mathematical analysis to provide the fundamental connection between empirical observation and mathematical expression of quantitative relationships.

Quantitative research places a heavy emphasis on the use of structured questionnaires (Hair *et al.*, 2008:78). Quantitative research methods deal with problems that are specific and well-defined and also when the decision-maker and researcher have already agreed on the precise information needs.

# 5.3.1.2 Sampling procedure

According to Cooper and Schindler (2003:52) the basic idea of sampling is that by selecting some of the elements in a population, it becomes possible to draw conclusions about the entire population. A sample represents the elements of the target population (Zikmund & Babin, 2010:695). Sampling is the act, process, or technique of selecting a suitable representative part of a population for the

purpose of determining parameters or characteristics of the whole population (Cant *et al.*, 2005:163). The purpose of sampling is to make generalisations about the whole population which are valid and which allow prediction. It allows the researcher to draw conclusions about the entire population as it is possible to observe all relevant events in the population because of time and cost. Compelling reasons for sampling in this study are: lower cost, greater accuracy of results, greater speed of data collection, and availability of population elements.

According to Kumar (2005), sampling design is guided by two principles namely, the avoidance of bias in the selection of a sample and the attainment of maximum precision for a given outlay of resources.

## a) Sampling methods

Proctor (2000:91), Roberts-Lombard (2002:107), Bryman and Bell (2003:199), and Zikmund and Babin (2010:423) note that there are two major types of sampling design. These are probability and non-probability sampling.

In non-probability sampling the chance of selection of any member of the population being chosen is not known and elements are selected on the basis of personal judgement of the researcher while in probability sampling, every element in the population has a known, non-zero probability of being selected (Zikmund & Babin, 2010:423). Proctor (2000:90) argues that although participants may be selected in a purposeful way under non-probability sampling, it remains statistically impossible to state a true sampling error because the sample is not rigorously chosen. Sampling error occurs because the selected sample is not a perfect representation of the overall population. It represents how accurately the chosen sample's true mean value reflects that of the population (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:96).

Furthermore, if the non-probability sampling method is used, there is the possibility that human judgment would affect the selection process, making some elements of the population more likely to be selected than others. This kind of bias was eliminated through the use of probability sampling.

This study used the probability method and this method is discussed further.

# • Probability sampling

Unlike non-probability sampling which is arbitrary, (non-random) and subjective, with elements of the population lacking a known non-zero chance of being included in the study, Bryman and Bell (2003:199) define probability sampling as a controlled procedure that assures that each population element is given a known non-zero chance of selection. The fact that a sampling error can be stated in mathematical terms and can be reduced by using a larger sample (Proctor, 2000:90) motivated the researcher to use the probability sampling method.

Probability sampling was used in this study, because as pointed out by Bryman and Bell (2003:199) probability sampling allows the researcher to make inferences from information about a random sample to the population from which it is selected. This implies that findings derived from a sample can be generalised to the population. With probability sampling, there is substantial confidence that the sample is representative of the population from which it is drawn.

# 5.3.2 Selecting a probability sampling technique

Proctor (2000:92), Roberts-Lombard, 2002:104; Cooper and Schindler (2003:52), Cant *et al.*, (2005:165) and Zikmund and Babin (2010:426) identified four major techniques of probability sampling. These are systematic sampling, stratified sampling, cluster sampling and simple random sampling.

Because of the weaknesses of other probability sampling techniques, the researcher applied the simple random sampling technique to select respondents from the population. The simple random sampling technique is discussed below.

# • Simple Random Sampling

With simple random sampling, each member of the population has a known and equal probability of inclusion in the sample (Proctor, 2000:92; Cant *et al.*, 2005:168; Zikmund & Babin, 2010:426; Iacobucci & Churchill, 2010:287). In using the simple random sampling technique, the researcher assigned each member of the sampling frame a number before selecting sample units randomly (Cant *et al.*, 2005:168).

Simple random sampling is simple to apply, in that a random sample is chosen from a population without any order. Furthermore, data analysis is reasonably easy and has a sound mathematical basis. The sample was obtained from all elements of the population. The availability of a sampling frame from the ECDC allowed the use of simple random sampling technique.

# 5.3.3 Determining the sample size

The sample size is the total amount of elements included in the research (Cant, *et al.*, 2005:163). The sample size ought to be big enough to ensure that reliable and valid conclusions can be made about the population. In order to get accurate results from a study, statisticians recommend that a sample size larger than 40 is ideal, even though it might not apply to all studies. Cant *et al.*, (2005:163) state that even though the sample size will increase for more important decisions, and where more information needs to be collected from more respondents, this however increases the costs. The Raosoft sample size calculator was used to calculate the sample size. The Raosoft sample size calculator is statistical software that enables researchers to determine the sample size given the following variables:

#### • The margin of error

The margin of error, also known as the confidence interval, is the amount of error that can be tolerated. It measures the precision with which an estimate from a single sample approximates the population value. The margin of error ranges from 3% to 7% in business research, with 5% being the most commonly accepted. A lower margin of error requires a larger sample size. In this study, the researcher used a 5% margin of error.

#### • The confidence level

The confidence level is the amount of uncertainty that can be tolerated. It is the estimated probability that a population estimate lies within a given margin of error. The confidence level can also be described as the probability that the results will be correct (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:478). A higher confidence level requires a larger sample size. The confidence interval in business research varies from 90%

to 100%, with 95% being the most commonly accepted. The researcher used a 95% confidence level in this study.

## • The expected response distribution

Most of the time, the proportion (or percentage) of a sample that will choose a given answer to a survey question is unknown, but it is necessary to estimate the number, since it is required for calculating the sample size. If the researcher does not know whether the population is skewed highly one way or the other, Raosoft (2011) recommends that 50%, which gives the largest sample size, be used in calculating the sample size.

The statistical software considered a conservative estimate of 50% when calculating the sample size. This is also considered the most conservative estimate because it is associated with the largest sample size. Thus, when determining the sample size needed for a given level of accuracy, the most conservative estimate of 50% should be used because it is associated with the largest sample size (Statistics South Africa, 2009).

For purposes of this study the sample size was calculated using a Raosoft sample size calculator. Seeing, the total population was four hundred and twenty (420), the sample size calculated, was two hundred and one (201) elements. In calculating the sample size, the researcher used the 95% confidence level, a response distribution of 50% and a margin of error of 5%.

# **5.4 DATA COLLECTION METHOD**

Data can be collected either using primary data collection methods or secondary data collection methods. Secondary data collection can also be termed desk research. The two data collection methods are discussed in sections that follow.

#### 5.4.1 Secondary data collection

According to Cant *et al.*, (2005:66) and Iacobucci and Churchill (2010:142), secondary data is data or statistics that already exists. The data have been gathered or collected for other research purposes but may help resolve existing research problems (Cant *et al.*, 2005:66; Iacobucci & Churchill, 2010:592). Cant *et* 

*al.*, (2005:66) asserts that the secondary data that the researcher wants to use must be evaluated to determine whether the data fits the specific research problem. The researcher made use of academic journal articles, published books, organisational websites and also dissertations of related research studies conducted by others previously. Information provided by businesses, government sources, commercial marketing research firms and computerised databases was also used by the researcher in an extensive literature review that was covered in the previous chapters.

To evaluate secondary data, the researcher has to be aware of the advantages and limitations of secondary data (Cant *et al.*, 2005: 66). Advantages and limitations of secondary data as identified by Cant *et al.*, (2005) are listed in the table 5.1.

Advantages of secondary data	Limitations of secondary data		
Is very available	Was not designed for the research problem at hand		
Is collected faster than primary data	Is not necessarily applicable to the population of the current research		
Is collected less expensively and with less effort than primary data	Can be outdated		
Enhances the collection of primary data	Can be inaccurate or even inadequate		
Can be more accurate than primary data			

Table 5.1: Advantages and limitations of secondary data

Source: Researcher's own compilation

From the above table, it can be noted that in as much as there are advantages in using secondary data, there are also disadvantages. This therefore means maximum care is needed when using secondary data sources.

#### 5.4.2 Primary data collection

After conducting secondary research, the researcher proceeded to collect primary data. This was because secondary research was insufficient to answer the research problem (Cant *et al.*, 2005:49). This section describes the actual gathering of data from the respondents. Data collection was done by the researcher who delivered the questionnaires to respondents and obtained names and telephone numbers of respondents to follow up on the completion of the questionnaires. The method used to collect primary data is discussed in the section that follows.

#### 5.4.2.1 Primary data collection method

Basic primary data collection methods can be in the form of observations, experiments and surveys (Cant *et al.*, 2005:87, Zikmund & Babin, 2010:64). This study used the survey method which is discussed below, because other methods of primary data collection, such as observation and experiment were not appropriate to collect data to investigate the research problems.

In survey research, researchers interact with respondents to obtain information. Cant *et al.*, (2005:89) point out that surveys are used to collect primary data from respondents *via* mail, telephone or in person. Surveys can be used to identify the characteristics of the target population. Survey research is mostly done in a structured manner using questionnaires. Zikmund and Babin (2010:64) described a survey as a research technique in which information is obtained from a sample in some form.

The advantages of using surveys are that surveys offer quick, inexpensive, efficient and accurate ways of gathering information (Cant *et al.*, 2005:89). The other advantage of the survey method is that surveys are useful in describing the characteristics of a large population. No other method of data collection can provide this general capability.

#### **5.5 RESEARCH INSTRUMENT**

The researcher used the survey method by way of self-administered questionnaires. Self-administered questionnaires are research questionnaires

personally delivered to the respondent by the researcher, but completed by the respondent with no outside involvement (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:381). The researcher used self-administered questionnaires because they:

- ensure anonymity and privacy of the respondents thereby encouraging more candid and honest responses;
- have proved to have a higher response rate than other data gathering techniques such as mail surveys; and
- are less expensive than other data gathering methods such as personal interviews where the researcher must be present with respondents at all times (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:281).

Questionnaires are the most common instruments that are used in marketing research (Cant *et al.*, 2005:147). Cant *et al.*, (2005:147) define a questionnaire as a formalised set of questions for obtaining information from respondents. A questionnaire can further be described as a booklet of structured standardised procedure, pre-coded and containing open-ended as well as closed questions at times that are used to collect information from the respondents who record their own answers. It can also be regarded as a data-collection instrument that sets out the questions to be asked in a formal way in order to produce the desired information.

Cant *et al.*, (2005:147) outline the objectives of a questionnaire. These include that:

- a questionnaire should translate the needed information into questions that can be answered by respondents;
- it must be designed in a way that will not discourage potential respondents from participating in the study; and
- a questionnaire should minimise the response errors.

A questionnaire is advantageous because of the range of information that can be collected, the low costs of administering it, and the effort required to collect the data (Cooper & Schindler, 2003:48). Good questionnaires enable researchers to collect reliable and valid information. The reasons to use questionnaires include that they help to ensure that information from different respondents is comparable, they increase the speed and accuracy of recording, they facilitate data processing, they are economic in terms of money and time; and they enable the respondents to remain anonymous and thus be honest in their responses (Cooper & Schindler, 2003:48).

However, the questionnaire also has the disadvantage that respondents might ignore it and not complete it at all and in certain cases there will be missing values, but it should mainly be designed to yield the most accurate answers.

# 5.5.1 Questionnaire design

According to Zindiye (2008:131), questionnaire design refers to the appearance and layout of the questionnaire. The layout and appearance of the questionnaire is important in any survey where the questionnaire is to be completed by respondents (Loubser, 1999:287; Sekeran, 2003:236; Malhotra, Hall, Shaw & Oppenheim, 2008:225).

The layout of the questionnaire was kept simple to encourage the participation of respondents. The questions were also kept as concise as possible with care taken to the wording and phrasing of the questions. The types of questions that were asked and the contents of each section of the questionnaire are discussed in sections that follow.

#### 5.5.1.1 Types of questions

Cant *et al.*, (2005:150) point out that there are two types of survey questions from which to choose. These are open-ended and closed-ended.

For open-ended question format, respondents use their own words to respond to certain questions and statements. Open-ended questions are ideal when the researcher is doing exploratory research and does not know the possible responses to questions or statements. The researcher limited the use of open-ended questions because they are difficult to code and analyse quantitatively.

Closed-ended (structured) questions specify the permitted responses and make information available to respondents. For self-administered questionnaires, respondent cooperation is improved if the majority of the questions are structured. The questionnaire used by the researcher comprised structured questions which made it easy for the respondents to indicate their views. Cooper and Schindler (2003:45) note that every answer can be given a number or value so that statistical interpretation can be made. Closed-ended questions are also better suited for computer analysis. Closed-ended questions take less time from the interviewer, the participant and the researcher, and so is a less expensive survey method.

Cant *et al.*, (2005:152) stipulate that closed-ended questions include dichotomous questions and multiple choice questions such as ordinal questions and scaled questions. Dichotomous questions only have two response alternatives such as yes or no or male or female. Ordinal questions were used by the researcher to rank the importance attached to variables relating to entrepreneurship education as well as the performance of SMMEs. Ordinal, also referred to as rank order scales, require the respondents to rank objects that are presented to them simultaneously according to some kind of criteria. In ordinal questions, the number assigned to the answer category has meaning. The answer categories are ranked from highest to lowest (or lowest to highest).

In this study, the questionnaire was divided into five sections, namely, section A, B, C, D and section E. The questionnaire was designed in a way that ensured that responses were reliable. Each section of the questionnaire is described and discussed in the following sub-sections.

5.5.1.2 Questionnaire: Section A

Proctor (2000:157) explains that general information should be asked in a questionnaire to obtain basic information about the respondents. In conducting his study in Zimbabwe, Zindiye (2008:147) also asked aspects that are related to the enterprise, such as gender, age, educational qualifications and period of operating in order to obtain important basic information about the respondents.

The first part of the questionnaire (Section A) focused on general information. The general information included gender of respondents, position of respondents in businesses, age, years in business, number of employees employed, industry and the highest level of educational qualification of the respondent. It is in this section that the researcher asked whether the respondents received entrepreneurship education and who offered it. General information which includes demographic data was asked to obtain basic information about respondents.

## 5.5.1.3 Questionnaire: Section B

The second part of the questionnaire asked questions about the relationship between entrepreneurship education and performance of SMMEs. Respondents were asked to give (rank) their opinion on how they think entrepreneurship education can impact on performance indicators of SMMEs. This section is important for this study because it is related to the primary objective which seeks to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs.

#### 5.5.1.4 Questionnaire: Section C

The third part of the questionnaire focused on how entrepreneurship education can improve the skills of SMME owners and managers. This is important for it will enable the researcher to achieve one of the secondary objectives of this study.

# 5.5.1.5 Questionnaire: Section D

The fourth part of the questionnaire asks questions about the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability of SMMEs.

# 5.5.1.6 Questionnaire: Section E

The last part of the research instrument focused on entrepreneurship education as a solution to challenges faced by South Africa today. This included their opinions on the way entrepreneurship education can ultimately contribute to employment creation, poverty eradication and economic growth.

## 5.5.2 Questionnaire distribution

Questionnaires were distributed by the researcher moving from one business to the other. Only SMME owners and managers who had been selected randomly from the sampling frame completed the questionnaires. The questionnaires were completed by the respondents without interference by the researcher although he was there to assist in cases where the respondents had questions or needed clarification. Validity and reliability of the questionnaire were ensured before the questionnaire was distributed.

# 5.6 VALIDITY AND RELIABILITY

There is always a chance that some questions could cause problems, hence questionnaire testing is needed to identify and eliminate such problems (Sudman & Blair, 1998:300; Sattari, 2007:54). This gives rise to the need to ensure validity and reliability.

Reliability was also enhanced by using the supervisor of this study to review the questionnaire for question phrasing and sequencing, and also by consulting a statistician. The fact that open-ended questions were minimised in the questionnaire, also enhanced reliability of the questionnaire.

For a research instrument to be reliable, it has to produce valid results. Cooper and Schindler (2006:352) state that reliability is a necessary contributor to validity but it is not a sufficient condition for validity. This means that validity also has to be assured when conducting research.

This study used the Cronbach's alpha as a measure of reliability. This is a test for survey's internal consistency. Cronbach's alpha can also be referred to as the scale reliable test for it measures how well individual items in a scale correlates with other items.

Cronbach's alpha coefficient ranges in value from 0 to 1. The higher the score, the more reliable is the generated scale. Seventy (70%) of the questions passed the alpha test at design stage and 30% failed. This led to a redesigning and pretesting of the questionnaire until questions that had initially failed finally passed the

alpha test. The results for the reliability test performed are shown in table 5.2 on the next page.

Table 5.2:	Reliability	statistics
------------	-------------	------------

Cronbach's Alpha	Number of Items
.831	28

The table above shows the reliability results with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.831. This shows that the questionnaire can collect reliable data. According to Field (2009:675), Cronbach's alpha indicates the overall reliability of a questionnaire and values around 0.8 and 0.7 are good for ability tests.

Reliability and validity are undoubtedly the hallmarks of good measurements and the keys to assessing the trustworthiness of any research study.

Validity refers to whether an instrument actually measures what it is supposed to measure given the context in which it is applied.

To ensure validity, a statistician and the supervisors were consulted to evaluate the research instrument. A statistician was also engaged to carry out statistical tests on the validity of the questionnaire and the results obtained were positive. The questionnaire was pre-tested before it was used to collect data and comprehensive literature review was done. A large sample (far greater than 40) and a margin of error not more than 5% with a confidence interval of 95% also ensured validity.

Validity and reliability can be affected severely by some errors that can occur during research. The errors are discussed below.

# 5.6.1 Errors

According to Cooper and Schindler (2006:279) errors especially the response and non-response errors can pose a serious threat to the reliability of data. It is the duty of the researcher to minimise these errors and their effect.

**Non-response errors** occur when the responses of participants differ in some systematic way from the respondents of non-participants. This is usually as a result of the researcher failing to locate or involve the targeted participant (Cooper and Schindler, 2006:279). Roberts-Lombard (2002:117) defined non-response error as the variation between the true mean value of the variable in the original sample and the true mean value in the net sample.

**Response errors** are the estimated inaccuracies that can be introduced by the researcher, the researcher or the respondents. The researcher may make the error in the design of the instrument or may not properly define the problem and the related information required. Response errors can also occur when the respondent deliberately or mistakenly provides incorrect answers to the survey questions (Cant *et al.*, 2005:183). Cooper and Schindler (2006:279) note that response errors can also be as a result of the participant failing to give a correct or a complete answer.

In conducting this study, errors were dealt with as according to what was explained by Babbie and Mouton (2002:97), this involves:

- using self-administered questionnaires where the researcher and respondents had direct contact;
- repeated visits to the respondents by the researcher;
- carefully constructing and pre-testing the questionnaire that was used to collect primary data; and
- removing sensitive questions from the questionnaire.

In order to ensure that the results of the study were credible, a pilot study was conducted and the questionnaire was pre-tested.

#### 5.6.2 Pilot Test (Pre-test)

According to De Vos, (2002:368), pre-testing of the questionnaire involves trying it out on a small number of people who have characteristics similar to those of the target population.

A pilot study was conducted to pre-test the questionnaire. Pre-testing refers to testing the questionnaire on a small number of the sample of respondents, to identify and eliminate potential harmful questions. The purpose is to ensure that the questionnaire meets the researcher's expectations in terms of information that it obtains.

Pre-testing the research instrument during the survey development stage was done through a pilot study covering 10 respondents. The results of the pre-test led to the test-retest reliability. This reliability measure used the same measurement scale a second time under nearly the same conditions. The correlation between the answers to the first and second tests were then examined and found acceptable. The results of the pre-test led to some corrections to the questionnaire.

# 5.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethics deal with the development of moral standards that can be applied to situations in which there can be actual or potential harm to any individual or a group. They are of particular concern to the researcher because their success is based on public cooperation (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:19).

Researchers have some general obligations to people who provide data in research studies which include the obligation not to harm, force or deceive participants (Chodokufa, 2009:14). Participants should be willing and informed and the data or information they provide must be held in utmost confidence (Tustin *et al.,* (2005).

Ethics were crucial for the successful accomplishment of this research work. This also helped to reduce research errors that could have arose because other people who were supposed to be part of the research have been excluded or refused to participate.

#### 5.9 DATA PREPARATION

This is the process of checking the quality of the data gathered and converting it into an electronic format that can be read and manipulated by computer software (Cant *et al.*, 2005:149; Roberts-Lombard, 2002:149). Data preparation seeks to

ensure that high quality data is available for statistical analysis. According to Roberts-Lombard (2002:149) the quality of statistical results is in most cases the product of careful exercise in the data preparation phase. The steps which were followed in the data preparation process for this study include validation, editing, coding, data entry and data cleaning (Cant *et al.*, 2005:150; Roberts-Lombard, 2002:149). The steps that are followed in data preparation process are discussed separately below.

## 5.9.1 Data validation

Data validation is the very first stage of data preparation which involves the examination of raw data for the purpose of insuring that information collected is accurate. Validation can be defined as the process of determining, to the extent possible, whether a surveys' interviews or observations were conducted correctly and free of fraud or bias (Cant *et al*, 2005:187). The purpose of validation is to determine whether any shortcuts were taken during the fieldwork. The goal of validation is mainly to detect interviewer fraud or the failure of the interviewer to follow important fieldwork instructions.

#### 5.9.2 Data editing

Editing involves a critical examination of the completed questionnaire in terms of compliance with criteria for collecting meaningful data, and to deal with questionnaires that are not completed (Cooper and Schindler, 2003:236). The inspection of questionnaires to make modifications or corrections is termed editing (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:150; Cant et al., 2005:151). Editing can also be described as the review of the questionnaires with the objective of increasing precision and accuracy. As a process, editing consists of screening the questionnaires to identify illegible, incomplete, inconsistent or ambiguous questions (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:150; Cant et al, 2005:151). In this study, questionnaires checked thoroughly for ambiguities, omissions. were inconsistencies and other errors.

# 5.9.3 Data coding

According to Terre Blanche and Durrheim (2002:98), coding involves applying a set of rules to the data to transform information from one form to another. Zindiye (2008:236) further explain coding as the assigning of a number or symbol to the answers so that responses can be grouped into limited categories. Coding was also described by Chodokufa (2009:89) as converting the questionnaire into numeric form in order to allow for quantitative data analysis.

Coding involves assigning numbers or other symbols to answers so that responses can be grouped into a limited number of classes or categories (Roberts-Lombard, 2002:151). The classifying of data into limited categories sacrifices some data but is necessary for efficient analysis. Instead of requesting the word male or female in response to a question that asks for the identification of one's gender, the codes "M" or "F" can be used (Cooper & Schindler, 2006; Roberts-Lombard, 2002:151). The purpose of coding is to transform respondents' answers to survey questions into codes or symbols that can easily be entered into and read by a statistical analysis software package.

In this study, two approaches to coding were done. The first was pre-coding which refers to assigning codes to response options before field work began and hence printing the relevant codes on the questionnaire. Pre-coding was done to dichotomous questions by assigning numbers to possible answers, for example, 1 for Yes and 2 for No. Final coding was done during data preparation to establish a codebook describing each variable in the dataset.

#### 5.9.4 Data entry

Data entry can also be referred to as data capturing which was described by Roberts–Lombard (2002:151) as the transfer of data from any acceptable data collection instrument (questionnaire in this case) into the computer. Cant *et al.*, (2005:161) describes data entry as a process includes the tasks that are involved with the direct input of the coded data into some specific software package that will then be used to manipulate and transform the raw data into useful information. In this study data was entered into Microsoft excel before it was analysed.

#### 5.9.5 Data cleaning

The process of checking coded and entered data for errors before starting data analysis is called data cleaning. Data cleaning is very important especially in cases where data coding and entry has been done manually, as in this case. *Cant et al.*, (2005:163) argues that where data coding and entry has been done manually, there is no doubt that there may be errors. A thorough data cleaning process was done before analysis.

#### 5.10 DATA ANALYSIS

Data analysis is the application of reasoning to understand data that have been gathered (Zikmund & Babin, 2010:66). It is a process of gathering, modelling and transforming data with the goal of highlighting useful information, suggesting conclusions, and supporting decision making. This section deals with data analysis procedures. Data analysis usually involves reducing accumulated data to a manageable size, developing summaries, looking for patterns and applying statistical techniques. It also includes the interpretation of research findings in the light of the research questions, and determines if the results are consistent with the research hypotheses and theories. The choice of the methods of statistical analysis depends on the type of question to be answered, the number of variables, and, the scale of measurement. The type of question the researcher is attempting to answer is a consideration in the choice of the statistical technique. Based on this factor, the researcher may be concerned about the central tendency of a variable or distribution of that variable. Data analysis for this study included descriptive statistics and Pearson Chi-square test and Independent samples Ttest.

Since the question and scale of measurement require that the significance of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs be established, the appropriate method to use to analyse the data was the Chi-square test and the T-test as well as descriptive statistics.

#### 5.10.1 The Chi-square test

Chi-square is a statistical test commonly used to compare observed data with data we would expect to obtain according to a specific hypothesis. The Chi-square test is used to determine whether there is a significant difference between the expected frequencies and the observed frequencies in one or more categories. The Chi-square test is always testing what scientists call the null hypothesis. The null hypothesis states that there is no significant difference between the expected and observed frequencies. The alternative hypothesis states they are different. The level of significance (the point at which you can say with 95% confidence that the difference is NOT due to chance alone) is set at 0.05 (the standard for most science experiments.)

#### 5.10.2 The T-test

There are three types of T-test. These include one-sample T-test which is used to compare a sample mean with a known population mean or some other meaningful, fixed value; an independent samples T-test which is used to compare two means from independent groups and the paired samples T-test which researchers can use to compare two means that are repeated measures for the same participants, that is across different measures or across time.

This study used the independent samples T-test which compared the two means from female and male respondents. This is probably the most widely used statistical test of all time, and certainly the most widely known. It is simple, straightforward, easy to use, and adaptable to a broad range of situations. Its utility is occasioned by the fact that scientific research very often examines the phenomena of nature of two variables at a time, with an eye toward answering the basic question: Are these two variables related? If there is alteration of the level of one, will this alter the level of the other? Or alternatively: By examining two different levels of one variable, it is expected that the associated level of the other will be found.

The T-test assesses whether the means of two groups are statistically different from each other. This analysis is appropriate whenever you want to compare the means of two groups (Trochim, 2006). To test the significance, there is need to set a risk level (called the alpha level). In most social research, the "rule of thumb" is to set the alpha level at .05. This means that five times out of a hundred there is a statistically significant difference between the means even if there was none (i.e., by "chance"). There is also need to determine the degrees of freedom (df) for the

test. In the T-test, the degrees of freedom are the sum of the persons in both groups minus 2. Given the alpha level, the degrees of freedom (df), and the t-value, the t-value can be obtained in a standard table of significance to determine whether the t-value is large enough to be significant. If it is, then it can be concluded that the difference between the means for the two groups is different (even given the variability). Fortunately, statistical computer programs routinely print the significance test results and save the researchers the trouble of looking them up in a table.

## 5.10.3 Descriptive statistics

Gerber-Nel *et al.*, (2005) note that descriptive statistics are used to describe the basic features of the data in a study. Descriptive statistics are used to describe the main features of a collection of data in quantitative terms. They provide simple summaries about the sample and the measures. Together with simple graphics analysis, they form the basis of virtually every quantitative analysis of data. Descriptive statistics help to simplify large amounts of data in a sensible way. Each descriptive statistic reduces a lot of data into a simpler summary. In this study, the following statistical techniques were used (Gerber-Nel *et al.*, 2005).

• The Distribution: This is a summary of the frequency of individual values or ranges of values for a variable. This study used frequencies, mean, standard deviation, tables and graphs.

Frequencies are defined as the number of objects in sets or subsets (Kerlinger, 1986:127). This simply means the number of times a certain answer appears in the data. The mean calculates an average across a number of observations while the standard deviation is the square root of variance around the mean, which in other words, is how well the mean represents the data (Field, 2009:6; Chodokufa, 2009:86).

 Central Tendency: The central tendency of a distribution is an estimate of the "centre" of a distribution of values. The mean and standard deviation are used. The mean or average is probably the most commonly used method of describing central tendency. The median is the score found at the exact middle of the set of values. The standard deviation is a more accurate and detailed estimate of dispersion. The standard deviation shows the relation that a set of scores has to the mean of the sample.

# 5.10.6 Cross tabulation

Cross tabulation is produced when two or more variables are juxtaposed (Thomas, 2004:209). This can be described as a more advanced way of representing frequency data. It represents the frequency data in matrix. Cross tabulation was used in this study because it enabled the researcher to explain the meaning of data more easily (De Vos, 2002:15; Chodokufa, 2009:87).

# 5.10.7 Measuring reliability of the findings

Reliability is concerned with the accuracy, precision, consistency and stability of the measures (Cooper & Schindler, 2006:352). The degree of an instrument's reliability is dependent on its ability to produce the same result when used repeatedly (Cant *et al.*, 2005:188; Cooper & Schindler, 2006:352). Cant *et al.*, (2005:188) state that there are a number of procedures that can be used to assess the reliability of measurement scales used in surveys. The Cronbach's alpha was used to measure reliability in this study.

# 5.10.8 Validity of the findings

Validity is the extent to which a test measures what the researcher intended to measure (Cooper & Schindler, 2008:289). It can be defined as the extent to which the differences between objects on the characteristics being measured, rather than systematic or random errors (Cant *et al.*, 2005:235).

Table 5.3 on the next page shows the different types of validity were considered during the designing and evaluation of this research study:

Table 5	.3: T	ypes	of	validity
---------	-------	------	----	----------

Face validity	<ul> <li>refers to the fact the concept being measured is measured appropriately.</li> </ul>
Criterion validity	<ul> <li>is associated with establishing measures that help to predict future outcomes in relation to specific criteria (Cooper % Schindler, 2006:350; lacobucci and Churchill, 2010:256).</li> </ul>
Content validity	<ul> <li>refers to the use of measures that incorporate all the meanings associated with a specific concept (Cant <i>et al.</i>, 2005:235; lacobucci and Churchill, 2010:256).</li> <li>Content validity also refers to the extent to which measurement scales provide adequate coverage of the investigative questions (Cooper and Schindler, 2006:349).</li> </ul>
Construct validity	<ul> <li>is associated with a measure encapsulating indicators that are theoretically sound (Cant <i>et al.</i>, 2005:236).</li> <li>According to lacobucci and Churchill (2010:257) construct validity is concerned with the question "does the instrument, in fact, measure what we purport it to measure?"</li> </ul>
Internal validity	<ul> <li>refers to whether the cause as contained in the hypothesis, produces the given effect in the research.</li> <li>The ability of a research instrument to measure what it is supposed to measure need to be assessed (Cooper &amp; Schindler, 2006:349).</li> </ul>
External validity	<ul> <li>refers to the extent to which the results of the research can be generalised. Cooper and Schindler (2008:289) mentioned that external validity refers to the data ability to be generalised across persons, settings and time.</li> </ul>

# Source: Researcher's own compilation

Table 5.3 above indicates the different types of validity that has to be assured when conducting a research study. The limitations of this study are discussed in the section that follows.

# 5.11 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The study was limited to SMMEs registered in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Only SMMEs registered with ECDC participated in this research. Some respondents were not willing to give their full cooperation resulting in some questionnaires not being answered, leading to a sample loss of 19.4%. There were also literacy problems for some SMME owners were not able to read and write.

## **5.12 CHAPTER SUMMARY**

This chapter discussed how the research was conducted. The primary data collection method was a survey using self-administered questionnaires. Simple random sampling technique and the probability sampling method was used to select respondents. Research design used was explained and a justification on why it was used was provided. The findings of this study are presented in the next chapter (Chapter 6).

# CHAPTER SIX

# **RESEARCH RESULTS**

# 6.1 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapter discussed in what way the research was undertaken. The purpose of this chapter is to present and interpret the empirical findings of this research. In interpretation, the immediate results are translated into integrated and meaningful statistics and findings. The findings are proved to be related to the objectives of the research. The success of this study is assured through both the data analysis and interpretation which are carried out in an orderly manner.

## 6.1.1 Research objectives

The primary objective of this study was to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

The secondary objectives were to:

- investigate the role of entrepreneurship education in improving entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of owner/managers of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality;
- determine the role of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs; and
- Identify strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs.

#### 6.1.2 Scope of the study

The study used the quantitative research methodology through the collection of data from SMME owners and managers from the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa.

#### 6.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Data obtained from the questionnaires was analysed and interpreted. The results are illustrated, using tables, graphs and charts. This chapter reveals the responses

on a question-by-question basis. Results from all sections of the questionnaire are also compared to existing empirical evidence to assess consistency.

# 6.2.1 Preliminary Analysis

Preliminary analysis was done before hypothesis testing. This was done to simplify the process of data analysis. As another step to ensure reliability and validity of the study, the response rate was determined, and descriptive statistics were computed to show both the means and standard deviations. Reliability and validity tests were also made use of.

#### 6.2.1.1 Response rate

Table 6.1 below shows the total and percentage of questionnaires that were sent out, questionnaires that were not answered, SMMEs that were closed or where neither the owner nor manager was available to complete the questionnaire, and questionnaires that were discarded during the process of data editing and cleaning by the researcher.

Sample	Total	Percentage (%)
Final sample	162	80.60%
Non-response	11	5.47%
Unavailable	15	7.46%
Discarded	13	6.47%
Original sample	201	100.00%

#### Table 6.1: Response rate

From table 6.1 it can be seen that a total of 201 questionnaires were sent out to respondents. A hundred and seventy five (175) questionnaires were returned, but only 162 were fully completed. Of the returned questionnaires, 13 were discarded. This means that only 162 questionnaires were analysed. This gave a 80.6% response rate, which is high enough to guarantee accurate results.

#### 6.2.1.2 Descriptive statistical analysis

Data was summarised and presented by making use of descriptive statistics. Tables, charts, graphs and percentages were used in the presentation of the findings. The mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values for all scaled questions were also computed and used in the explanation of the findings. The computed values of the means and standard deviations are attached in the appendices section (see appendix B).

## **6.2.2 Statistical Procedures**

This study used SPSS as the statistical software for data analysis. According to Coakes (2005:65) SPSS is software for performing statistical procedures in the social sciences field. SPSS is among the most widely used programme for statistical analysis in social sciences. It is a complete statistical package that is based on a point and click interface. SPSS has almost all statistical features available and widely used by researchers to perform quantitative analysis.

Subsequently, the SPSS package, the Chi-square, T-test, cross tabulation, Pearson Product-Moment Correlation and descriptive statistics were used to analyse data. Validity tests and reliability tests were performed and are presented below.

#### 6.2.2.1 Reliability test

The Cronbach's alpha indicator that was used to test for reliability, indicates the overall reliability of a questionnaire. According to Field (2009:675), the values around 0.7 and 0.8 are good for reliability tests. Reliability tests performed yielded the results that are presented in tables 6.2a and 6.2b on the next page.

# Table 6.2a: Reliability test

	_	Number of items	%
Cases	Valid	158	96.9
	Excluded <sup>a</sup>	5	3.1
	Total	163	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

# Table 6.2b1: Reliability test

Cronbach's Alpha	Number of Items
0.831	28

The Cronbach's alpha of 0.831, which is significantly above 0.7 and 0.8, was obtained in the reliability tests. According to Field (2009:675) the results are reliable.

The results from the respondents are discussed in the sections that follow, starting with Section A which covered general information.

# 6.3 SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION

This is the initial section of the research instrument which served to collect general information relating to issues of gender, position of the respondent in business, age, years in business, size of business in relation to number of employees, industry or sector of the business, highest level of educational qualification, whether respondents ever received entrepreneurship education as well as the year that they started receiving entrepreneurship education.

This information was important for classification purposes. General information included demographic information, as described by Hair *et al.*, (2000:158) and Proctor (2000:157) to constitute an essential aspect of research as it provides

basic information about the respondents. Aspects related to the enterprise were described by Zindiye (2008:147) as demographic or general information. General information is analysed question-by-question, starting with the gender of respondents.

# 6.3.1. Gender of respondents

There was need to determine the gender of respondents to enable the researcher to make demographic inferences concerning the respondents. Figure 6.1 on the next page depicts gender of respondents.



# Figure 6.1: Gender of respondents

The pie chart above shows that male entrepreneurs constitute 107 (66%) of the respondents while their female counterparts constitute the remaining 55 (34%). The results thus indicate that men are more involved in entrepreneurial activities as compared to their female counterparts. This can also be confirmed by the female Total Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) index which showed that on average, participation rates of men tend to be 50% higher than those of women (Minniti, 2004). The findings are also in line with the Department of Trade and Industry (2005) report which stated that female entrepreneurs represent 33% of existing businesses and are most affected by SMME failure. This may be related to the challenges that are faced specifically by women entrepreneurs in South Africa. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:39) identified personal difficulties, such as

failing to balance business and family responsibilities, negative prevailing sociocultural attitudes and gender discrimination as challenges that affect women entrepreneurs severely.

# 6.3.2 Position in business

This study targeted only managers and owners of SMMEs. This was mainly because these individuals are in a position to give a true picture of the trends of their business performance. Figure 6.2 depicts the positions of respondents in their respective businesses.



Figure 6.2: Position of respondents in business

The graph above shows that 78 (48.1%) of the respondents were owners of SMMEs. About 28 (17.3%) were managers and 56 (34.6%) were serving as both the owner and manager of the business. This affirms studies carried out by Mutezo (2005:81) on SMMEs in the Gauteng Province of South Africa where more than 80% of businesses were being managed by their owners. It can be concluded that a significant number of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality are directly managed by their owners.

# 6.3.3 Age of respondents

It is very important to be aware of the age distribution of the respondents. This will enable the researcher to know whether respondents are old or young (Zindiye, 2008:150). Table 6.3 below shows the age categories of the respondents.

Age category	Frequency	Percentage
Below 25 years	11	6.79%
25-30 years	20	12.35%
31-40 years	70	43.21%
Above 40 years	61	37.65%
Total	162	100.00%

#### Table 6.3: Age of respondents in years

The results as depicted in table 6.3 show that the majority which is 131 (80%) of owners and managers of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality are above 30 years of age and this can be related to the general age of business ownership in South Africa.

The findings of the study done in America by Muijanack, Vroonhof and Zoetmer (2003:6) determined that the optimum age for entrepreneurs was 25-35. However, in this case, only 20 (12.3%) of the respondents in that category are actively involved in entrepreneurial activities. It can be concluded that the majority of South African youths are not actively involved in entrepreneurial activities. This is further supported by Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005:36) who stated that the South African youth do not believe they have skills to start a business, and only 35% of young men believe they have the skills to start businesses. This is said to compare very poorly with the statistics indicating that 70% of young men in Brazil and 60% of young men in India believe they have the required skills to run businesses (Von Broembsen *et al.*, 2005:36)

# 6.3.4 Years in Business

It is of importance to bear knowledge of the years that the businesses had been operating. Figure 6.3 on the next page depicts the number of years SMMEs have been in business.





The graph above shows that 46 (26.6%) of the SMMEs have been operating for less than 3 years. Forty percent 64 (39.9%) have been in business for 4 to 8 years and the remainder have been in business for more than 8 years. This shows that 115 (71.5%) of the businesses that participated in this research have survived for more than three years and are now established firms. These results differ with the findings of Fatoki and Garwe, (2010:731) and Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005:21) who found that the majority of SMMEs fail within three years of operation.

# 6.3.5 Number of employees

Figure 6.4 depicts the number of people employed in different SMMEs.



# Figure 6.4: Number of employees
The graph on the previous page shows that 32 (19.8%) of the respondents were either managers or owners of micro businesses, while 77 (47.5%) operated small enterprises. The remaining 53 (32.7%) were either owners or managers of medium enterprises. The respondents were fairly distributed among all the three categories as specified by the National Small Business Act of 1996.

Determining the number of employees of each SMME, helped to determine the size of the business. The National Small Business Act of 1996 as amended in 2003, categorises small businesses into small, micro and medium enterprises using the number of employees, as well as other factors such as, profits. According to this Act, businesses with 5 employees or less, are classified as micro enterprises. Those with 6 to 50 are regarded as small enterprises and those with above 50 but less than or equal to 200 employees are classified as the medium enterprises. It was crucial to determine the number of people employed in each business to be able to classify the business ventures into either small, medium or micro businesses.

#### 6.3.6 Industry or sector of the business

Since this study focused on SMMEs in different industries, it was important to determine how different industries were represented. Table 6.4 below shows the industries from which the respondents to this study were drawn.

Industry	Wholesale	Construction	Manufacturing	Service	Total
	and retail				
Percentage	38.9%	11.7%	19.1%	30.3%	100%
Frequency	63.00	19.00	31.00	49.00	162.00

Table 6.4: Industry or sector of the business

The table above shows that 63 (38.9%) of the respondents were in the wholesale and retail sector, with 19 (11.7%) who were in the construction industry and 49 (30.3%) were in the service sector. SMMEs in the manufacturing sector constituted only 19.1%. This shows that the majority of SMME owners and managers who participated in this study are in the trading sector.

### 6.3.7 Highest educational qualification

To effectively determine the impact of entrepreneurship education on business performance, it was crucial to seek the highest educational qualifications of the respondents. This was also important in determining whether they understood the importance of education in running a business. Table 6.5 below shows the highest educational qualifications of the SMME owners and managers that participated in this study.

Level of education	Frequency	Percentage
Masters degree and above	13	8.0%
Bachelors degree	45	27.8%
Diploma	41	25.3%
Certificate	32	19.8%
High school	12	7.4%
Primary school	17	10.5%
Non-formal	2	1.2%
Total	162	100%

#### Table 6.5: Highest educational qualifications

Table 6.5 above shows that the respondents had different levels of educational qualifications ranging from non-formal to a masters degree and above. It is clear from the table that 131 (80.9%) of the respondents have post-secondary qualifications. These results are consistent with the findings of Shafeek (2006:101) on SMMEs in the Eastern Cape Province, where more than 70% of the respondents had a post secondary qualification.

### 6.3.8 Received entrepreneurship education

The aim of this study is to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs. A question on whether the respondents ever received entrepreneurship education was asked. Figure 6.5 on the next page shows the respondents who received entrepreneurship education.



### Figure 6.5: Received entrepreneurship education

The figure 6.5 above indicates that the majority (93.2%) of the respondents received entrepreneurship education. Only 11 (7%) of the 162 respondents confirmed that they never received entrepreneurship education, although some had higher educational qualifications. It can be concluded that the majority of the SMME owners and managers in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality received entrepreneurship education at some time in their lives, and it is important to know who offered entrepreneurship education to them.

### 6.3.9 Institution that offered entrepreneurship education

A question was asked to determine the institution or organisation that offered entrepreneurship education to SMME operators in East London and King Williams Town. This was important for it helped to determine the organisations that support the success of the SMME sector in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. Table 6.6 on the next page depicts the institutions and organisations that offered entrepreneurship education to 151 respondents that received entrepreneurship education.

Institution	Frequency	Percentage
Universities	74	49.0%
Colleges	39	25.8%
Government agencies	38	25.2%
Total	151	100%

Table 6.6: Institutions that offered entrepreneurship education

Table 6.6 above indicates that entrepreneurship education was offered to SMME operators in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality by universities, colleges and government agencies. Universities account for 74 (49%) of all the respondents who received entrepreneurship education, followed by colleges accounting for 39 (25.8%) of all the respondents who received entrepreneurship education. Government agencies account for 38 (25.2%) of those who received entrepreneurship education.

### 6.3.10 The period in which entrepreneurship education was received

Another question was also asked to determine the year in which SMME owners and managers who had indicated that they had received entrepreneurship education, had started receiving it. Table 6.7 below shows years in which the respondents started to receive entrepreneurship education.

Period	Frequency	Percentage
Before 1990	0	0.00%
1990-1995	27	17.88%
1996-2000	31	20.53%
After 2000	93	61.59%
Total	151	100.00%

 Table 6.7: Years in which SMMEs started receiving entrepreneurship

 education

The table above shows that SMME owners started receiving entrepreneurship education after 1990, and the number had been increasing ever since. The majority, 93 (61.59%) of respondents indicated that they only started receiving

entrepreneurship education after the year 2000. These findings are supported by Nieman (2001:5) and Kroon (2001:172) who mentioned that the presentation of entrepreneurship as part of business management started at the beginning of 1990s in South Africa, although it had started in the 1970s in the United States of America. The results are also in line with the findings of Co and Mitchell (2005:10) in which it was shown that entrepreneurship education is still in its early stages of development even though some tertiary institutions have been involved since the 1990s.

The following section, (Section B), discusses the impact of entrepreneurship education on certain performance indicators of SMMEs.

### 6.4 SECTION B: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs

Since the main objective of this study is to investigate whether entrepreneurship education actually has an impact on the performance of SMMEs, it was important to test the extent to which entrepreneurship education affects performance indicators of SMMEs.

A question was asked to obtain the views of the respondents on the extent to which entrepreneurship education affects sales growth, market share, employment growth, competitiveness, stock management, debtors management, cash management, size of business, success as well as survival of SMMEs. Table 6.8 on the next page shows results on how entrepreneurship education can affect certain performance indicators of SMMEs.

	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	Disagree
	n (%)				n(%)
Sales growth	53	91	1	11	3
	(33.3%)	(57.2%)	(0.6%)	(6.9%)	(1.9%)
Market share	12	142	8	0	0
	(7.7%)	(87.7%)	(4.9%)	(0%)	(0%)
Employment	27	83	31	15	6
growth	(16.7%)	(51.2%)	(19.1%)	(9.3%)	(3.7%)
Competitiveness	102	42	18	0	0
	(63%)	(25.9%)	(11.1%)	(0%)	(0%)
Stock management	7	37	101	11	6
	(4.3%)	(22.8%)	(62.3%)	(6.8%)	(3.7%)
Debtors	62	49	30	21	0
management	(38.3%)	(30.2%)	(18.5%)	(13.0%)	(0%)
Cash management	100	49	1	6	6
	(61.7%)	(30.2%)	(0.6%)	(3.7%)	(3.7%)
Creditors	64	94 (58%)	1	3	0
management	(39.5%)		(0.6%)	(1.9%)	(0%)
Success and	119	37	6	0	0
survival	(73.5%)	(22.8%)	(3.7%)	(0%)	(0%)
Size of business	38	102	19	3	0
	(23.5%)	(63.0%)	(11.7%)	(1.9%)	(0%)

 Table 6.8: Impact of entrepreneurship education on performance indicators

The impact of entrepreneurship education on each performance measure or indicator shown in the table 6.8 above is discussed separately on sections that follow.

#### 6.4.1 Impact of entrepreneurship education on sales growth of SMMEs

Sales growth being one of the main indicators of growth can be identified as a performance measure. Investigating the effect of entrepreneurship education on sales growth can ultimately help to tell whether entrepreneurship education is important at all or not.

The results shown on table 6.8, indicate that the majority, 91 (57%) of the respondents agree that entrepreneurship education can affect and improve sales growth of SMMEs. An additional 53 (33%) strongly agree to this notion. It is only 14 (9%) of the respondents who did not agree that entrepreneurship education can have an effect on the sales growth of businesses. Only 1 (0.6%) of the

respondents chose to remain neutral for they had no idea of what it entailed. The mean statistically computed (1.87= 2=agree) showed that respondents generally agree that entrepreneurship education is important for sales growth of SMMEs (see Appendix B). It can therefore be stated that sales growth of SMMEs can be improved through providing and improving entrepreneurship education to SMME owners, managers and the general employees.

### 6.4.2 Impact of entrepreneurship education on gaining market share

Market share growth can also be used to assess the performance of SMMEs. It is also known that SMMEs that are performing well, usually gain a positive market share (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009).

It is illustrated in table 6.8 that it appears that 154 (95%) of the respondents are of the view that entrepreneurship education can help SMME owners and managers to gain a positive market share. The remaining 8 (5%) were neutral and could not agree or disagree. The computed mean (1.98=2= agree) also confirms that SMME owners and managers generally agree that entrepreneurship education is very important if SMMEs are to win competition and gain a relevant market share in today's competitive business world. It thus can safely be concluded that entrepreneurship education has a positive impact on the market share of SMMEs.

# 6.4.3 Impact of entrepreneurship education on employment growth of SMMEs

As a business grows, it employs more people or put simply, the employment capacity of that business increases. It is in light of this that employment growth has also been identified as a performance indicator.

The results illustrated in table 6.8 shows that 110 (68%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can help improve the employment capacity of SMMEs. Close to 31 (19%) of the respondents chose to remain neutral and could not say whether employment capacity is affected or not. Only 21 (13%) of the respondents disagreed to the notion that entrepreneurship education can positively impact employment growth. It can be concluded that SMME operators

agree that entrepreneurship education is crucial in improving the employment capacity of SMMEs.

### 6.4.4 Impact of entrepreneurship education on competitiveness of SMMEs

A separate question was asked to obtain the views of respondents on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the competiveness of SMMEs. Competitiveness can be an indicator of performance of firms in which failure to be competitive may reduce chances of survival of a business venture.

The results in table 6.8 shows that the majority, 102 (63%) of the respondents strongly agree to the fact that entrepreneurship education can improve the competitiveness of SMMEs. Only 18 (11%) of the respondents were neutral and could not say whether entrepreneurship education can have an effect on the competitiveness of SMMEs. It can be concluded that the competitiveness of SMMEs can be improved by providing entrepreneurship education to SMME owners and managers.

### 6.4.5 Impact of entrepreneurship education on stock management of SMMEs

It is accepted that inventory constitutes the current assets of a business. A business venture can fail, due to failure to manage inventory. The ability to effectively manage inventory or stock, also has an impact on the cash flow of a business. The purpose of this question was to obtain the views of the respondents on how entrepreneurship education can improve stock management skills of SMME operators, and ultimately practices of SMMEs. Summarised results for this question appear in table 6.8.

The results presented in table 6.8 shows that the majority, which is 101 (62.3%) of the respondents could not say whether entrepreneurship education can improve stock management practices of SMMEs. It is only 37 (22.8%) of the respondents that agreed that entrepreneurship education can improve stock management practices of SMME owners and managers, with 11 (6.8%) disagreeing, 7 (4.3%) strongly agreeing and the other 6 (3.7%) strongly disagreeing. The mean computed (3= neutral) suggest that the majority of respondents are generally not in a position to tell the impact of entrepreneurship education on stock management practices (see appendix B).

## 6.4.6 Impact of entrepreneurship education on debtors' management of SMMEs

Debtors are current assets to SMMEs, and they need to be properly managed, for failure can minimise chances of success for the business, due to cash flow problems. The quality of debtors' management could act as an indicator of how a business is performing. Table 6.8 depicts the views of respondents on how entrepreneurship education can assist in improving debtors management in SMMEs operating in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

The results presented in table 6.8 show that 62 (38%) of the respondents strongly agreed that entrepreneurship education have an impact and can improve debtors' management in SMMEs. An additional 49 (30%) of the respondents agreed to the notion that the ability to manage debtors by SMME operators can be improved by entrepreneurship education. Only 21 (13%) of the respondents disagreed with this view, with the remaining 30 (18.5%) not indicating whether they agree or disagree. With 68% of the respondents agreeing to the notion, it can therefore be concluded that entrepreneurship education improves the skills of SMME owners and managers to manage debtors.

#### 6.4.7 Impact of entrepreneurship education on cash management of SMMEs

Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009), mention that most SMMEs fail due to problems in managing cash. Table 6.8 shows the views of respondents on the impact of entrepreneurship education on cash management.

The results show that close to 100 (92%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can help improve cash management of SMMEs. This includes the management of cash flow which is crucial for the success of the business. The other respondents 12 (8%), did not see the rationale of entrepreneurship education in improving cash flow management. It can be concluded that entrepreneurship education can help in the improvement of cash management of SMMEs.

## 6.4.8 Impact of entrepreneurship education on creditors' management of SMMEs

Another important factor that can indicate the performance of a business venture, is creditors' management. Failure to manage creditors may lead the business into liquidation or insolvency. Table 6.8 shows summarised views of the respondents on the impact of entrepreneurship education on creditors' management of SMMEs.

The summarised results illustrate that 158 (97%) of the respondents are of the view that entrepreneurship education helps improve the management of creditors. Only 3 (2%) of the respondents disagreed, with 1 (1%), being neutral. It can be concluded from the view of the majority of respondents, that entrepreneurship education can play a major role in improving creditors' management of SMMEs.

## 6.4.9 Impact of entrepreneurship education on the survival and success of SMMEs

To obtain the general view of respondents on the role of entrepreneurship in increasing the chances of survival and success of SMMEs, this question was asked. Survival and success of SMMEs are broad indicators of SMMEs, and it is very important that they are assessed. Summarised results on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the survival and success of SMMEs are shown in table 6.8.

It is clear from the table that the majority, which is 119 (73.5%) of the respondents, indicated that the success and survival of SMMEs is enhanced by equipping SMME managers and owners with entrepreneurial competencies. An additional 37 (23%) agreed to the notion that entrepreneurship education is very important if SMMEs are to succeed and survive. This brings the percentage of respondents that generally agree that entrepreneurship education is important for SMME survival and success to 156 (96%), meaning that only 6 (4%) of the respondents disagreed. It can thus be accepted that the majority of respondents are of the view that entrepreneurship education plays a critical role in the survival and success of SMMEs.

#### 6.4.10 Impact of entrepreneurship education on the size of SMMEs

Table 6.8 also shows the views of the respondents on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the size of the businesses. The results show that the majority of SMME owners and managers agreed that entrepreneurship education have an effect on the size of their business. The moment SMME owners receive entrepreneurial competences; they seek to grow their businesses, and subsequently, 140 (86%) of the respondents agreed to this notion with only close to 3 (2%) disagreeing. Other respondents, 19 (12%), remained neutral in giving their views. It can be concluded that the size of a business is positively related to the quality and level of entrepreneurship education that the SMME operator has received.

#### 6.4.11 Impact of entrepreneurship education on performance of SMMEs

A question was asked to obtain the opinions of respondents on whether they would indicate that entrepreneurship education had improved the performance of their businesses. This was a direct question which also served as a control question, to investigate whether respondents would give the same responses as they gave when asked about the performance indicators. Table 6.9 below shows the summarised results.

	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	148	91.4%
No	14	8.6%
Total	162	100%

The table above shows that 148 (91.4%) of the respondents indicated that entrepreneurship education improves the performance of SMMEs. However, there are other SMME owners and managers who do not see the importance of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs. It can still be concluded that entrepreneurship education has a positive impact on the performance of SMMEs. It is important to determine the role of entrepreneurship education in the development and improvement of entrepreneurship skills of SMME operators. The following section (Section C) discusses the importance of entrepreneurship education in improving entrepreneurship skills.

### 6.5 SECTION C: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION IMPROVING ENTREPRENEURSHIP SKILLS

SMME operators were asked to give their views on the extent to which entrepreneurship education could improve entrepreneurship skills. Market awareness, creativity and innovation, flexibility, risk taking, gathering resources, problem solving, technical skills, personal skills and business skills were assessed. The summarised results are illustrated in table 6.10 below.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Market awareness	99	48	10	0	5
	(61.1%)	(29.6%)	(6.2%)	(0%)	(3.1%)
Creativity and	25	124	11	2	0
innovation	(15.4%)	(76.5%)	(6.8%)	(1.2%)	(0%)
Flexibility	6	111	35	10	0
	(3.7%)	(68.5%)	(21.6%)	(6.2%)	(0%)
Risk taking	1	160	1	0	0
	(0.6%)	(98.8%)	(0.6%)	(0%)	(0%)
Gathering of	40	100	1	21	0
resources	(24.7%)	(61.7%)	(0.6%)	(13%)	(0%)
Problem solving	28	118	12	4	0
	(17.3%)	(72.8%)	(7.4%)	(2.5%)	(0%)
Technical skills	74	83	5	0	0
	(45.7%)	(51.2%)	(3.1%)	(0%)	(0%)
Personal skills	65	86	2	8	0
	(40.4%)	(53.4%)	(1.2%)	(5.0%)	(0%)
Business skills	29	119	7	7	0
	(17.9%)	(73.5%)	(4.3%)	(4.3%)	(0%)

Table 6.10: The extent to which entrepreneurship education can improve the
entrepreneurship skills

The results appearing in table 6.10 are discussed in the next sections.

#### 6.5.1 Market awareness

Respondents were asked to give their views on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the market awareness of entrepreneurs. Table 6.10 shows the results from the respondents.

The results show that the majority, which is 147 (91%) of respondents agree that entrepreneurship education plays a critical role in improving the market awareness of SMME operators. Only 5 (3%) of the respondents disagreed with this notion. About 10 (6%) were neutral and could not say whether it improves market awareness or not. It can safely be concluded that market awareness of SMME owners and managers can be enhanced through entrepreneurship education.

#### 6.5.2 Creativity and innovation

Creativity and innovation are also important entrepreneurial skills that successful entrepreneurs posses. Respondents' views on the impact of entrepreneurship education on these skills were obtained and the summarised results are shown in Table 6.10.

Table 6.10 shows that 149 (92%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education improves their creativity and the ability to innovate. It is only 2 (1.2%) of the respondents that are not of the view that this type of education can improve creativity and innovativeness of individuals. It can thus be concluded that creativity and innovativeness of SMME owners and managers can be attributed to entrepreneurship education.

### 6.5.3 Flexibility

The importance of entrepreneurship education in improving the flexibility of SMME operators was assessed. The results appear in table 6.10.

The results summarised in table 6.10 show that 111 (68.5%) of the respondents agree that entrepreneurship education can help to improve the flexibility of SMME owners and managers. An additional 6 (3.7%) indicated that they strongly agree that flexibility of SMMEs can be improved through entrepreneurship education. Only 10 (6.2%) of the respondents disagreed to this notion with the remaining part

of respondents being neutral. Since the majority agree that entrepreneurship education can improve the flexibility of SMME operators, it can be concluded that entrepreneurship education enhances the flexibility of SMME operators.

#### 6.5.4 Risk-taking

The ability to take calculated risks is another distinguishing feature of entrepreneurs. There was therefore need to determine the extent to which entrepreneurship education can help improve the ability of SMME operators to take risks. The views of the respondents are depicted in table 6.10.

Table 6.10 shows that no respondent disagreed with the notion that entrepreneurship education improves the ability of individuals to take calculated risks, an issue that 161 (99.4%) agreed that entrepreneurship education had a positive impact on the ability of entrepreneurs to take risks. Only 1 (0.6%) of the respondents were neutral and could not confirm that entrepreneurship education is important for improving risk-taking abilities of entrepreneurs. It can be concluded that entrepreneurship education improves the ability of SMME owners to take risks.

### 6.5.5 Gathering of resources

Resources are very crucial in the operation and success of any business venture. They include human resources, financial resources, technology and also assets. The summarised results on the effect of entrepreneurship education on gathering of resources are depicted in table 6.10.

Table 6.10 also shows that 140 (86.4%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education was very important in improving the skills and ability to gather resources that are crucial to the running and operating of a business venture. It is only 21 (13%) of the respondents that disagreed with the notion that those with entrepreneurship education can have the ability to gather resources more easily than those without. It can thus be accepted that the ability of entrepreneurship education.

#### 6.5.6 Problem solving

The ability to solve problems is another entrepreneurial skill that was assessed. Table 6.10 shows the results on the impact of entrepreneurship education in improving the ability of SMME operators to solve problems.

Table 6.10 shows that entrepreneurship education can improve the ability of SMME owners and managers to solve problems. About 146 (90.1%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education is very important for SMME operators to make wise decisions in solving challenges and reaching solutions. It can be concluded that entrepreneurship education plays a critical role in improving the ability of SMME owners to solve the problems they face in business operations.

#### 6.5.7 Technical skills

The extent to which entrepreneurship education improves the technical skills of SMME owners and managers was assessed. Table 6.10 depicts the results as obtained from the respondents.

Table 6.10 shows that 157 (97%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can help improve the technical skills of SMME operators. Only 5 (3%) of the respondents were neutral and none of them disagreed with the notion that entrepreneurship education could improve these technical skills. This leaves no doubt that entrepreneurship education is crucial to the development of technical skills of SMME owners and managers.

### 6.5.8 Personal skills

Table 6.10 depicts the summarised results of the role of entrepreneurship education in improving personal skills of entrepreneurs and SMME operators. The results show that 151 (93.8%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education improves personal skills of entrepreneurs.

### 6.5.9 Business skills

Table 6.10 depicts the summarised results of the views of respondents on the role of entrepreneurship education in improving business skills of entrepreneurs and SMME operators.

The majority, which is 148 (91%) of the respondents, agreed that entrepreneurship education improves business skills of entrepreneurs. Based on these findings, it can be concluded that the development of business skills can be attained through entrepreneurship education.

The findings of this study were in line with what was emphasised by Kunene (2008:62) that entrepreneurial skills, technical skills, business skills and personal skills can be developed through education. These findings are also supported by McClelland (1961:1); Hisrich and Peters (2002:19); Pretorius and Van Vuuren (2003:515); Timmons and Spinelli (2007); Massey (2004:458) who maintain that the skills and knowledge of entrepreneurship can be developed in individuals through education and training.

# 6.5.10 The need for entrepreneurship education for the successful establishment of SMMEs

Respondents were asked whether entrepreneurship education was necessary for the successful establishment of new ventures in the SMME sector. Table 6.11 depicts the summarised results.

	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	162	100%
No	0	0%
Total	162	100%

### Table 6.11: Entrepreneurship education necessary for the successfulestablishment of SMMEs

The table above shows that all respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education is crucial for the successful establishment of SMMEs. It can be concluded that SMMEs operated by owners or managers with proper entrepreneurial skills, can survive for more years than those who did not receive entrepreneurship education. These findings are in line with the suggestions of Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:613) who suggested that the key to success of establishing SMMEs, is education. This also supports the notion by Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:12) that successful entrepreneurship is linked to education. Driver *et al.*, (2001:22) also stressed the importance of education in the establishment of entrepreneurial ventures. The results are also supported by the findings of Maas and Herrington (2006:12) that showed that an increase in entrepreneurial activity is highly dependent on effective entrepreneurship education.

#### 6.5.11 The need for entrepreneurship skills and knowledge

A question on whether people who start businesses should have entrepreneurship knowledge and skills, was also asked. Summarised results are shown in table 6.12.

 Table 6.12: People who start businesses need entrepreneurship knowledge

 and skills

	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	152	93.8%
No	10	6.2%
Total	162	100%

The table above shows that 152 (93.8%) of the respondents agreed that for individuals to successfully establish ventures that will survive, entrepreneurship education is crucial. These findings are in line with those of Martin and Staines (2008) who found that lack of managerial and entrepreneurial skills are the main reasons why new ventures fail.

## 6.5.12 Lack of entrepreneurship education is the prime cause of failure of SMMEs

A question was asked to determine whether lack of entrepreneurship education was the prime cause of SMME failure in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Figure 6.6 on the next page depicts the results.



### Figure 6.6: Lack of entrepreneurship education is the prime cause of SMME failure

The chart in figure 6.6 above shows that 113 (70%) of the respondents agreed that lack of entrepreneurship education was the prime cause of SMME failure. The respondents, 49 (30%) that did not agree to this notion, mentioned inaccessibility of financial resources as the prime challenge faced by SMMEs. Based on these findings, lack of entrepreneurship education can be said to be the prime challenge faced by SMMEs, followed by inaccessibility of finance.

These results are in line with the findings of Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731) that reported that lack of financial support is the second most reported contributor to SMME failure. Ligthelm and Cant (2003:5) concluded that the limited access to financial resources available to SMMEs compared to larger organisations have negative consequences for their growth and development. The study also confirms the study by Clover and Darroch (2005:238-263) and Mutezo (2003:93) which also identified inaccessibility and lack of financial resources as one of the major obstacles to the growth of SMMEs.

The next section (Section D) covers a discussion on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the profitability of SMMEs.

### 6.6 SECTION D: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AND PROFITABILITY OF SMMEs

Respondents were asked to respond to the impact of entrepreneurship education on profitability, wealth maximisation of owners and financial growth of SMMEs. The main purpose of this question was to determine the extent to which entrepreneurship education can contribute to the financial performance of a business venture. Profitability, wealth maximisation of owners and financial growth were used as financial performance indicators. Table 6.13 depicts the views of respondents on the impact of entrepreneurship education on profitability, wealth maximisation and financial growth.

Table 6.13: The extent to which entrepreneurship education can a	iffect
financial performance of SMMEs	

	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Disagree (5)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Profitability	110	39	13	0	0
	(67.9%)	(24.1%)	(8.0%)	(0%)	(0%)
Wealth	119	33	10	0	0
maximisation	(73.5%)	(20.4%)	(6.2%)	(0%)	(0%)
Financial	140	11	0	9	2
growth	(86.4%)	(6.8%)	(0%)	(5.6%)	(1.2%)

The table above shows that 149 (92%) of SMME owners and managers who participated in this study agree that entrepreneurship education can help improve the profitability of SMMEs. The remaining 13 (8%) were neutral and none of the respondents were of the view that entrepreneurship education cannot improve the profitability of business ventures. A conclusion that entrepreneurship education improves the profitability of SMMEs, can be drawn from these results. These findings are supported by the findings of Olutunla and Obamuyi (2008:198) that proved that entrepreneurship skills and knowledge are important for successful entrepreneurial activity.

Wealth maximisation of owners is the main goal of business ventures. Table 6.13 shows that 152 (93.5%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can impact on the wealth maximisation of SMME owners. None of the respondents actually disagreed with the notion that by equipping SMME operators with relevant entrepreneurial skills and knowledge, shareholders or owners' value can be maximised.

From table 6.13, it can also be concluded that entrepreneurship education is also crucial for financial growth of SMMEs. A total of 151 (93.2%) of the SMME owners and managers agreed that entrepreneurship education can help improve the financial growth of SMMEs. Only 11 (6.8%) of the respondents opposed the notion and were of the view that entrepreneurship education has nothing to do with the financial growth of SMMEs.

### 6.7 SECTION E: ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION AS A SOLUTION

Entrepreneurship education can be a solution to the challenges that are faced by South African SMMEs. The challenges that were assessed in this section include failure of SMMEs, low employment capacity, poverty and low economic growth. Respondents gave their views on whether entrepreneurship education can ultimately help to reduce the rates of SMME failure, the rate of unemployment as well as that of poverty and low economic growth. Table 6.14 below shows the views of the respondents on the role of entrepreneurship education in helping to solve socio-economic challenges.

# Table 6.14: Entrepreneurship education can be a solution to socio economicchallenges

	YES	NO
	n(%)	n(%)
Entrepreneurship education can ultimately help reduce	160	2
failure rate of SMMEs	(98.8%)	(1.2%)
Entrepreneurship education can ultimately help reduce	162	0
unemployment rate	(100%)	(0%)
Entrepreneurship education can ultimately help reduce	150	12
poverty	(92.6%)	(7.4%)
Entrepreneurship education can ultimately help improve	93	69
economic growth	(57.4%)	(42.6%)

Table 6.14 on the previous page illustrate the views of the respondents on the role of entrepreneurship education in solving some of the real socio-economic challenges faced by South Africans today. The challenges include high failure rate of SMMEs, the high unemployment rates, poverty and low economic growth. These are discussed separately in the sections that follow.

#### 6.7.1 Entrepreneurship education and the failure of SMMEs

Table 6.14 shows that 160 (98.8%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can ultimately help to reduce failure of SMMEs. This removes all doubt about the importance of entrepreneurship education, considering the high failure rates of SMMEs in South Africa. These findings are in line with the findings of Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005) who stated that education can help reduce the problem of SMME failure. This is also supported by Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:35) as well as Fatoki and Garwe (2010:731).

### 6.7.2 Entrepreneurship education and unemployment in South Africa

South Africa is experiencing a high unemployment rate (above 25%), together with other African countries. Table 6.14 shows the summarised results of the views of respondents on whether entrepreneurship education can be a solution to reduce the rate of unemployment in South Africa.

The table (6.14) shows that all of the 162 (100%) respondents agree that entrepreneurship education can be a solution to ultimately reduce unemployment in the South Africa. If more people engage in entrepreneurial activities, more businesses will be established; hence more jobs will be created. These findings are supported by Co and Mitchell (2005:2) who stated that the South African economy needs entrepreneurs to address the problem of unemployment. Karimi *et al.*, (2010:35) mentioned that entrepreneurship needs to be promoted, because it creates millions of jobs. According to Nieman and Pretorius (2004:2), the South African government sees the promotion of entrepreneurship as another way of solving unemployment.

### 6.7.3 Entrepreneurship education and poverty in South Africa

Poverty is another challenge that is faced by many African countries, including South Africa. A question was asked to ascertain the impact of entrepreneurship education in reducing poverty. Table 6.14 depicts the results obtained from the respondents.

The results shows that 150 (92.6%) of the respondents agree that promoting and improving entrepreneurship education can be a solution to ultimately eradicate poverty in South Africa. This is supported by Nieman and Pretorius (2004:2) who stated that promoting entrepreneurship can help eradicate poverty in South Africa.

### 6.7.4 Entrepreneurship education and economic growth in South Africa

Entrepreneurship is key to economic growth of any country. A question was asked to ascertain the extent to which entrepreneurship education could ultimately improve economic growth of South Africa. Table 6.10 depicts the views of the respondents on the contribution of entrepreneurship education to economic growth.

The results depicted in table 6.14 show that 93 (57.4%) of the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship education can be a solution to improving economic growth in South Africa. On the other hand, 69 (42.6%) of the respondents do not actually agree with the notion that by improving entrepreneurship education, the economic growth of the country can also be improved. It can be concluded that entrepreneurship education is important in enhancing economic growth of this country.

These findings are in line with the results of Karimi *et al.*, (2010:35) and Isaacs et al., (2007:631) that confirmed that entrepreneurship is considered as a significant factor for socio-economic development and it increases economic growth, and it is the responsibility of specific organisations to ameliorate this issue.

### 6.8 ORGANISATIONS THAT HELP TO IMPROVE THE PERFORMANCE OF SMMEs IN THE BUFFALO CITY MUNICIPALITY

Considering the fact that there are well-established organisations that work for the success of the SMME sector, it was important for this study to determine the extent to which SEDA, Khula, ECDC, the government, universities and other private companies offer assistance to SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Table 6.15 below shows summarised results on the views of respondents on how these organisations are contributing to the success of SMMEs.

	Not even trying	Not even trying Can improve		Their best
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
SEDA	0	106	37	19
	(0%)	(65.4)	(22.8)	(11.7%)
ECDC	0	26	37	99
	(0%)	(16%)	(22.8%)	(61.1%)
Khula	0	102	60	0
	(0%)	(63%)	(37%)	(0%)
The	0	24	129	9
Government	(0%)	(14.8%)	(79.6%)	(5.6%)
Universities	0	69	65	28
	(0%)	(42.6%)	(40.1%)	(17.3%)
Other private	21	90	51	0
companies	(13%)	(55.6%)	(31.5%)	(0%)

Table 6.15: Organisations	helping to im	prove the perforn	nance of SMMEs
---------------------------	---------------	-------------------	----------------

Results that appear in the table are discussed in the sections that follow.

### 6.8.1 The extent to which SEDA is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs

A question was asked to obtain views of SMME owners and managers on the role played by SEDA in improving the performance of SMMEs. Table 6.15 shows the

views of the respondents on the extent to which SEDA is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs.

Table 6.15 also shows that respondents admit that the activities of SEDA are visible and that they are working towards the development of the SMME sector. The majority, which is 106 (65.4%) of the respondents, indicated that SEDA is not doing its best to improve the performance of SMMEs and it can improve. About 37 (22.8%) of the respondents were of the view that SEDA is actually better as compared to other institutions when it comes to developing the SMME sector and improving the performance of SMMEs. The remaining 19 (11.7%) of SMME owners and managers pointed out that SEDA is doing its best in improving the performance of SMMEs. A general conclusion then is that SEDA is trying its best in improving the SMME sector in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, but could still improve from its current performance parameters.

## 6.8.2 The extent to which the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC) is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs

Table 6.15 shows that the majority, which is 99 (61.1%) of the respondents, confirmed that ECDC is doing its best in improving the performance of SMMEs. An additional 37 (22.8%) of the respondents mentioned that ECDC contributed to the development of the SMME sector and showed a higher performance of SMMEs than other institutions. The remainder, 26 (16%) of the respondents recommended that ECDC should improve on its strategies working towards improving the performance of SMMEs. From the results obtained, it can be concluded that the ECDC is doing their best to improve the welfare and performance of SMMEs.

## 6.8.3 The extent to which Khula is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs

Respondents were also asked to express their views on the extent to which Khula is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs. Table 6.15 show the summarised results from the respondents.

The table (6.15) shows that although the majority, which is 102 (63%) of respondents, are of the view that Khula still need to put more effort and have the

potential to improve the performance of SMMEs, while 60 (37%) of the respondents highlighted that Khula is actually playing its part better than other institutions in the country. None of the respondents were of the view that Khula is not even trying, or is doing its best to develop the SMME sector. It is clear, from the respondents' point of view that Khula Enterprise Finance needs to improve on their services if they aim to improve the SMME sector in South Africa.

### 6.8.4 The extent to which the government is assisting to improve the performance of SMMEs

Respondents also had the opportunity to rate the government in relation to improving the SMME sector. The results in table 6.15 show that the majority of the respondents are of the view that the government is playing its part in the development of the SMME sector. Only 24 (14.8%) are of the view that the government can actually do better than what it is doing. About 129 (79.6%) of the respondents indicated that the government is actually doing better when it comes to improving the performance of SMMEs. About 9 (5.6%) of the respondents are satisfied with government efforts and they indicated that the government is doing all it can to improve the performance of these ventures in South Africa. It can be concluded that the government is trying to render assistance, but a lot still needs to be done if all respondents are to be satisfied.

### 6.8.5 The extent to which universities are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs

Through their day-to-day activities, namely, teaching and learning as well as research, universities attempt to improve the performance of SMMEs. They also help through their community engagement activities that aim to improve communities in their vicinity. Respondents had the opportunity to express their views on the extent to which universities are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs. The summarised results are depicted in table 6.15.

The table shows that 69 (42.6%) of the respondents were of the view that the universities in the Eastern Cape Province namely, Walter Sisulu University, Rhodes University, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University and the University of Fort Hare, can do better than they are doing in improving the performance of

SMMEs. About 65 (40.1%) of the respondents however, feel that universities are doing better than the government and government agencies in trying to improve the performance of SMMEs. The remaining 28 (17.3%) of respondents are of the view that it is the universities that are doing their best in attempting to develop the SMME sector in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa.

## 6.8.6 The extent to which private companies are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs

Table 6.15 depicts the summarised results from the respondents. The results show that almost 21 (13%) of the respondents disappointingly indicated that some private companies are not even taking part in developing the SMME sector. The majority, which is 90 (55.6%) of the respondents, however, believe that these companies can do better than they are doing. The remaining part of the respondents was of the view that some private companies are actually working hard, and doing their best to improve the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Municipality.

The next section discusses the hypothesis testing. Hypothesis testing is the use of statistics to determine the probability that a given hypothesis is true (Zindiye, 2008:222).

### 6.9 TESTING HYPOTHESES

The study at hand was conducted to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. The hypotheses of this study are:

H<sub>01</sub>: Entrepreneurship education has no impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

H<sub>02</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not improve entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers.

H<sub>03</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not play any role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

 $H_{04}$ : There is no relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

Each hypothesis is tested individually in the sections that follow.

#### **Primary Hypothesis**

## Hypothesis 1: $H_{01}$ : Entrepreneurship education has no impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality

Cross tabulation was performed to determine whether the respondents who received entrepreneurship education would confirm that it had improved the performance of their businesses. Table 6.16 shows that out of 152 respondents that received entrepreneurship education 148 (97.4%) of the respondents confirmed that it did improve the performance of their businesses. Out of 14 (8.6%) respondents who said entrepreneurship education did improve the performance of their businesses, 11 (79%) never received entrepreneurship education.

	-	Did Entrepreneu improve the perfo business	rship Education ormance of your	Total
		Yes	No	TOLAT
Received entrepreneurship education	Yes	148	3	151
	No	0	11	11
	Total	148	14	162

 Table 6.16: Entrepreneurship education and performance of SMMEs

A Chi-square test of association was performed by cross tabulating two variables namely entrepreneurship education and performance of business. The results of the Chi-square test are shown on table 6.17 on the next page.

Table	6.17:	Chi-sa	uare	tests	for	Hvp	othesis	s 1
1 4 9 1 9	<b>v</b>	0	aaro			••••	0111001	

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	124.757 <sup>a</sup>	1	.000		
Continuity Correction <sup>b</sup>	112.651	1	.000		
Likelihood Ratio	65.861	1	.000		
Fisher's Exact Test				.000	.000
Linear-by-Linear Association	123.987	1	.000		
N of Valid Cases	162				

From the results, a Chi-square value of 124.757 and 1 degree of freedom with a probability value of 0.000 was found. Since the p-value (probability) of **0.000 is less than 0.05**, it therefore means that we **reject the null hypothesis** and conclude that Entrepreneurship education does have an impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

The Pearson product moment correlation measures the strength and direction of the association between two variables. It is denoted by *r*. Table 6.18 shows the results for the product moment correlation test.

Table 6.18: Strength and direction of entrepreneurship education (EE) ar	nd
performance	

		Received entrepreneurship education	Did EE improve the performance of your business
Received	Pearson Correlation	1	.878**
entrepreneurship education	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000
	Ν	162	162
Did EE improve	Pearson Correlation	.878**	1
the performance	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	
of your business	Ν	162	162

It is shown in table 6.18 that in this case our r is **0.878** which means that there is a **strong positive** correlation between entrepreneurship education and the

performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. This proves that the more entrepreneurship education is improved, the more the performance of SMMEs is also improved.

These results are supported by Mutezo (2005:89) who states that the performance of SMMEs is critically affected by the experience, knowledge and skills of the entrepreneur. The results are also in line with the Van Vuuren and Nieman (1999) model which proved that entrepreneurship knowledge and skills are key determinants of entrepreneurial performance. Ucbasaran *et al.*, (2004:440); and Daroch and Clover (2005:325) also support that entrepreneurship skills and knowledge positively affect the performance of SMMEs. This conclusion is in line with many other studies that found a positive impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs. The studies that found this positive impact include, but are not limited to Peterman and Kennedy (2003), Fayolle *et al.*, (2006), Souitaris *et al.*, (2007), and Von Graevenitz *et al.*, (2010:91).

### Secondary Hypotheses

# Hypothesis 2: H<sub>02</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not improve entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers

Table 6.19 shows the results of cross tabulation between entrepreneurship education and the skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers.

Table 6.19: Impact of entrepreneurship education	on skills and knowledge of
SMME owners and managers	

		Entrepreneurship skills are necessa want to start busin		
		Yes	Total	
Received	Yes	148	3	151
entrepreneurship education	No	4	7	11
	Total	152	10	162

The majority of respondents, 148 (98%) who received entrepreneurship education, agreed that entrepreneurship knowledge and skills are necessary to people who want to start their own businesses. It was also noticed that 7 (70%) of the respondents who indicated that entrepreneurship education has nothing to do with the improvement of entrepreneurship knowledge and skills necessary to entrepreneurs and aspiring entrepreneurs, never received entrepreneurship education.

A Chi-square test of association was performed by cross tabulating two variables namely entrepreneurship education and Entrepreneurship knowledge and skills that are necessary to people who want to start businesses. Table 6.20 below shows the Chi-square test results for this hypothesis.

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	67.282 <sup>a</sup>	1	.000		
Continuity Correction <sup>b</sup>	57.059	1	.000		
Likelihood Ratio	31.197	1	.000		
Fisher's Exact Test				.000	.000
Linear-by-Linear Association	66.867	1	.000		
N of Valid Cases	162				

#### Table 6.20: Chi-square tests for Hypothesis 2

From the results, a Chi-square value of 67.282 and 1 degree of freedom with a probability value of 0.000 was found. Since the p-value (probability) of **0.000 is less than 0.05**, it therefore means that we **reject the null hypothesis** and conclude that entrepreneurship education improves entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMMEs owners and managers.

The results for the strength and direction of the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the improvement of entrepreneurship skills appear in table 6.21 on the next page.

	-	Received entrepreneurship education	Entrepreneurship knowledge and skills necessary to people who want to start businesses
Received entrepreneurship education	Pearson Correlation Sig. (2-tailed) N	1 162	<b>.644</b> <sup>**</sup> <b>.000</b> 162
Entrepreneurship knowledge and skills necessary to people who want to start businesses	Pearson Correlation Sig. (2-tailed) N	<b>.644</b> ** <b>.000</b> 162	1 162

Table 6.21:	The Pearson	product moment	correlation fo	r Hypothesis 2
		p. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		

From table 6.21, it shows that the Pearson product moment correlation denoted by *r*, is 0.644, which means that there is a **strong positive** correlation between Entrepreneurship education and the improvement of entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. This proves that the more entrepreneurship education is improved, the more the entrepreneurial skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers are also improved.

The findings of this study are supported by Henry *et al.*, (2003:12) who mentioned that entrepreneurship education enhance entrepreneurship skills and knowledge that is required by entrepreneurs to start their businesses. Alberti *et al.*, (2004:9) also confirms that it is the objective of entrepreneurship education to equip entrepreneurs with entrepreneurship skills.

Hypothesis 3: H<sub>03</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not play any role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

Table 6.22 on the next page depicts cross tabulation of the responses to the question on the impact of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs.

# Table 6.22: Impact of entrepreneurship education on the establishment andsurvival of SMMEs

	-	Establishment and survival of SMMEs		
		Yes	Νο	Total
Received entrepreneurship education	Yes No	106 7	45 4	151 11
	Total	113	49	162

The above table shows that the majority of SMME owners and managers who participated in this study agreed that entrepreneurship education is important for the successful establishment and survival of business ventures. A significant percentage of respondents who never received entrepreneurship education, admitted that entrepreneurship education plays a critical role in the establishment and survival of small businesses.

Subsequently, a Chi-square test of association was performed by cross tabulating two variables, namely entrepreneurship education and the establishment and survival of SMMEs.

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	.209 <sup>a</sup>	1	.007		
Continuity Correction <sup>b</sup>	.014	1	.906		
Likelihood Ratio	.203	1	.652		
Fisher's Exact Test				.736	.438
Linear-by-Linear Association	.208	1	.648		
N of Valid Cases	162				

Table 6 23 <sup>.</sup>	Chi-sa	uare tes	ts for H	lvnothesis	3
14010 0.23.	UIII-34	uare les	13 101 11	iypotriesis	5

From the results in table 6.23, a Chi-square value of 0.209 and 1 degree of freedom with a probability value of 0.007 was found. Since the p-value (probability) of **0.007 is less than 0.05**, it therefore means that we **reject the null hypothesis** and conclude that entrepreneurship education plays a role in the establishment

and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Table 6.24 below shows the direction and strength of the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the establishment and survival of SMMEs.

		Received entrepreneurship education	Establishment and survival of SMMEs
Received entrepreneurs hip education	Pearson Correlation Sig. (2-tailed)	1	.736 .000
	Ν	162	162
Establishment and survival	Pearson Correlation	.736	1
of SMMEs	Sig. (2-tailed) N	.000 162	162

Table 6.24: Correlation between entrepreneurship education and theimprovement of entrepreneurship skills

The Pearson product moment correlation which measures the strength and direction of the association between two variables and denoted by *r*, is **0.736**, which means that there is a **strong positive** correlation between entrepreneurship education and the improvement of entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. This proves that the more entrepreneurship education is improved, the more the skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers are also improved.

These findings are in line with the findings of Luthje and Franke (2002), Charney and Libecup (2000), Robinson and Sexton (1994), Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009), and Driver *et al.*, (2001) who also found a positive relationship between entrepreneurship education and firm creation. Maas and Herrington (2006:12) also state that an increase in entrepreneurial activity is highly dependent on entrepreneurship education.

These results are also supported by Isaacs *et al.*, (2007:614) who concluded that the key to the establishment and survival of entrepreneurial ventures in South Africa, is the issue of education. A positive relationship is further supported by

Martin and Staines (2008) who found that a lack of entrepreneurial skills can actually cause SMME failure. It is therefore true that the future of South African entrepreneurship capacity depends on how well people are being equipped with entrepreneurial skills to establish and run their own businesses (Von Broembsen *et al.*, (2005:36).

## Hypothesis 4: H<sub>04</sub>: There is no relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

A non parametric Chi-squared one–Variable Test was conducted for the above hypothesis to determine whether the number of people in each of the several responses (in line with profitability, wealth maximisation and financial growth) differs from some predicted values. Statistically, the researcher wanted to investigate whether the expected frequencies differ from observed frequencies significantly. Table 6.25 below shows the Chi-square test results.

	The extent to which EE affects profitability	The extent to which EE affects wealth maximisation of owners	The extent to which EE affects financial growth of SMMEs	OVERAL L
Chi-Square	93.370 <sup>a</sup>	122.259 <sup>a</sup>	327.037 <sup>b</sup>	138.148 <sup>c</sup>
Df	2	2	3	5
Asymp. Sig.	.000	.000	.000	.000

### Table 6.25: Chi-square tests for hypothesis 4

The results illustrated in table 6.25 above, show a Chi-square value of 138.148 with 5 degrees of freedom and a p-value of 0.000 Since the **p-value is less than 0.05** it therefore means that **we reject the null hypothesis** and conclude that there is a relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

These findings are supported by Mutezo (2005:6) who stated that SMMEs require support if they are to grow. Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009:35) stress that SMMEs that are run by people with entrepreneurial skills and knowledge, are more successful and make more profit, compared to those that are run by people who lack these crucial skills.

### 6.9.1 Summary of hypotheses testing

Below appears the summary of hypotheses that were statistically tested, which were:

- H<sub>01</sub>: Entrepreneurship education has no impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality;
- H<sub>02</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not improve entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers;
- H<sub>03</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not play any role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality;
- H<sub>04</sub>: There is no relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

A regression analysis which was performed to verify the results also confirmed that all the null hypotheses needed to be rejected. The statistical analysis, using the Chi-square test rejected all the hypotheses. The summarised results of the hypothesis testing are presented in a table 6.26 below.

Hypothesis	Р	Chi-	Degrees	Pearson	Decision
	value	square	of	product	
		value	freedom	moment	
				correlation	
H <sub>01</sub>	0.000	124.757	1	0.878	Reject
H <sub>02</sub>	0.000	67.282	1	0.644	Reject
H <sub>03</sub>	0.007	0.209	1	0.736	Reject
H <sub>04</sub>	0.00	138.148	1	-	Reject

Table 0.20: Summary of result	Table	6.26:	Summary	of	results
-------------------------------	-------	-------	---------	----	---------

Table 6.26 indicates that all null-hypotheses were **rejected**, indicating that entrepreneurship education positively impacts on entrepreneurial performance.

#### 6.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter presented the research findings. The objectives and the hypotheses were revisited. Methods used to analyse data were also explained. The hypotheses were tested, and the conclusions drawn, were related to empirical studies to see whether there is consistence, or lack of consistence. Chapter seven summarises the complete study, gives recommendations and highlights areas that still need further research.
# CHAPTER SEVEN

# **CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### 7.1 INTRODUCTION

Chapter one provided an introduction and background to the study, while Chapter two gave an overview of SMMEs in South Africa and also discussed SMME performance. The role of entrepreneurship on economic growth was discussed in Chapter three, where theories of entrepreneurship theories were also discussed. Chapter four discussed entrepreneurship education. Research methodology, design and techniques were discussed in Chapter five. Research results were presented in Chapter six.

This chapter focuses on the research conclusions related to the objectives and hypotheses of this study. The first part of this chapter provides a summary of the previous chapters of this study. Concluding statements and all the objectives and hypotheses that were formulated for this study are also given. The conclusions are also compared to empirical studies to ascertain their consistency or inconsistency. Limitations of this study and recommendations are addressed in this chapter.

#### 7.2 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE STUDY

This study's major focus was to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs. The study was aimed at investigating the role of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs, determining the role of entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs and identifying strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs.

According to Herrington *et al.*, (2009:13), SMMEs and entrepreneurship have attracted researchers' attention in recent years. This is mainly because the SMME sector is regarded as the driving force for economic growth, poverty eradication and employment creation. As already mentioned, SMMEs form the backbone of the South African economy contributing approximately 39% of the Gross Domestic Product, and employing close to 74% of the economically active South Africans. The government of South Africa recognise the importance of developing the SMME sector and promoting entrepreneurship (O'Neill & Viljoen, 2001:38).

Despite the importance of the SMMEs, 75% of South African SMMEs fail within few years of operation (Von Broembsen *et al.*, 2005:20; Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009:35). It is confirmed that lack of entrepreneurship knowledge and skills is the main cause of failure (Fatoki and Garwe, 2010:731; Herrington & Wood, 2003:1).

Although entrepreneurship education is ranked high on policy agendas of many countries, little research is available to assess its impacts (Von Graevenitz *et al.*, 2010:90). Von Graevenitz at al., (2010:90) noted that the effects of entrepreneurship courses is still poorly understood and the research on entrepreneurship education still has huge gaps. The purpose of this study was to try and close part of this gap.

Better entrepreneurship education can contribute significantly to job creation through the establishment and survival of SMMEs, economic growth and poverty alleviation (Isaacs *et al.*, 2007:613). This therefore means that entrepreneurship education can be a solution to real challenges faced by South Africans today.

Chapter one of this study provided an introduction and background of the study, providing the objectives and also the hypotheses. Chapter two focused on the overview of SMMEs in South Africa. In South Africa, SMMEs are defined in line with the National Small Business Act 102 of 1996. The contributions of SMMEs were looked into and it was found that apart from contributing to the GDP of South Africa, job creation and poverty alleviation, SMMEs also help larger firms and induces competition in the South African Business environment.

Lack of education and training, limited access to financial resources, inaccessibility to markets, lack of support structures and inaccessibility to appropriate technology are some of the challenges that are faced by SMMEs in South Africa.

It was also noted that the performance of SMMEs is of interest to all countries and, Growth and profitability are the main measures of SMME performance. Various models of entrepreneurial performance were identified and discussed. It was noted that the Van Vuuren and Nieman model identified most skills categories that were included by other models. Entrepreneurship skills, motivation and business skills were found to be very crucial for the success of the business. This study focused on entrepreneurship, economic growth and the theories of entrepreneurship. An entrepreneur is described as an economic agent who establish and grows businesses in the face of risk and uncertainty. Innovation, potential for growth and strategic objectives differentiate entrepreneurial ventures from ordinary small businesses. Although entrepreneurship is different from management, an entrepreneur also needs to possess the skills of both the entrepreneur and of the professional manager.

The roles and functions of entrepreneurs were discussed and related to economic theory. Entrepreneurs can be said to have the roles of a speculator, coordinator, product owner, innovator or decision maker. The contribution of entrepreneurs in the economy of South Africa was emphasised in Chapter three.

Entrepreneurship education was said to be very important in turning the skills and knowledge of entrepreneurs into opportunities. Economic theories of entrepreneurship were discussed and were used to explain the contribution of entrepreneurship to the economic growth of any country.

Chapter four discussed entrepreneurship education. It was noted that entrepreneurship education has been promoted in many educational institutions for it is viewed to be very important in nurturing entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurship education is also recommended as a solution to the challenges faced by South Africa, and Umsobomvu (2002:2) recommended that it should be integrated into the school curriculum at all levels of study.

Important to note is that, entrepreneurship education is still at its early stages of development even though some institutions of higher learning in South Africa have been involved since the 1990s. The objectives of entrepreneurship education were highlighted by Alberti, *et al.*, 2004:8-9; Karimi *et al.*, 2010:37; Tobias & Ingrams, 2010:2; Consortium for entrepreneurship education, 2004:3) and was discussed in section 4.2.3. It also targets different audiences including students, entrepreneurs and aspiring entrepreneurs. There are also benefits and challenges that are associated with entrepreneurship education.

Considering the fact that entrepreneurship education is said to be a key in the successful venture creation the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the performance of SMMEs can be said to be positive.

This study also dealt with research methodology. The aspects of the study, such as research design, variable measures, data collection methods and data analysis was examined in Chapter five. A quantitative research design as well as a survey method was used to collect data from respondents through self- administered questionnaires. The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS version 19) was used for data analysis.

The research findings received attention in Chapter six. In order to achieve the objectives of this study, the hypotheses were tested are:

- H<sub>01</sub>: Entrepreneurship education has no impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality;
- H<sub>02</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not improve entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers;
- H<sub>03</sub>: Entrepreneurship education does not play any role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality; and
- H<sub>04</sub>: There is no relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs.

The statistical analysis by making use of the Chi-square test, rejected all the hypotheses.

#### 7.3 ACHIEVEMENT OF OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the study are divided into primary and secondary objectives. The primary objective was to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. The secondary objectives included to investigate the role of entrepreneurship education in improving entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of owner/managers of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, to determine the role of

entrepreneurship education on the establishment and survival of SMMEs and to identify strategies that can be implemented to improve the performance of SMMEs.

The primary objective which established the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs. Empirical evidence from chapter 3 and 4 shows that, entrepreneurship education have a positive impact on the performance of SMMEs. From the findings of this research, it is also concluded that entrepreneurship education has a positive impact on the performance of SMMEs.

Literature confirmed that entrepreneurship education improves entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of owner/managers of SMMEs. This was also confirmed by the findings of this research. It was also noted in empirical studies (Chapter two, three and four) that entrepreneurship education plays a critical role the establishment and survival of SMMEs. These findings were confirmed by the results of this study.

#### 7.4 OTHER FINDINGS OF THIS STUDY

Other findings of the study include that:

- the majority of SMME owners and managers are above the age of thirty. This shows that very few younger people participate in entrepreneurial activities in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality;
- entrepreneurs can be made. Through entrepreneurship education, one can develop entrepreneurial talent, skills and knowledge can be developed. This totally contradicts the view that entrepreneurs are born;
- entrepreneurship education is very important to South Africans because it can ultimately help reduce the effects of socio-economic challenges;
- male entrepreneurs are 50% more than their female counterparts in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Female entrepreneurs constituted only a third of the total entrepreneurs in the Buffalo City Municipality;

- the majority of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality are managed by their owners, and their educational qualifications vary from some without any formal educational qualification, to others who hold degrees equivalent to Masters or above;
- the majority of respondents in the Eastern Cape Province received entrepreneurship education. This was offered to them either by both tertiary education institutions and government agencies;
- SMME operators in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality started receiving entrepreneurship education after 1990;
- entrepreneurship education improves the entrepreneurial skills of SMME operators, hence performance of SMMEs. Entrepreneurship education is also crucial for the establishment, survival, profitability and growth of SMMEs;
- entrepreneurship education can be a solution to ultimately reduce the effects of socio-economic challenges faced by South Africans. The challenges include unemployment, low economic growth, poverty and high failure of SMMEs;
- SEDA, Khula Enterprise Finance, the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC), the government and Institutions of higher learning are among institutions that support entrepreneurship education and the development of the SMME sector in the Buffalo City Municipality;
- access to finance is another challenge faced by SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

#### 7.5 THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS

This study contributes to the literature on the debate of whether entrepreneurs are born or made. The importance of entrepreneurship education to the success of SMMEs and to the economy of the country is proved, thus the results are important to training institutions, governments, government agencies and policy makers. The results also prove that entrepreneurship education can ultimately help reduce the effects of the socio economic challenges faced by South Africans today. The results can therefore be used by the government and government agencies and policy makers to prioritise resources towards the development of entrepreneurial talent through entrepreneurship education. This study contributes to the success of the SMME sector in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality and Eastern Cape Province in general.

In light of the findings of this study, some recommendations are provided in the following section.

### 7.6 RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the findings of this research, some recommendations are suggested to the SMME owners and managers, the government, government agencies, Institutions of higher learning and colleges and other private companies.

#### 7.6.1 Government agencies

Government agencies need to effectively provide services to the people that they ought to serve. They should implement strategies that can help to improve SMME performance in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Government agencies should also target youths and empower them to become employment creators rather than ordinary job seekers. It is also suggested that government agencies work hand in hand with the banks to ease access to finance by SMMEs. Government agencies need to do more; instead of just focusing on the provision of resources. They should also equip entrepreneurs with the necessary skills.

Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA), Eastern Cape Development Agency (ECDC), Khula Enterprise Finance and other government establishments should also be well coordinated in the province with their activities closely monitored. They should also be easily accessible to the people that they ought to serve, that is owners and managers of SMMEs.

#### 7.6.2 Government

Considering the role played by SMMEs and entrepreneurs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality in reducing unemployment and poverty, the government should continuously assess the performance of SMMEs, and help provide resources, where necessary, but in a more sustainable manner. The government should provide resources in a manner that will not limit the entrepreneurial spirit and create a spirit of dependence. It is recommended that the government come up with other strategies to compliment entrepreneurship education that will help create independent entrepreneurs instead of educated beggars.

The government can achieve this by promoting entrepreneurship education programmes in schools, universities and also through organised workshops. Not only students need to be targeted but also the owner managers of already established SMMEs. Funding entrepreneurship education programmes will also be a useful intervention by the government for the private sector will be reluctant to provide unprofitable services. It remains the role of the government to monitor activities of all other stakeholders that promote entrepreneurship and entrepreneurship education in the Republic.

#### 7.6.2 SMME owners and managers

It has to be noted that SMME operators are responsible for the performance of their SMMEs. SMME operators need to take advantage of entrepreneurship education programmes that are offered by institutions of higher learning and government agencies if they really want to improve the performance of their businesses. SMME owners and managers also need to consider empowering their staff with entrepreneurial skills and knowledge. This will give them higher chances of success.

SMME owner managers should not only wait for services provided free of charge by the government or by government agencies, they should seek entrepreneurship education programmes to improve the possibility of success of their establishments.

#### 7.6.3 Institutions of higher learning

Institutions of higher learning need to play a critical role in providing entrepreneurship education, for they have the expertise and resources to do so. Awareness campaigns need to be carried out at universities and colleges to motivate students to enrol for entrepreneurship courses. Entrepreneurship courses need to be offered across all disciplines, this means that it should not be limited only to commerce students. There is also a need to market entrepreneurship as another career alternative for students. This will motivate students to start their own businesses and employ other people rather that just becoming job seekers. It is also important that entrepreneurship education by universities and colleges should not be only limited to registered students, it should be extended to the people around university and college communities, through community engagement projects. Institutions of higher learning should teach people in their communities to create economic opportunities for themselves rather than being dependent on employers or the government.

#### 7.6.4 Banks

Banks should help ease the problem of access to finance of SMMEs. They should monitor and assess the potential of SMME operators, rather than only considering collateral security and a deposit that most SMME owners and managers lack. They should also help in improving the knowledge base and skills of SMME owners and managers that will have applied for finance. It is recommended that banks provide financial resources to SMME operators who show potential for success, those with evidence that they have attained a certain level of education, or who have attended an entrepreneurship education course or at least underwent training.

#### 7.6.5 Other private companies

Other private companies, through their corporate social responsibility, should strive to improve the performance of SMMEs. The fact that SMMEs also aid larger firms, means that assisting SMMEs will be an added advantage to larger firms in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality.

SMMEs should not only be seen as potential competitors by other firms (larger) for they also compliment larger firms.

#### 7.7 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

Due to a limited budget, the researcher could not focus on all SMMEs in the Eastern Cape Province. This researcher only focused on SMMEs registered in the

Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. Only SMMEs registered with the Eastern Cape Development Corporation participated in this research. There were also literacy problems because some respondents were not able to read and write. Although there was an 80% response rate, it has to be noted that some (20%) of the respondents did not cooperate. Based on the limitations highlighted, the results should be used with caution, especially when generalising to the whole of South Africa.

### 7.8 CONCUSION

This study concludes that entrepreneurship education has a positive impact on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, and it improves entrepreneurship skills and knowledge of SMME owners and managers. Entrepreneurship education also plays a role in the establishment and survival of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. The study also concludes that there is a positive relationship between entrepreneurship education and the profitability and growth of SMMEs. Entrepreneurship education is crucial for the establishment and survival of SMMEs.

The study supports the findings of Karimi *et al.*, (2010:377), and Hisrich *et al.*, (2008) who concluded that entrepreneurship education improves the entrepreneurial skills of managers and owners of SMMEs. The study is also in line with the findings of Mutezo (2005:89) and Nieman and Nieuwenhuizen (2009) who concluded that entrepreneurship education positively impacts on the profitability of SMMEs.

Van Vuuren and Nieman (1999), Ucbasaran *et al.*, (2004) and Daroch and Clover (2005) in their models of entrepreneurial performance prove that entrepreneurship education, through the development of entrepreneurial skills and knowledge, have a positive impact on SMME performance. The findings of this study supports various authous who found a positive link between entrepreneurship education and the performance of entrepreneurial ventures (Peterman & Kennedy, 2003; Fayolle *et al.*, 2006; Souitaris, Zerbinati, & Al-Laham, 2007, and Von Graevenitz *et al.*, 2010).

Areas of further research are suggested in the section that follows.

#### 7.9 AREAS OF FURTHER RESEARCH

It is suggested that the same study be carried out at a national level. The effectiveness of the teaching methodologies or pedagogy used in entrepreneurship education in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality needs to be assessed. The effectiveness of government support to SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality also needs to be assessed. It is also important that the impediments to youth entrepreneurship in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality are investigated.

#### 7.10 CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter covered the conclusion of the study and the recommendations. An overview of literature chapters was given and the research objectives were relooked into. The results of the study were also revisited and summarised. This chapter gave the main findings of this research and explained how this research will be useful in the development of the SMME sector. The limitations of this study were highlighted, areas of further research were suggested and some recommendations for the development of the SMME sector were provided to the banks, government, government agencies, and institutions of higher learning.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- AAKER, D.A., KUMAR, V. AND DAY, G.S. 2003. *Marketing Research*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- ADEREMI, H.O., ILORI M.O., SIYANBOLA, W.O, ADEGBITE, S.A. AND ABEREIJO, I.O. 2008. An assessment of the choice of performance of women entrepreneurs in technological and non-technological enterprises in South Western Nigeria. African Journal of Business Management, 2(10):165-176.
- AGUPUSI, P. 2007. Small Business Development and Poverty Alleviation in Alexandra, South Africa. School of Development Studies, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK.
- AHWIRENG-OBENG, F. 2006. Entrepreneurship in Africa. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.
- ALBERTI, F., SCIASCIA, S. AND POLI, A. 2004. Entrepreneurship Education: Notes on an ongoing Debate. Proceedings of the 14<sup>th</sup> Annual International Entrepreneurship Conference. University of Nopoli, Federico II, Italy, 4-7 July.
- ALBERTI, F.G., SCIASCIA, S. AND POLI, A. 2005. *The domain of entrepreneurship education: Key issues*. International Journal of Entrepreneurship Education, 2:453-482.
- ANTONITES, A.J. 2003. An Action Learning Approach to Entrepreneurial activity, innovation and opportunity finding. PhD. University of Pretoria. [Online]. Available:

http://74.125.77.132/search/q=cache.DIZnExwD91tmw.j.ftp/ftp.zew.de/pub [Accessed: 10 July 2009].

- AROGUNDADE, B.B. 2011. Entrepreneurship education: An imperative for sustainable development in Nigeria. Journal of emerging trends in educational research and policy studies, 2(1):26-29.
- BABBIE, E. AND MOUTON, J. 2002. *The practice of social research.* Cape Town: Oxford University Press.

- BARREIRA, J.C.D. 2004. The Influence of Business Knowledge and work experience as antecedents to entrepreneurial success. Thesis. University of Pretoria.
- BBENKELE, E AND NDEDI, A, A. 2010. Fostering Entrepreneurship Education in South Africa: The Roles of SETA. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.worldsustainable.org/index.php/books/africa/volume2</u> [Accessed 07 January 2012].
- BBENKELE, E.K. 2007. An investigation of small and medium enterprises perceptions towards services offered by commercial banks in South Africa. African Journal of Accounting, Economics, Finance and Business Research, 1(1):13-25.
- BINKS, M. AND VALE, P. 1990. *Entrepreneurship and economic change*. London: McGraw-Hill.
- BLOCK, Z. AND STUMPF, S.A. 1992. *Entrepreneurship Education Research: Experience and Challenge*. In Sexton, D.L. and Kasarda, J.D. The state of the art of entrepreneurship PWS-Kent.
- BOTHA, M. 2006. *Measuring the effectiveness of the women entrepreneurship programme as a training intervention, on potential, start-up and established women entrepreneurs in South Africa*. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Pretoria.
- BOTHA, M., NIEMAN, G.H. AND VAN VUUREN, J.J. 2006. Evaluating the women entrepreneurship training programme: A South African Study. International Indigenous Journal of Entrepreneurship, Advancement, Strategy and Education.
- BREWER, J.P. 2010. Sustainability of South African FMCG SMME retail businesses in Cape Peninsula. Cape Peninsula University of Technology.
- BRIJLAL, P. 2008. The state of entrepreneurship education at tertiary institutions in the Western Cape. Journal of College teaching and Learning, 5 (2):25-36.
- BROCKHAUS. R. 2001. *Foreword*. In Brockhaus, R., Hills, G., Klandt, H. and Welch, H. *Entrepreneurship Education. A global view*. Aldershot: Ashgate.

- BRYMAN. A. AND BELL, E. 2003. Business research methods. New York: Oxford University Press. Bulletin. (23)2:192-211.
- BURGER, L., O'NEILL, C. AND MAHADEA, D. 2005. The impact of previous knowledge and experience on the entrepreneurial attitudes of grade 12 learners. South African Journal of Education, 25(2):89-94.
- CANT, M., GERBER-NEL, C., NEL, D. AND KOTZE, T. 2005. *Marketing Research*. Pretoria: Van Schaik.
- CASSON, M.C. 1982. The entrepreneur: an Economic Theory. Martin Robertson & Co. Ltd.
- CHALERA, C. S. 2007. An Impact analysis of South Africa's national strategy for the development and promotion of SMMEs. University of Pretoria. (Online). Available: <u>http://upetd.up.ac.za/thesis/available/etd-05022007-102936</u> [Accessed 10 June 2010].
- CHARNEY, A. AND LIBECUP, D.B. 2000. The impact of Entrepreneurship Education: An evaluation of the Berger Entrepreneurship Program at the University of Arizona, 1985-1999. Kansas City, M1. The Kauffman Centre for Entrepreneurial Leadership.
- CHISNAL, P. 2005. Marketing Research: Mac Graw-Hill. New York.
- CHODOKUFA, K. 2009. An analysis of the business relationship between SMEs and insurance companies in the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Area. Unpublished Dissertation. University of Fort Hare.
- CLOVER, T.A. AND DARROCH, M.A.G. 2005. Owner's perceptions of factors that constrain the survival and growth of small, medium and micro agribusinesses in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. Agrekon, 44(2):238-263.
- CO, M.J. AND MITCHELL, B. 2005. Entrepreneurship Education in South Africa; A nationwide survey. Int Ent. 2005. School of Management. University of Surrey.

- CO, M.J. AND MITCHELL, B. 2006. Entrepreneurship in South Africa: A nationwide Survey. Education and Training, 48 (5):348-359 (Online) Available: http://www.emaraldinsight.com/0040-0912.htm [Accessed 25 January 2012].
- CO, M.J., GROENEWALD, J., VAN ZYL, J., VISSER, K., TRAIN, W. AND EMANUEL, B. 2006. *Entrepreneurship. Fresh perspectives*. Prentice Hall, South Africa.
- COAKES, S.J. 2005. SPSS Version 12.0 for windows Analysis without Anguish. Sydney: John Wiley & Sons Australia Limited.
- CONSORTIUM OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION. 2004. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.entre-ed.org/\_entre/lifelong.htm</u> [ Accessed 24 October 2011].
- CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT BOARD. 2010. Available online: <u>www.cidb.org.za</u>.
- COOPER, D.R. AND SCHINDLER, P.S. 2006. *Business Research Methods*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- CRONJE, G.J., DU TOIT, G.S. AND MOTLATLA, M.D.C. 2001. Introduction to Business Management. Cape Town: Oxford University Press, Southern Africa.
- DANA, L.P. 2001. *The education and training of entrepreneurs in Asia*. Education and training, 43(8/9):405-415.
- DARROCH, M.A.G. AND CLOVER, T.A. 2005. The effects of entrepreneurial quality on the success of small, medium and micro agribusinesses in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. Agrekon, 44 (3):321-343.
- DAVID, F.R. 2009. Strategic Management: Concepts and cases, 11<sup>th</sup> Edition. Pearson.
- DAVIES, T.A. 2001. Enhancing competitiveness in the manufacturing sector: Key opportunities provided by interfirm clustering. Competitiveness Review, 11 (2):4-6.

- DE VOS, A.S. 2002. Research at grassroots for Social Sciences and Human Services professional. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Pretoria Van Schaik Publishers.
- DEAKINS, D. AND FREEL, M. 1998. *Entrepreneurial learning and the growth process in SMMEs.* Learning Organisation, 5(3):144-155.
- DEAKINS, D. AND FREEL, M. 2009. *Entrepreneurship and small firms*. 5<sup>th</sup> Edition. New York: McGraw Hill.
- DEPARTMENT OF TRADE AND INDUSTRY (DTI). 2005. South African Women Entrepreneurs- A burgeoning force in our economy. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.thedti.gov.za/sawen/SAWENreport2.pdf</u> [Accessed 14 September 2011].
- DEPARTMENT OF TRADE AND INDUSTRY (DTI). 2007. Intergrated Small enterprise Development Strategy and Implementation update. Presentation to the consultative forum of the Council.
- DEVINS, D., JOHNSON, S. AND SUTHERLAND, J. 2004. Employer characteristics and employee training outcomes in the United Kingdom SMEs: A multivariate. Journal of Small Business and Entreprise Development, 11(4): 449-457.
- DHLIWAYO, S. 2008. Experimental learning in entrepreneurship education. A prospective model for South African tertiary institutions. Education and Training, 50(4):329-340.
- DODESCU, A. AND BADULESCU, A. 2010. Entrepreneurship Education and Training. Case study: The AntrES programme on Women Entrepreneurship in Western Romania. Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> WSEAS International Conference on Economy and Management transformation, 2.
- DRIVER, A., WOOD, E., SEGAL, N. AND HERRINGTON, M. 2001. *Global Entrepreneurship Monitor*. South African Executive Edition.
- DRUCKER, P.F. 1985. Innovation and entrepreneurship: Practice and Principles. Heinemann. London.

- DU TOIT, G.S., ERASMUS, B.J. AND STRYDOM, J.W. 2009. Introduction to Business Management. 7<sup>th</sup> Edition. Oxford, Southern Africa.
- DZANSI, D.Y. 2004. Social Responsibility of SMMEs in Rural Communities. University of Pretoria.
- EASTERN CAPE DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION. 2011. (Online). Available: <u>http://www.ecdc.co.za/about\_the-eastern\_cape\_development\_corporation</u> [Accessed 6 December 2011].
- EKPE, I. 2011. Women entrepreneurs and economic development in Nigeria: Characteristics for success. International Journal of Business and Social Science 2(1):287-291.
- ENTRENEWS. 2004. The newsletter of efmd's Entrepreneurship, Innovation and small business network. Issue 2. University of Lincoln and Wood Holmes Group (UK).
- ENTREPRENEUR SA. 2005. *South Africa's leading monthly on entrepreneurship:* A profile. Nubia Media and Publishing. Randburg.
- EUROPEAN UNION. 2002. Final Report of the Expert group "Best Procedure" Project on Education and Training for Entrepreneurship. Brussels: European Commission Directorate-General for Enterprise.
- FATOKI, O. AND GARWE, D. 2010. Obstacles to the growth of new SMEs in South Africa: A principal Component analysis approach. African Journal of Business Management, 4(5):729-738.
- FATOKI, O. AND ODEYEMI, A. 2010. Which New Small and Medium Enterprises in South Africa Have Access to Bank Credit. International Journal of Business and Management, 5(10):128-136.
- FAYOLLE, A., GAILLY, B. AND LASSAS-CLERC, N. 2006. Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education programmes: A new methodology. Journal of European Industrial Training. 30:701-720.
- FIELD, A. 2009. *Discovering Statistics Using SPSS*. 3rd Edition. London: Sage Publications Ltd.

- FINMARK TRUST. 2006. *Fin Scope Small Business Survey Report*. (Online). Available: http://www.finmarktrust.org.za [ Accessed 3 April 2010].
- FOXCROFT, M., WOOD, W., KEW, K., HERRINGTON, M. AND SEGAL, N. 2002. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor South African Report [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf</u> [Accessed: 10 May, 2009].
- FREDERICK, H.H. 2007. Blended learning in entrepreneurship Education in the Asia Pacific: A Grounded Theory Approach to entrepreneurship pedagogy. Submitted to Small Entreprise Conference, September 2007.
- FREEMAN, S. 2000. Partnerships between small and medium enterprises and universities that add value. Education and training, 42(6):372-377.
- GERBER-NEL, C., NEL, D. AND KOTZE, T. 2005. *Marketing research*. Claremont: New Africa Books (Pty) Ltd.
- GHAURI, P. AND GRONHAUG, K. 2005. *Research methods in business studies*. Dorset: Prentice Hall.
- GLANCEY, K., GREIG, M. AND PETTIGREW, M. 1998. Entrepreneurial dynamics in small business service firms. International Journal of entrepreneurial behaviour ad research, 4(3)249-268.
- GLOBAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP MONITOR, 2004. Report on Women Entrepreneurship.[On-line]Available: <u>http://www.google.co.za/search?hl=en&q=GEM+women+report&btnG=Google</u> <u>+Search&meta=&aq=f&oq=[Accessed</u> [18 March 2009].
- GOSH, A. AND BLOCK, Z. 1994. Audiences for entrepreneurship education: Characteristics and needs. The project for excellence in entrepreneurship education.
- GOUWS, E. 2002. *Entrepreneurship education: Implications for teacher training*. South African Journal of Higher education, 16(2):41-48.
- GOVERNMENT GAZETTE OF THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA. 2003. National Small Business Amendment Act [On-line] Available:

http//www.info.gov.za/gazette/acts/2003/a26-03/pdf [Accessed 11 August 2011].

- GUROL, Y. AND ASTAN, N. 2006. Entrepreneurial characteristics amongst university students: Some insights for entrepreneurship education and training in Turkey. Education and Training, 48(1):25-38.
- HAIR, F. J., WOLFINBARGER, M., ORTINAU, D. J. AND BUSH, R.P. 2008. Essentials of Marketing Research. New York: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- HELLRIEGEL, D., JACKSON, S. E., SLOCUM, J., STAUDE, G., AMOS, T., KLOPPER, H.P., LOUW, L. AND OOSTHUIZEN, T. 2008. *Management.* 2<sup>nd</sup> *South Africa Edition.* Oxford University Press. Oxford.
- HENRY, C., HILL F. AND LEITCH, C. 2005. Entrepreneurship education and training: Can entrepreneurship be taught? Part 1. Education and Training, 47 (2):98-111.
- HENRY, C., HILL, F. AND LEITCH, C. 2005. Entrepreneurship education and training: Can entrepreneurship be taught? Part 2. Education and Training, 47 (3): 158-169 (Online) Available: <u>http://www.emeraldinsight.com/0040-0912.htm</u> [Accessed 12 January 2012].
- HERRINGTON, M. AND WOOD, E. 2003. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, South African Report [online] Available: <u>http://www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf.</u> [Accessed 10.05.2010].
- HERRINGTON, M. WOOD, E. 2003. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, South African Report. [Online] Available: http/www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf. [Accessed 10 May 2010].
- HERRINGTON, M., KEW, J. AND KEW, P. 2009. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, South African report. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf</u> [Accessed 15 October 2009].

- HISRICH, R.D. AND PETERS, M.P. 2002. *Entrepreneurship. International* 5<sup>th</sup> *Edition*. McGraw Hill/ Irvin; Higher Education.
- HISRICH, R.D., PETERS, M.P. AND DEAN A.S. 2008. Entrepreneurship, 7th edition, New York: McGraw-Hill Irwin.
- IACOBUCCI, D. AND CHURCHIL, G.A. 2010. Marketing Research Methodological Foundations. 10<sup>th</sup> Edition. International Edition. South Western Centage Learning.
- IBRAHIM, A.B., SOUFANI K., POUTZIOURIS, P. AND LAM, J. 2004. Qualities of an effective successor: The role of education and training. Education and training, 46(9):474-480).
- INVESTOPEDIA. 2011. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/arbitrageur.asp#axzz1kghGxjDh</u> [Accessed 28 January 2012].
- ISAACS, E., VISSER, K., FRIEDRICH, C. AND BRIJAL, P. 2007. Entrepreneurship Education and Training at the Further Education and Training (FET) level in South Africa. South African Journal of Education 27:613-629.
- JACK, S.L. AND ANDERSON, A.R. 1999. *Entrepreneurship education within the enterprise culture: Productive reflective practitioners*. International Journal of entrepreneurial behavior and research, 5(3):110-125.
- JENNINGS, D.F. 1994. *Multiple perspectives of entrepreneurship*. Cincinnati, Ohio:South Western Publishing Company.
- JINABHAI, D. AND KADWA, F. 2007. The National Policy Environment of Small, Micro and Medium Enterprises in South Africa-An Empirical Study. African Journal of Public Administration and Management, 18(1).
- JONES, C. AND ENGLISH, J. 2004. A contemporary approach to entrepreneurship education. Journal of education and training, 46 (8/9): 416-423.

- KABONGO, J.D. AND OKPARA, J.O. 2010. Entrepreneurship education in Sub-Saharan African Universities. International Journal of entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research, 16(4):296-308.
- KANGASHARJU, A. 2000. Growth of the smallest: Determinants of small firm growth during strong macroeconomic fluctuations. International Small Business Journal, 19(1):28-43.
- KARIMI, S., CHIZARI, M., BIEMANS, H.J.A. AND MULDER, M. 2010. Entrepreneurship education in Iranian Higher Education: The Current State and Challenges. European Journal of Scientific Research. 48(1):35-50.
- KATZ, J. 2003. The chronology and intellectual trajectory of American entrepreneurship education 1876-1999. Journal of Business Venturing, 18 (1):283-300.
- KEOUGH, J. 2003. A better year in 2003. Industrial distribution, 92 (1):17-19.
- KERLINGER, F.N. 1986. Foundations of Behavioural Research. 3rd Edition. New York: CBS College Publishing.
- KESPER, A. 2000. Failing or not aiming to grow? Manufacturing SMMEs and their contribution to employment growth in South Africa. Paper presented at the 200 TIPS Forum, September, Johannesburg.
- KESPER, A. 2000. Making a living in the city: Small and success of Small Enterprises in the Johannesburg Inner City: Paper presented at the Urban Futures Conference, 10-17 July, Johannesburg.
- KESPER, A. 2000. *Manufacturing SMMEs in the in the Vaal Triangle-Survey results*. Report prepared for the office of the Industrial and Policy Research, May, Johannesburg.
- KHULA ENTERPRISE FINANCE. 2010. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.khula.org.za/content838.html</u> [Accessed 21May 2010.
- KLOFSTEN, M. AND SPAETH, M. 2004. Entrepreneurship training for regional growth and innovation: A Swedish case study and ten year retrospective. Entrepreneurship training for regional growth and innovation. (Online)

Available; <u>http://www.sbaer.uca.edu/research/icsb/2004/papers%20pdf/130pdf</u> [Accessed 15 January 2012].

KNIGHT, F.H. 1964. Risk, uncertainty and profit. New York.

- KONGOLO, M. 2010. Job creation versus job shedding and the role of SMEs in economic development. African Journal of Business Management, 4 (11):2288-2295.
- KOTZE, L. AND SMIT, A. 2008. Personal Financial Literacy and Personal Debt Management: The Potential Relationships With New Venture Creation. SAJESBMNS, 1(1):35-50.
- KROON, J. 2001. The role of entrepreneurship education in career expectations of students. South African Journal of Higher Education, 15(1):47-53.
- KUNENE, T.R. 2008. A critical analysis of entrepreneurial and business skills in SMEs in textile and clothing industry in Johannesburg, South Africa.
   Unpublished Doctoral Thesis. University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- LADZANI, W.M. AND VAN VUUREN, J.J. 2002. *Entrepreneurship Training* [Online] Available: http:// icbm.bangkok.googlepages.com/48.Zaini.Jamaludin [Accessed 15 March 2008].
- LANGE, T., OTTENS, M. AND TAYLOR, A. 2000. SMEs and barriers to skills development: A Scottish perspective. Journal of European Industrial training, 24(1):5-11.
- LIGTHELM, A.A. AND CANT, M.C. 2002. Business success factors of SMEs in Gauteng: A proactive entrepreneurial approach. UNISA. Bureau of market research. Research Report number 311. Faculty of Economic and Management Science.
- LONGENECKER, J.D., MOORE, C.W., PETTY, J.W. AND PALICH, L.E. 2006. Small Business Management. An entrepreneurial emphasis. International edition. Thompson, South Western.
- LOUBSER, M. 1999. *Marketing Research: A South African Approach*. Pretoria. University of South Africa Publishing.

- LOWE, R. AND MARRIOT, S. 2006. Enterprise, Entrepreneurship and Innovation- Concepts, Contexts and Commercialisation. Butterworth-Heinemann.
- LUIZ, J. 2002. Small Business Development Entrepreneurship & Expanding the Business Sector in a Developing Economy: The case of South Africa. The Journal of Applied Business Research, 18(2).
- LUTHJE, C. AND FRANKE, N. 2002. Fostering entrepreneurship through university education and training: Lessons from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 2<sup>nd</sup> Annual Conference on Innovative Research in management, Stockholm. Sweden.
- MAAS, G. AND HERRINGTON, M. 2006. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor South African Executive Report (Online). Available: <u>http://www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf</u> Accessed: 10 May 2011].
- MAHOLTRA, N.K., HALL, J., SHAW, M. AND OPPENHEIM, P.P. 2008. Essentials of Marketing Research – An Applied Orientation. 2nd Edition. New South Wales: Pearson Education Australia.
- MAN, T.W.Y., LAU, T. AND CHAN, K.F. 2002. The competitiveness of small and medium enterprises: A conceptualisation with focus on entrepreneurial competencies. Journal of Business Venturing, 17(2):123-142.
- MARTEN, F. 2005. "Destined for Success in Small Business". Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 138(2):12-14.
- MASSEY, C. 2004. Is the training train out of control? A case evaluation failure from New Zealand. Journal of Small Business development, 11(4):448-466
- MAUCHI, F.N.,KARAMBAKUWA, R.T., GOPO, R.N., KOSMOS, N., MANGWENDE, S. AND GOMBARUME, F.B. 2011. Entrepreneurship Education Lessons: A case of Zimbabwean tertiary education institutions. International Research Journals, 2 (7):1306-1311.

McCLELLAND, D.C. 1961. The achieving society, Van Nostrand, Princeton, N.J.

- MCGEE, J., THOMAS, H. AND WILSON, D. 2005. *Strategy: Analysis and Practice*. London: McGraw Hill.
- McMULLAN, W.E. AND GILLIN, L.M. 2001. Entrepreneurship education in the nineties revised. In Brockhauus R, Hills G and Welsch H. (EDS) Entrepreneurship education. A global view. Aldershot. Ashgate.
- MINNITI, M. ARENIUS, P. AND LANGOWITZ, N. 2005. Global entrepreneurship Monitor: 2004 Report on Women and Entrepreneurship.0 On-line]: Available: <u>http://www.google.co.za/search?hl=en&q=women+in+entrepreneurship+The+</u> <u>Entrepreneurial+Advantage+Of+Nations%3A&btnG=Search&meta</u> [Accessed19 August 2010]
- MORH, P., FOURIE, L. AND ASSOCIATES. 2009. *Economics for South African Students.* 4<sup>th</sup> *Edition*. Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.
- MUELLER, S.L. AND THOMAS, A.S. 2001. Culture and entrepreneurial potential: A nine country study of locus of control and innovativeness. Journal of business venturing, 16(1):51-75.
- MUIJANACK. J., VROONHOF.P. AND ZOETMER. J.S. 2003. Self employment and becoming an entrepreneur as a second career for dependent employees (On-line).

Available:http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/entrepreneurship/support\_measures/s econd\_career/doc/second\_career\_eim\_final\_report.pdf [Accessed: 17 July 2011].

- MUTEZO, A.T. 2005. Obstacles in the access to SMME finance: an empirical perspective on Tshwane. Unpublished Thesis. University of South Africa.
- NASSER, M.E., DU PREEZ, J. AND HERRMANN, K. 2003. Flight of the young Flamingoes: Futures for young entrepreneurs in South Africa. Futures, 35 (4):393-401.
- NAUDE, D. 2007. The degree of organizational performance measurement in SMEs. A focus on ICT enterprises. Unpublished Dissertation. UNISA.

- NGUYEN, T.D.K. AND RAMACHANDRAN, N. 2006. Capital structure in small and medium-size enterprises: the case of Vietnam. ASEAN Economic Bulletin, 23(2):192-211.
- NIEMAN, G. 2001. *Training entrepreneurs and small business enterprises in South Africa: A situational analysis*. Education and Training, 43(8/9):445-450.
- NIEMAN, G. AND NEUWENHUIZEN, C. 2009. *Entrepreneurship: A South African Perspective*. Pretoria: Van Schaik.
- NIEMAN, G. AND PRETORIUS, M. 2004. *Managing growth. A guide for entrepreneurs*. Cape Town: Juta and Co. Ltd.
- NIEMAN, G.H., HOUGH, J. AND NIEUWENHUIZEN, C. 2003. *Entrepreneurship:* A South African Perspective. Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.
- NIEUWENHUIZEN, C. 2004. *Basics of entrepreneurship*. Lansdowne, Cape Town: Juta &Co. Ltd.
- NORTH, E. 2002. A decade of entrepreneurship education in South Africa. South African Journal of Education. 22(1):22-27.
- NOTHNAGEL, B.L. 2006. Internet marketing communications: A content analysis of websites of graded lodges in South Africa. Unpublished Dissertation. University of Pretoria. South Africa.
- O'NEILL, R.C. AND VILJOEN, L. 2001. Support for female Entrepreneurs in South Africa: Improvement or decline? Journal of family ecology and customer sciences, 29:37-44.
- OLUTUNLA, G.T. AND OBAMUYI, T.M. 2008. An empirical analysis of factors associated with the profitability of Small and medium-enterprises in Nigeria. African Journal of Business Management, 2(10):195-200.
- PERKS, S. AND STUWIG, M. 2005. Skills necessary to grow Micro Entrepreneurs into Small Business Entrepreneurs. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, (2):171-186.

- PETERMAN, N. AND KENNEDY, J. 2003. Enterprise Education: Influencing students' perceptions of entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 28:129-144.
- PRETORIUS, M. AND SHAW, G. 2004. Business plan in bank-decision making when financing new ventures in South Africa. South African Journal of Economics and Management Science 7(2): 221-242.
- PRETORIUS, M. 2001. A training model to enhance micro and small business start-ups in South Africa. Unpublished Thesis. Pretoria Technikon. Pretoria.
- PRETORIUS, M., MILLARD, S.M. AND KRUGER, M.E. 2005. Creativity, Innovation and Implementation: Management experience, venture size, life cycle stage, race and gender as moderators. South African Journal of Business Management, 36(4):55-68.
- PRETORIUS, M., VAN VUUREN, J.J. AND NIEMAN, G.H. 2005. Critical evaluation of two models for entrepreneurial education: An improved model through integration. International Journal of educational Management, 9 (9):413-427.
- PROCTOR, T. 2000. *Essentials of Marketing Research*. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.
- RAE, D. 2000. Understanding entrepreneurial learning: A question of how? International Journal of entrepreneurial behaviour and research, 6: (3):145-159.
- RAOSOFT. 2011. Samplesizecalculator (Online). Available: http://www.ezsurvey.com/samplesize.html [Accessed 29 July 2011]
- RAPOSO, M. AND DO PACO, A. 2010. Special issue: Entrepreneurship and education-links between education and entrepreneurial activity. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal
- ROBERTS-LOMBARD, M. 2002. *Marketing Research A Southern African Perspective.* Cape Town: Future Managers

- ROBERTSON, M., COLLINS, A., MEDEIRA, N. AND SLATER, J. 2003. Barriers to start-up and their effect on aspirant entrepreneurs. Education and Training, 45(6):308-316.
- ROBERTSON, P.L. 2003. The role of training and skilled labour in the success of SMEs in developing economies. Education and Training, 45(9):461-473.
- ROBINSON, P.B. AND SEXTON, E.A. 1994. The effect of education and experience on self employment success. Journal of Business Venturing, 9: 141-156.
- ROGERSON, C.M. 2001. Successful SMEs in South Africa: the case of clothing producers in the Witwatersrand. Journal of Development Southern Africa, 17(5) December 2000.
- RWIGEMA, H. AND VENTER, R. 2004. *Advanced Entrepreneurship*. Oxford University Press: Southern Africa.
- SATTARI, S. 2007. Application of Disconfirmation Theory on Customer Satisfaction Determination Model in Mobile Telecommunication: Case of Prepaid Mobiles in Iran. Published Master of Science in Marketing and Electronic-Commerce Thesis. Scandinavia: Lulea University of Technology.
- SEGAL, G. BORGIA, D. AND SCHOENFELD, J. 2005. The motivation to become an entrepreneur. International Journal of Entrepreneurship Behaviour and Research. 1(11):42-57
- SEKARAN, U. 2003. *Research Methods for Business- A Skill Building Approach*. 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- SHAFEEK, S. 2006. An Investigation into problems facing Small-to-Medium Sized Enterprises in achieving growth in the Eastern Cape: Enhancing the strategy for developing small "Growth Potential" Firms in the Eastern Cape. Unpublished dissertation, Rhodes University, Eastern Cape, South Africa.
- SIMPSON, M., TUCK, N. AND BELLAMY, S. 2004. Small business success factors: The role of education and training. Education and Training, 46(9):481-491.

- SMALL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY. 2010. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.seda.org.za/Pages/Seda-Welcome.aspx</u> [Accessed 21 May 2010].
- SOLOMON .G.T. 2007. An examination of entrepreneurship education in the United States. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 14 (2):168-182.
- SOUITARIS, V., ZERBINATI, S. AND AL-LAHAM, A. 2007. Do entrepreneurship programmes raise entrepreneurial intention of science and engineering students? The effect of learning, inspiration and resources. Journal of Business Venturing 22:566–591.
- SOUTH AFRICA INFORMATION. 2005. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.southafrica.info/2010/2010SMME\_1907.htm</u> [Accessed 14 May 2011]
- SOUTH AFRICA. 1996. Republic of South Africa. National Small Business Act, 102 of 1996. Government Gazette.
- SOUTH AFRICAN YEARBOOK. 2006/2007. (Online) Available: <u>http://www.gcis.gov.za/docs/publications/yearbook/htm</u> [Accessed 20 April 2011]
- STATISTICS SOUTH AFRICA. 2010. Quarterly Labour Force Survey: First Quarter: (On-line) Available: ttp://www.info.gov.za/speeches/2009/09072911151001.htm [Accessed 27 September 2010].
- STATISTICS SOUTH AFRICA. 2009. Quarterly labour force survey.[Online]. Available: <u>http://www.statssa.gov.za/publication/find publication asp</u> [Accessed: 18 November 2011].
- STATISTICS SOUTH AFRICA. 2010. Quarterly Labour Force Survey: First Quarter (Online) Available: <u>http://www.info.gov.za/speeches/2009/09072911151001.htm</u>. [Accessed 27 November 2011].

- STOKES, D., WILSON, N. AND MADOR, M. 2010. *Entrepreneurship*. South Western, Centage Learning.
- SUDMAN, S. AND BLAIR, E. 1998. *Marketing Research: A problem solving approach*. Boston. McGraw-Hill
- SULLIVAN, R. 2000. 'Entrepreneurial learning and mentoring'. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research, 6(3):160–175. Sutherland (2004).
- SWANEPOEL, E., STRYDOM, J.W. AND NIEUWENHUIZEN, C. 2010. An empirical analysis of a private company's corporate social investment in SMME development in South Africa. South African Business Review. 14(1):58-78.
- TERRE BLANCHE, M. AND DURRHEIM, K. 2002. *Research in practice: Applied Methods for the social Sciences*. Cape Town: University of Cape Town.
- THE BUSINESS PLACE. 2009. *Fact Sheet*, University of Stellenbosch. (Online) Available: http://www.reciprocity.co.za/documents/Reciprocity\_BoP-FactSheet\_BusinessPlace.pdf [Accessed 09 April 2010]
- THE CONSORTIUM OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP EDUCATION. 2004. Available at http://www.entre-ed.org/\_entre/lifelong.htm.
- THOMAS, A.B. 2004. Research Skills for Management Studies. London & New York: Routledge.
- TIMMONS, J.A. AND SPINELLI, S. 2007. *New venture creation: entrepreneurship for the 21<sup>st</sup> century.* Boston: McGraw Hill.
- TOBIAS, J.M. AND INGRAMS, A. 2010. Creating a different kind of an innovator: Using health communication theory in Entrepreneurship education to foster behaviour change among entrepreneurship students in Sub-Saharan Africa. Journal of education for International Development 4 (3):1-20.
- TOYE, J. 2002. *Research summary*. Centre for study of African economies. University of Oxford.

- TUSTIN, D. LIGTHELM, A.A. MARTINS, J.H. AND VAN WYK, H.J. 2005. *Marketing Research in Practice*. Pretoria: Unisa Press.
- TUSTIN, D.H. 2003. Small business skills audit in peri-urban areas of Northern Tswane. UNISA. Bureau of Market Research. Research Report number 315. Faculty of Economic and Management Science.
- UCBASARAN, D., WESTHEAD, P. AND WRIGHT, M. 2004. *Human Capital based determinants of opportunity recognition*. Frontiers of entrepreneurship Research: Babsin College.
- UCBASARAN, D., WESTHEAD, P. AND WRIGHT, W. 2001. *The focus of entrepreneurial research: Contextual and process issues.* Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 25(4):57-80.
- UMSOBOMVU YOUTH FUND. 2002. Entrepreneurship skills development and business support needs of potential and existing young entrepreneurs. Witwatersrand University, South Africa.
- VAN AARDT, I., VAN AARDT, C., BEZUIDENHOUT, S. AND MUMBA, M. 2008.
   *Entrepreneurship and New Venture Management*. 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition. Oxford University Press: Southern Africa.
- VAN SCHEERS, L. 2011. SMEs' marketing skills challenges in South Africa. African Journal of Business Management, 5(13):5048-5056.
- VAN VUUREN, J. AND NIEMAN, G. 1999. "Entrepreneurship Education and Training: A model for Curriculum/Syllabi design" in Raffa, M (Eds), Proceedings of the 44<sup>th</sup> World Conference of the International Council for Small Business (ICSB).
- VINTURELLA, J.B. 1999. *The entrepreneur's field book*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.
- VOLKMAN, C. 2004. Entrepreneurship studies- An ascending academic discipline in the twenty-first century. Higher Education Europe, 29(2):177-185.
- VON BROEMBSEN, M. WOOD, E. AND HERRINGTON, M. 2005. *Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, South African Report* (Online). Available:

http://www.gbs.nct.ac.za/gbswebb/userfiles/gemsouthafrica2000pdf Accessed: 10 May, 2011]

- VON GRAEVENITZ, G., HARHOFF, D. AND WEBER, R. 2010. *The effects of entrepreneurship education*. Journal of Economic Behaviour and Organisation. 76:90-112.
- WATSON, G.E.H. 2004. A situational analysis of entrepreneurship mentors in South Africa. Thesis. UNISA.
- WICKHAM, P.A. 1998. Strategic Entrepreneurship: A Decision Making Approach to New Venture Creation and Management. Pitman, London
- WICKHAM, P.A. 2001. Strategic Entrepreneurship. A decision-making approach to new venture creation and management. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. United Kingdom. Prentice Hall.
- WIKLUND, J. 1999. *The Sustainability of the Entrepreneurial Orientation-Performance relationship.* Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 24:37-48.
- WORLD BUSINESS COUNCIL FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT. 2004. (Online) Available: <u>www.wbcsd.org</u> [Accessed 23 June 2011].
- YANTA, Z. 2001. Development monitor- Local government supporting or stunting SMME growth? Indicator South Africa, 18(1): 44-48.
- ZIKMUND, W.G. 2003. Business Research Method. [Online] Available: <u>http://www.google.co.za/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=Zikmund+2003&btnG=</u> <u>Google+Search&meta=&aq=o&aqi=&aql=&oq=&gs\_rfai</u> [Accessed 13 April 2010].
- ZIMMERER, T.W. AND SCARBOUROUGH, N.M. 2008. Essentials of entrepreneurship and small business management. Prentice Hall.
- ZINDIYE, S. 2008. An empirical investigation into the factors affecting the performance of small and medium enterprises in the manufacturing sector of Harare, Zimbabwe. Unpublished Dissertation. University of Fort Hare

# **APPENDIX A: QUESTIONNAIRE**



# **QUESTIONNAIRE**

I am Tendai Chimucheka, a Master of Commerce student in the Department of Business Management at the University of Fort Hare. I am conducting an academic research which seeks to investigate the impact of entrepreneurship education on the performance of SMMEs in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality. This research will be used for academic purposes only and please be assured that the responses from respondents will be kept confidential. If you need any assistance in answering the questions, please do not hesitate to ask. Your cooperation and participation in this research and answering questions honestly will be greatly appreciated.

Thank you in anticipation of your cooperation.

**SECTION A: General Information** (Select an option by marking with an X in the correct box)

- 1. Gender Male Female
- 2. Position in the business

Owner		Manager		Both		Other (specify)	
-------	--	---------	--	------	--	-----------------	--

 3. Age in years
 Below 25
 25-30
 31-40
 Above 40

 4. Years in Business
 0-3
 4-8
 More than 8

5.	Number of employees	less than 5	6-50	51 to 200	

6. Industry or sector of the business

Retail	Construction	Wholesale	Manufacturing	Service	Other (specify)

7. Indicate your highest educational qualification

Masters degree and above	High school	
Bachelors degree	Primary school	
Diploma	Non-formal	
Certificate		

8. Have you ever received entrepreneurship education? Yes No
8.1. If Yes, who offered entrepreneurship education (Specify the organisation)
8.2. Indicate year in which you started receiving entrepreneurship education

Before 1990	1990-1995	1996-2000	After 2000	

#### **SECTION B: Entrepreneurship Education and Performance of SMMEs**

9. To what extent do you think entrepreneurship education can affect the following in SMMEs. (1=strongly agree, 2=Agree, 3=Neural, 4=Disagree, 5= strongly disagree)

	1	2	3	4	5
Sales growth					
Market share					
Employment growth					
Competitiveness					
Stock management					
Debtors management					
Cash management					
Creditors management					
Success and survival					
Size of business					

10. In your opinion, would you say that entrepreneurship education improved the performance of your business? Yes No

Explain why.....

#### **SECTION C: Improving entrepreneurship skills and performance of SMMEs**

11. Indicate the extent you think entrepreneurship education can improve the following entrepreneurship skills (1=strongly agree, 2=Agree, 3=Neural, 4=Disagree, 5= strongly disagree)

	1	2	3	4	5
Market awareness					
Creativity and innovation					
Flexibility					
Risk taking					
Gathering of resources					
Problem solving					
Technical skills					
Personal skills					
Business skills					

12. Entrepreneurship education is very important for the successful establishment

of SMMEs	Yes	No	

13. Do you agree that people who start businesses should have entrepreneurship knowledge and skills Yes No

14. Lack of entrepreneurship education in owners and managers is the main cause

No

of	failure	of	Yes	
				L

SMMEs

14.1 If NO please indicate what you think is the main cause of failure

### **SECTION D: Entrepreneurship education and Profitability of SMMEs**

15. To what extent do you think entrepreneurship education can affect the following in SMMEs. (1=strongly agree, 2=Agree, 3=Neural, 4=Disagree, 5= strongly disagree)

	1	2	3	4	5
Profitability					
Wealth maximisation of owners					
Financial growth of SMMEs					

#### **SECTION E: Entrepreneurship Education as a solution**

16. Entrepreneurship education can ultimately help reduce the following challenges

	Yes	No
Failure of SMMEs		
High unemployment rate		
Poverty		
Low economic growth		

17. To what extent do you think the following organisations are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs (1=Not even trying , 2=Can improve , 3= better .4=their best)

Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA)	1	2	3	4
Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC)				
Khula Enterprise Finance (Khula)				
The Government				
Universities				
Other private companies				

## THANK YOU
# APPENDIX B: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS AND HYPOTHESIS TESTING

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Impact of EE on sales growth	159	1	5	1.87	.880
Impact of EE on gaining a	162	1	3	1.98	.352
market share					
Impact of EE on employment	162	1	5	2.32	.982
growth					
Impact of EE on	162	1	3	1.48	.689
competitiveness					
Impact of EE on stock	162	1	5	2.83	.769
management					
Impact of EE on debtors	162	1	4	2.06	1.044
management					
Impact of EE on cash	162	1	5	1.57	.964
management					
Impact of EE on creditors	162	1	4	1.65	.595
management					
Impact of EE on success and	162	1	4	1.34	.670
survival of SMMEs					
Impact of EE on size of	162	1	4	1.92	.650
business					
Valid N (listwise)	159				

### Descriptive Statistics: Question 9 of the questionnaire

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
The extent to which EE can improve market awareness of SMME operators	162	1	5	1.54	.864
The extent to which EE can improve creativity and innovation of SMME operators	162	1	4	1.94	.519
The extent to which EE can improve flexibility of SMME operators	162	1	4	2.30	.641
The extent to which EE can improve risk taking of SMME operators	162	1	3	2.00	.111
The extent to which EE can improve gathering of resources by SMME operators	162	1	4	2.02	.881
The extent to which EE can improve problem solving of SMME operators	162	1	4	1.95	.588
The extent to which EE can improve technical skills of SMME operators	162	1	3	1.57	.555
The extent to which EE can improve personal skills of SMME operators	161	1	4	1.71	.730
The extent to which EE can improve business skills of SMME operators	162	1	4	1.95	.629
Valid N (listwise)	161				

### Descriptive Statistics: Question 11 of the questionnaire

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
The extent to which EE affects profitability	162	1	3	1.40	.635
The extent to which EE affects wealth maximisation of owners	162	1	3	1.33	.588
The extent to which EE affects financial growth of SMMEs	162	1	5	1.28	.830
Valid N (listwise)	162				

### Descriptive Statistics: Question 15 of the questionnaire

## Descriptive Statistics: Question 17 of the questionnaire

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
The extent to which SEDA is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	2	4	2.46	.697
The extent to which ECDC is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	2	4	3.45	.756
The extent to which Khula is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	2	3	2.37	.484
The extent to which the government is helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	2	4	2.91	.443
The extent to which universities are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	2	4	2.75	.734
The extent to which other private companies are helping to improve the performance of SMMEs	162	1	3	2.19	.642
Valid N (listwise)	162				